ABSTRACT

Title of dissertation:	NON-HERMITIAN APPROACHES FOR PAIR-EXCITATION IN QUANTUM BOSON DYNAMICS
	Stephen Sorokanich III, Doctor of Philosophy, 2022
Dissertation directed by:	Professor Dionisios Margetis Department of Mathematics
	Professor Manoussos Grillakis Department of Mathematics

The topic of this thesis is the mathematical analysis of physically motivated models for a trapped dilute Bose gas with repulsive pairwise atomic interactions at zero temperature. Our goal is to develop the spectral theory for excited many-body quantum states of these systems by accounting for the scattering of atoms in pairs from the macroscopic state (condensate). This general methodology, known as *pair-excitation*, was introduced in the physics literature in the 1960s – the work of this thesis provides the first comprehensive mathematical treatment of many aspects of pair-excitation. This includes, e.g., the spectral theory for pair-transformed approximate Hamiltonians, a general existence theory for the pair-excitation kernel, and the connection between the pair-excitation formalism to quasiparticle excitations in the Bose gas.

We formulate the method of pair-excitation for several historical models of the Bose gas from the physics literature. In particular, we focus on the seminal works of Wu, Fetter, Griffin, and Lee, Huang, and Yang. Each of these models introduce unique features to the mathematical analysis, but the general strategy remains the same: transform the approximate Hamiltonian using a suitably-defined *pair-excitation operator*. This operator is not determined a priori, but is chosen as part of the problem in order to simplify the expression of excited states of the transformed system.

The study begins with models for the Bose gas in the non-translation-invariant setting, where the particles are spatially-confined in an external trapping potential. In this setting, formulating the pair-excitation method entails solving a nonlinear integro-partialdifferential equation for the pair-excitation kernel. We provide a general existence theory for this kernel via a variational approach. The kernel which we find allows us to connect the pair-excitation method to the more widely-studied unitary transformation of quadratic Hamiltonians via Bogoliubov rotation. The theory for the kernel also allows us to write a simple formula for excited many-body states, which can be adapted to the various models which we consider in this work.

We then study the problem for the pair-excited transformed approximate Hamiltonian for Bosons in a periodic box. In this setting, the description of the effective Hamiltonian in the momentum basis is particularly simple. However, the lack of particle conservation means that the pair-excitation transform is unbounded in operator norm, and spectral methods developed in earlier chapters are enriched with new tools.

NON-HERMITIAN APPROACHES FOR PAIR-EXCITATION IN QUANTUM BOSON DYNAMICS

by

Stephen Sorokanich III

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2022

Advisory Committee: Professor Dionisios Margetis, Chair/Advisor Professor Manoussos Grillakis, Co-Advisor Professor Matei Machedon Professor Charles David Levermore Professor John Weeks © Copyright by Stephen Sorokanich III 2022

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to my parents, Stephen and Susan, my siblings, Robert, Lara and David Sorokanich. My classmates (in alphabetical order): Liam Fowl, Stephen Gilles, Kyle Liss, Jian-Long Liu, Jesse Milzman, Stavros Papathanasiou, Nick Paskal, Geoffrey Sangston, Luis Suarez.

And many thanks to my advisors, Dionisios Margetis and Manoussos Grillakis, for making this thesis possible.

Table of Contents

	Ac	cknow	ledgme	nts	ii
	Table of Contents				iii
	List of Figures				v
1 Introduction			I	1	
	2	Com	nmon M	athematical themes and a Motivating Example	10
		2.1 2.2	Period Overv	ic Box	10 19
	3 Pair-excitation in non-translation-invariant systems		on in non-translation-invariant systems	22	
		3.1	Backg	round	22
			3.1.1	A review of the mean field theory for BEC	26
			3.1.2	Why a non-Hermitian view?	28
			3.1.3	On related past works	30
			3.1.4	Notation and terminology	33
			3.1.5	Chapter organization	38
		3.2	Hamil	tonian model, main results and methodology	38
			3.2.1	Reduced Hamiltonian and operator Riccati equation for k	39
			3.2.2	Existence theory for k	40
			3.2.3	Spectrum and eigenvectors of reduced non-Hermitian Hamiltonian	40
			3.2.4	Connection to Hermitian approach	42
		3.3	Constr	ruction of many-body Hamiltonian for pairs	43
			3.3.1	Reduction of Hamiltonian in Hermitian setting	43
			3.3.2	Non-unitary transformation of Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app}	45
			3.3.3	Riccati equation for k	49
			3.3.4	Further comments	50
		3.4	Existe	nce theory for pair excitation kernel: Variational approach	52
			3.4.1	Functional $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k},k]$ and useful lemmas $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	53
			3.4.2	Existence theorem and proof	57
			3.4.3	On the non-uniqueness of the solution for k	65
		3.5	Spectr	um and eigenvectors of reduced Hamiltonian	66
			3.5.1	Decomposition of \mathbb{F}_N and two related lemmas	67
			3.5.2	On the spectrum of $h_{\rm ph}$	70
			3.5.3	Proof of Theorem 2	72
		3.6	Conne	ctions to a Hermitian approach and J-self-adjoint system	75
			3.6.1	On a reduced Hamiltonian via the Bogoliubov approximation	76
			3.6.2	On the existence of solutions to eigenvalue problem for (u_i, v_j) .	78
			3.6.3	On the <i>J</i> -self-adjoint system	81
		3.7	Conclu	usion and discussion	83

4	Non	translation-invariant systems: pairs coupled with mean field	86
	4.1	Background	86
		4.1.1 Synopsis of the theory of J -self-adjoint operators	91
	4.2	Many-body system and approximation scheme	94
	4.3	Diagonalization of \tilde{K}_2 and the coupled system for $\phi, k : \ldots \ldots$	99
	4.4	Variational formalism for the nonlinear system	103
	4.5	Solving the nonlinear system	110
		4.5.1 Completing the iteration	118
5	Lee-	Huang-Yang model for the periodic Bose gas	129
	5.1	Introduction	129
		5.1.1 Comparison with other works	132
		5.1.2 Outline of Chapter	135
		5.1.3 Preliminaries	135
	5.2	Many-body Hamiltonian and approximation scheme	140
	0.2	5.2.1 Comment on particle conservation versus non-conservation	146
	5.3	Formal construction of many-body excited states	146
		5.3.1 The non-Hermitian transform	148
		5.3.2 Constructing eigenstates	150
		5.3.3 Remarks	154
		5.3.4 Discrete spectrum in the Case $0 < \tilde{v} < 1$:	156
		5.3.5 A Geometric Picture of Degeneracies	158
	5.4	Bogoliubov spectrum for $\tilde{v} > 1$	159
		5.4.1 Method of generating functions	161
		5.4.2 The Bogoliubov spectrum for $ z_{+}(\alpha) < 1$:	165
		5.4.3 Bogoliubov spectrum for $ z_+(\alpha) > 1$:	168
	5.5	Completeness of the states $\{e^{(-\alpha_c a^{*b^*})} \Psi_{p,N}\rangle\}_{p,N \in \mathbb{N}}$	174
6	Over	view and Extensions	184
Ŭ	6.1	Overview	184
	6.2	Extensions	187
۸			101
A	Δ 1	Derivation of many body eigensates $ \Psi\rangle_{a}$	101
	$\Delta 2$	Properties of the generating function $C(\tau; \Psi_{\tau}\rangle)$	102
	Δ3	Properties of the hypergeometric functions	105
	А.3		193
Bi	bliogr	aphy	198

List of Figures

3.1	Schematic for the connection of two main physical approaches (left and right panels) to the problem of excitations in the Bose gas via abstract operator theory (central panel).	25
5.1	Schematic of the dependence of quantum states $ \Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ on the occupation numbers n_a, n_b . The lattice points represent the occupation-number eigenstates $ n_a, n_b\rangle$, and the dotted lines (labeled $E = 4.5$ and $E = 5$) represent hypersurfaces on which $\frac{1}{2}(n_a + n_b) = 4.5$, 5 respectively; the lattice points lying on these hypersurfaces thus represent the degenerate eigenstates of the operator $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$. The two solid lines (beginning at the points (0,1) and (2,0)) contain the lattice points which appear in the formula for two example states $ \Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ elaborated in Proposition 1. The line starting at (0,1) represents a state $ \Psi_{-1,\Theta}\rangle$, where $2\Theta \notin \mathbb{N}$ – this state is an infinite sum, which is represented by the fact that the arrow extends indefinitely. The line starting at the point (2,0) represents the state $ \Psi_{2,4}\rangle$ – this state is a linear combination of the basis states $\{ 2,0\rangle, 3,1\rangle, 4,2\rangle, 5,3\rangle, 6,4\rangle\}$.	183

Chapter 1

Introduction

The subject of this thesis is the analysis of time-independent systems which model excitations of the weakly-interacting dilute Bose gas at zero temperature. We consider several distinct models of the Bose gas in the chapters that follow, and connections between these models that can be discovered through the mathematical framework of *pair excitation*. The physical phenomenon underlying our investigation is the Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC) in which particles of integer-spin (Bosons) occupy a single quantum state macroscopically. This single state is the condensate.

The general physical theme motivating this work is that pair-excitation provides a *minimal* framework for representing excited states of the Bose gas — this formalism describes a physical process whereby pairs of particles scatter from the condensate into non-condensate single-particle states, thereby depleting the condensate. Including pair-processes in the approximation of many-body dynamics of the Bose gas allows for the modeling of effects beyond the well-studied mean-field theory for BEC, which seeks to describe the many-body ground state for the interacting Bose gas by a single effective quantum wavefunction, the macroscopic condensate.

The mathematical content of the thesis seeks to place the theory of pair-excitation into a rigorous framework, and demonstrate the effective representation of many-body states using this theory. The central component of the pair-excitation method involves the similarity transformation of an approximate Hamiltonian by a non-unitary 'pair-excitation operator,' first suggested by Wu in his study of the non-translation-invariant gas [60]. This is counter-intuitive from the physical perspective; quantum mechanical observables are prescribed by Hermitian operators, and only the *unitary* transformation of a Hermitian operator preserves the expectation of a physical observable. Additionally, the use of a non-unitary pair-excitation operator in this formalism has perhaps made it less desirable for mathematicians to work with compared to unitary transform methods. The benefit of using the non-unitary pair-excitation operator in this work is that it allows us to derive new, physically-transparent formulas for excited many-body states of the model systems under consideration; these formulas offer a clear picture of the scattering processes inherent in the production of low-lying excitations. In the non-translation-invariant setting, developing the theory of pair excitation entails proving the existence of the *pair excitation* kernel, which satisfies a nonlinear integro-differential equation. This kernel then defines the non-unitary pair excitation operator on the bosonic Fock space. We will see that this kernel is intimately related to the unitary Bogoliubov-type transformation (or rotation) of a quadratic Hamiltonian describing the Bose gas, which will be familiar to many physicists. In this sense, we consider the pair-excitation kernel to be a minimal quantity in the description of excitations.

While we will provide a rigorous formulation for pair excitation in several physical models, this work does not address the accuracy of the various approximations for the Bose gas presented here (compared, e.g., to the 'exact' dynamics dictated by the linear many-body Schrödinger equation for N particles). Nor does it treat the time evolution of many-body states. These topics are the subject of intense mathematical interest; for an introduction to the convergence of mean-field theory to exact dynamics, see the work of Lieb, Seiringer [43, 57], Erdös, Schlein, and Yau [19], as well as the review article by Margetis, Machedon and Grillakis [29]. The intent of this thesis is to elaborate the mathematical features and interconnections between several models for the weaklyinteracting Bose gas presented in the physics literature; and to show how these models can be analyzed within a singular (and well-posed) mathematical framework involving non-Hermitian operators and the pair-excitation kernel.

The model systems covered in these chapters describe low-lying excitations of dilute Bose gases, and the many-body states belonging to these systems generalize the tensor product ground state provided by mean-field theory. A brief review of the mean-field theory for BEC is given at the beginning of Chapter 3 (see Section 3.1.1). The systems treated in the next chapters are represented in the physics literature by the works of Lee, Huang, Yang [37, 38], Wu [60, 61], Fetter [20, 21], and Griffin [25]. While these models are well-known among physicists, many of their mathematical details, as well as their common features, have not been explored thoroughly until now.

We refer to the models studied in the following chapters by their approximate (Fock space) Hamiltonians, denoted generically by \mathcal{H} . These will be heuristic but physically motivated approximations to the exact many-body Hamiltonian for repulsively-interacting bosons, which governs the quantum dynamics via the linear Schrödinger equation for a system of *N* particles, where *N* is finite but large ($N \gg 1$). An example of the exact

Hamiltonian for N particles is given by

$$H = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(-\Delta_j + V_{\text{trap}}(x_j) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j,k=1\\j \neq k}}^{N} \upsilon(x_j - x_k).$$
(1.0.1)

Here, Δ_j denotes the Laplace operator in the coordinate $x_j \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $V_{\text{trap}}(x_j)$ is a trapping potential, and v denotes the two-particle interaction. The specific assumptions that we make for the trapping and interaction potentials will be covered in the chapters that follow.

As stated, this thesis does not rigorously address the accuracy of the model Hamiltonians \mathscr{H} compared to the exact dynamics, or the domain of validity in which their approximations hold. Rather, our aim is to describe how pair-excitation can be given a rigorous formulation for each model. This formalism utilizes the *non-unitary pair excitation operator* on the Bosonic Fock space, denoted generally by the exponential $\exp(\mathscr{P})$, where \mathscr{P} is a suitable operator in Fock space that describes the depletion of the condensate into pairs of non-condensate particles.

Each of the Chapters 3, 4, 5 begins by introducing a heuristic derivation of the model Fock space Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} studied in that chapter from exact many-body dynamics prescribed, e.g., by exact Hamiltonian H. We then define, in each particular setting, a non-unitary pair-excitation operator, $\exp(\mathscr{P})$, and transform the approximate Hamiltonian according to

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{H}} = \exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}\exp(-\mathscr{P}).$$

A specific choice of the operator \mathscr{P} in each case will allow us to develop the spectral theory for the transformed approximate Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$. In each chapter, the transformation $\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}\exp(-\mathscr{P})$ will involve a free parameter, which choose so that the resulting operator $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ takes a particularly simple form – in particular, we choose this parameter so that $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ contains no terms that create pairs of particles. This is analogous to $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ being an upper-triangular matrix, although $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ is defined on an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space (i.e., the Bosonic Fock space \mathbb{F}). This particular choice poses constraints for the operator \mathscr{P} , which results in a nonlinear intrgro-partial-differential equation for the integral kernel of \mathscr{P} , i.e., an equation for the *pair-excitation kernel* $k_{pair}(x,y)$. The upper-triangular structure of the transformed approximate Hamiltonian allows for its spectrum to be determined from its diagonal part (analogous to the result for finite-dimensional upper-triangular matrices). We will also derive concise formulas for many-body eigenstates of $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ in the Bosonic Fock space. In the chapters where we consider a quadratic model for the Bose gas, this offers an alternative viewpoint to the 'quasiparticle' description familiar to the study of quadratic Hamiltonians.

The body of work presented in Chapters 2, 3, 4, and 5 considers rigorous mathematical features of several model Hamiltonians (denoted by \mathscr{H} here) which describe the weakly-interacting trapped Bose gas. To our knowledge, this work is new.

We begin in Chapter 2 with a motivating example that offers the most concise description of our general methodology; the model considered in this chapter is the Bose gas in a periodic box with a particle-conserving approximate Hamiltonian. In this setting, we are able to utilize the momentum basis to factor the eigenvalue problem for excited states over subspaces with fixed total momentum. We are also able to consider many-body excited states which have a fixed total number of particles. The pair-excitation operator in this model is formulated as a bounded operator; the similarity transformation of the approximate Hamiltonian by the pair-excitation operator therefore preserves the spectrum. This means that we are able to study the eigenvalue problem for the transformed Hamiltonian, and infer results about the spectrum of original system. In particular, we choose the pair-excitation operator so that the resulting many-body states of the transformed system take a simple form – the transformation will be chosen so that all states of the transformed system are *finite linear combinations of momentum eigenstates*. We subsequently derive concise formulas for excited many-body states of the approximate Hamiltonian, by transforming these finite-superposition states by the pair-excitation operator.

Chapter 2 serves as a general motivation for later chapters – we will seek results for many-body excited states for a family of approximate Hamiltonians in Chapters 3, 4, and 5. We will see that the system described in Chapter 2 is the simplest model in which to study pair-excitation, for several reasons. Chapters 3, 4, 5 describe the nontrivial extension of these fundamental results to non-translation-invariant settings, where the condensate and excited states may affect each other in complicated ways, and to approximate Hamiltonians which do not conserve the number of particles.

Chapters 3 and 4 study the weakly-interacting Bose gas in a generic trapping potential $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$. Throughout the work, the assumptions on $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$ are kept minimal; the emphasis is on developing a mathematically rigorous theory of pair-excitation in a nontranslation-invariant setting with minimal assumptions. In general, we will assume that $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$ is defined so that the single-particle Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x)$ has a discrete spectrum and a gap between its lowest and first excited state. See the introductions to Chapters 3 and 4 for details.

Chapter 3 considers a model for the particle-conserving Bose gas in a generic trapping potential, $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$, based on the model developed by Wu (1960) [60]. The trapping potential confines the particles so that the system is no longer translation-invariant. It is therefore not possible to simplify the eigenvalue problem for the approximate Hamiltonian by representing it in the momentum basis. Similar to the model of Chapter 2, though, the approximate Hamiltonian in Chapter 3 is particle-conserving. The pair-excitation operator which we formulate is bounded on the Fock space for N particles, but nontranslation-invariant. A new quantity – the pair-excitation kernel – describes the spatial variation of the pair-scattering process. We develop the spectral theory for the transformed Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ of this system, based on our explicit construction of the pair excitation kernel. This kernel solves a nonlinear operator Riccati equation, which results from choosing the pair-excitation transform in a similar way as was done in Chapter 2, so that the resulting transformed operator does not create pairs of particles. We then seek to construct many-body eigenstates of $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}$ as finite superpositions by determining a singleparticle basis which plays the role that the momentum basis did in Chapter 2. We discover that this basis is intimately related to the pair-excitation kernel $k_{pair}(x, y)$, as well as a nonorthogonal basis which describes the *unitary* rotation of a related quadratic many-body Hamiltonian first used by Fetter (1970) [20]. The discovery of this connection is new to our work, and closely parallels developments in the mathematical theory of J-self adjoint operators and operator Riccati equations [2,3,13,58]. The main mathematical results in this chapter are an existence proof for the pair-excitation kernel, the discovery of the single-particle (non-orthogonal) basis which describes the 'phonon' spectrum of \mathcal{H} , the connection between this basis and the unitary rotation of a quadratic Hamiltonian, and the construction of many-body eigenstates of \mathcal{H} using this new basis.

In Chapter 4, we demonstrate the utility of the pair-excitation method for a model of the Bose gas which includes additional effects of particle correlations not present in the models of Chapters 2 or 3. We focus on the model of Griffin (1995) [25], which describes a non-particle-conserving, non-translation-invariant system in a trapping potential V_{trap} . The additional correlations present in this model modify the equation for the condensate in a nontrivial way – coupling the condensate to the basis of elementary excitations. We exploit the results of Chapter 3 to recast this system into a coupled system for the condensate, along with a pair-excitation kernel. The kernel equation can be written in a way which formally resembles the Riccati equation of Chapter 3, although it contains additional nonlinear terms. We construct a solution to this kernel equation by iterating from the known solution to the Riccati equation produced in Chapter 3. An important element of this iteration is the small parameter g > 0, which describes the strength of the interaction. In this sense, the nonlinear terms introduced in this model are treated as small perturbations to the system of Chapter 3 when the particle interactions are weak.

In Chapter 5, we return to the physical setting of the periodic box to analyze the celebrated model of Lee Huang and Yang. The approximate Hamiltonian of this model factors over pairs of equal-and-opposite momenta, similar to the model of Chapter 2. However, in distinction to Chapter 2, the Lee-Huang-Yang approximate Hamiltonian does not conserve the number of particles. The pair-excitation operator that we introduce in Chapter 5 is consequently an unbounded operator, defined on the Fock space \mathbb{F} . Thus, we extend the method of pair-excitation to study eigenstates of a quadratic approximate Hamiltonian. Transforming the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian by an unbounded, non-Hermitian operator means that we cannot immediately use the spectral theory for the transformed Hamiltonian to derive the spectrum of the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian. Indeed, we find that the (point) spectrum of the transformed Hamiltonian is the whole

complex plane, \mathbb{C} . The major result of Chapter 5 describes how we can identify a special subset of eigenstates of the transformed Hamiltonian with 'physical' eigenstates of the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian. We do this, in principle, without any prior knowledge about the spectrum of the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian (which is derived in the seminal paper [37]). The perspective of this chapter is to show that the analysis of the quadratic Hamiltonian can be carried out via its non-unitary transformation (i.e., by 'forgetting' the original Hermitian problem). We do this in order to demonstrate how the pair-excitation method is capable of reproducing all the usual results of achievable by other methods. We then derive new formulas for excited many-body eigenstates of the Lee-Huang-Yang system in the momentum basis by making use of the pair excitation operator, as was done in previous chapters. The many-body excited states of the transformed system are not necessarily finite superpositions of momentum states; however, we find that eigenstates which correspond to the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian are precisely the transformation of finite superposition states.

We conclude the thesis with an overview in Chapter 6, where we discuss the consequences of this work for understanding the phonon spectrum and quasiparticles in the Bose gas. We then discuss possible extensions of the work to physically relevant settings.

We will describe the formalism of pair excitation independently in each of the chapters, as it builds on the core methods of mean-field theory.

Chapter 2

Common Mathematical themes and a Motivating Example

2.1 Periodic Box

We now describe a simplified model system which illustrates significant features of the models in chapters to come, while avoiding many of their technical complications. This section will also be an opportunity to introduce notation that will be present throughout the rest of the work, and familiarize the reader with the kinds of heuristic approximation that we employ in Chapters 3, 4, and 5.

Consider *N* particles, where *N* is finite but large, in the box with size *L*, denoted B_L , which has volume $|B_L| := L^3$, with periodic boundary conditions and repulsive pairwise particle interactions specified by the potential $v(x-y) := g\delta(x-y)$, $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Here, as in what follows, δ denotes the Dirac delta function, and the parameter g > 0 describes the strength of the repulsive interaction. On the Hilbert space $L^2_{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$ of symmetric *N*-particle wavefunctions, the quantum many-body Hamiltonian for this system reads :

$$H_N = -\sum_{j=1}^N \Delta_j + g \sum_{i< j}^N \delta(x_i - x_j), \quad x_i, x_j \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(2.1.1)

Here we choose units such that $\hbar = 2m = 1$, where \hbar is Planck's constant, and *m* is the atomic mass.

The Bosonic Fock space \mathbb{F} is the natural domain for the approximation of H_N . We define \mathbb{F} as the infinite direct sum of N-particle Fock subspaces, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{F} := \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}_n, \quad \text{for} \quad \mathbb{F}_0 := \mathbb{C}, \quad \mathbb{F}_n := L^2_{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}^{3n}).$$

Vectors on \mathbb{F} will be represented in bra-ket notation, e.g.,

$$|u\rangle \in \mathbb{F} \implies |u\rangle = \{u^n\}, \quad u^n \in \mathbb{F}_n, \quad n = 0, 1, 2...,$$

and the inner product on \mathbb{F} is defined using the inherited inner-product from each of the *n*-particle fibres; for $|u\rangle$, $|v\rangle \in \mathbb{F}$, their inner product is

$$\langle u,v\rangle := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \langle u^n,v^n\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_n}$$

Given a single-particle wavefunction $f \in L^2_{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$, we define the creation and annihilation operators, $\{a(\overline{f}), a^*(f)\}$ for the state f on the vector $|u\rangle \in \mathbb{F}$ component-wise by the formulae:

$$(a(\overline{f})|u\rangle)^n := \sqrt{n+1} \int \mathrm{dx} \left\{ \overline{f(x)} u^{n+1}(x, x_2, \dots, x_n) \right\} ,$$
$$(a^*(f)|u\rangle)^n := \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{j \le n} f(x_j) u^{n-1}(x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_n) .$$

Thus, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ fixed, $a(\overline{f})$ takes elements of \mathbb{F}_{n+1} to \mathbb{F}_n when we consider both as subspaces of the Fock space \mathbb{F} . The operator $a^*(f)$ takes elements of \mathbb{F}_n to \mathbb{F}_{n+1} . It can be verified that $a^*(f)$ is the Hermitian adjoint of a(f) on \mathbb{F} , and that for $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the following canonical commutation relations hold:

$$[a(f), a^*(g)] = \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2}, \quad [a(f), a(g)] = 0 = [a^*(f), a^*(g)].$$

Given an orthonormal basis of single-particle states, $\{e_k(x)\} \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ (where *k* ranges over some index set I), we define the basis of creation/annihilation operators

$$a_k := a(\overline{e_k}), \quad a_k^* := a^*(e_k). \tag{2.1.2}$$

It is immediate that the operator basis $\{a_k, a_k^*\}_{k \in \mathbb{I}}$ satisfies the collection of canonical relations

$$[a_k, a_{k'}^*] = \delta_{k,k'}, \quad [a_k, a_{k'}] = 0 = [a_k^*, a_{k'}^*],$$

where $k, k \in \mathbb{I}$, and $\delta_{k,k'}$ is Kronecker's delta. The particular orthonormal basis that we work with in this section consists of the momentum eigenfunctions on the domain B_L :

$$e_k(x) := \frac{e^{ik \cdot x}}{\sqrt{|B_L|}}, \quad \text{where} \quad k := \frac{2\pi n}{L}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}^3.$$
 (2.1.3)

These are periodic functions (of spatial variable $x \in B_L$) with period *L* and the index set \mathbb{I} is the dual lattice:

$$\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{Z}_L^3 := \{k = 2\pi n/L \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}^3\}.$$

We also define the momentum half-space, \mathbb{Z}_L^+ , which will make the description of pairexcited states simpler:

$$\mathbb{Z}_L^+ := \{ k = 2\pi n/L \, | \, n \in \mathbb{Z}^3, n_3 > 0 \}.$$

Finally, the field operators a_x , a_x^* are defined for $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ as operator-valued distribu-

tions:

$$a_x := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{I}} \overline{e_k(x)} a_k, \quad a_x^* := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{I}} e_k(x) a_k^*.$$
(2.1.4)

These operators satisfy:

$$[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta(x - y), \quad [a_x, a_y] = 0 = [a_x^*, a_y^*].$$

The Hamiltonian H_N can be lifted to the Bosonic Fock space via the field operators:

$$\mathscr{H} = \int dx \{ a_x^* (-\Delta_x) a_x \} + \frac{g}{2} \int dx \{ a_x^* a_x^* a_x a_x \}.$$
(2.1.5)

Inserting (2.1.4) into the expression (2.1.5), and expanding in the momentum basis yields exact many-body Hamiltonian in the momentum-basis creation/annihilation operators:

$$\mathscr{H} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} |k|^{2} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} + \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{k_{1}+k_{2}=k_{3}+k_{4}} a_{k_{1}}^{*} a_{k_{2}}^{*} a_{k_{3}} a_{k_{4}}.$$
(2.1.6)

We consider in this section a *particle-conserving* approximation $\mathscr{H}_{approx} \approx \mathscr{H}$, and the resulting construction of many-body excited states for \mathscr{H}_{approx} . The approximation is heuristic, which means that we do not, e.g., compute error in using the resulting eigenstates in place of the eigenstates belonging to \mathscr{H} . By particle-conserving, we mean that both \mathscr{H} as well as the resulting approximate Fock space Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{approx} commute with the number operator $\mathscr{N} : \mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{F}$, defined by

$$\mathscr{N} := a_0^* a_0 + \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k.$$

As written, this definition singles-out the particle-number operator for the zero-momentum condensate, $e_0(x) = 1/\sqrt{|B_L|}$. Since $[\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{N}] = 0$, we can restrict the problem to the *N*-particle fiber of \mathbb{F} , for *N* finite but large, so that

$$\mathscr{N}|\Psi\rangle = \left(a_0^*a_0 + \sum_{k\neq 0} a_k^*a_k\right)|\Psi\rangle = N|\Psi\rangle, \quad \text{for all} \quad |\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_N.$$
(2.1.7)

The approximation is now described [45]. The fundamental assumption is the condition for small fluctuation around the condensate occupation number. The assumption may be considered as a restriction on the domain of the resulting approximate Hamiltonian – we consider only states $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_N$ such that, for fixed $0 < \xi < 1$, the following inequality holds:

$$\left|\left\langle \Psi, (N\xi - a_0^*a_0)\Psi\right\rangle_{\mathbb{F}}\right| \ll N,\tag{2.1.8}$$

where ξ is (loosely) defined as the fraction of particles in the condensate.

We rewrite the interaction part of the Hamiltonian, separating the different powers of condensate operators $\{a_0, a_0^*\}$:

$$\frac{g}{2|B_L|} \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2,k_3,k_4 \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3\\k_1+k_2=k_3+k_4}} a_{k_1}^* a_{k_2}^* a_{k_3} a_{k_4} := \mathscr{H}_0 + \mathscr{H}_2 + \mathscr{H}_3 + \mathscr{H}_4.$$
(2.1.9)

The operators $\mathscr{H}_0, \mathscr{H}_2, \mathscr{H}_3, \mathscr{H}_4$ refer to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H}_{0} &= \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} (a_{0}^{*})^{2} (a_{0})^{2}, \\ \mathscr{H}_{2} &= \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \neq 0} \left((a_{0}^{*})^{2} a_{k} a_{-k} + a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} (a_{0})^{2} + 4(a_{0}^{*} a_{0}) a_{k}^{*} a_{k} \right), \\ \mathscr{H}_{3} &= \frac{g}{|B_{L}|} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}, k_{2} \neq 0 \\ k_{1} + k_{2} \neq 0}} \left(a_{0}^{*} a_{k_{1} + k_{2}}^{*} a_{k_{1}} a_{k_{2}} + a_{k_{1}}^{*} a_{k_{2}}^{*} a_{0} a_{k_{1} + k_{2}} \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} (2.1.10) \\ \mathscr{H}_{4} &= \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{\substack{k_{1}, k_{2}, k_{3}, k_{4} \neq 0 \\ k_{1} + k_{2} = k_{3} + k_{4}}} a_{k_{1}}^{*} a_{k_{2}}^{*} a_{k_{3}} a_{k_{4}}. \end{aligned}$$

Particle conservation and the restriction of the problem to \mathbb{F}_N implies the relation

$$a_0^* a_0 = N - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k = N\xi + \left[N(1 - \xi) - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k \right], \quad \text{on} \quad \mathbb{F}_N,$$
(2.1.11)

and the assumption of the approximation allows us to treat higher powers of $[N(1 - \xi) - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k]$ as negligible. Thus as an example, the term \mathscr{H}_0 is rewritten under this approximation as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H}_{0} &= \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} (a_{0}^{*}a_{0})^{2} = \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \left\{ N\xi + \left[N(1-\xi) - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_{k}^{*}a_{k} \right] \right\}^{2} \\ &\approx \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \left\{ N^{2}\xi^{2} + 2N\xi \left[N(1-\xi) - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_{k}^{*}a_{k} \right] \right\} \end{aligned} \tag{2.1.12} \\ &= \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \left\{ N^{2}\xi(2-\xi) - 2N\xi \sum_{k \neq 0} a_{k}^{*}a_{k} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

In a similar fashion, dropping the higher powers of $[N(1-\xi) - \sum_{k\neq 0} a_k^* a_k]$, we write

$$\mathscr{H}_{2} \approx \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \neq 0} (a_{0}^{*})^{2} a_{k} a_{-k} + a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} a_{0}^{2} + \frac{2g}{|B_{L}|} \left\{ N^{2} (1-\xi)^{2} - N(1-2\xi) \sum_{k \neq 0} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} \right\}$$
(2.1.13)

as well as

$$\mathscr{H}_4 \approx \frac{g}{|B_L|} \Big\{ -N^2 (1-\xi)^2 + 2N(1-\xi) \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k \Big\}.$$
 (2.1.14)

Assembling the approximations above, and including the diagonal part of \mathcal{H} , results in the particle-conserving approximation

$$\mathcal{H} \approx \mathcal{H}_{approx} := \frac{g\rho N}{2} \left[(1 - \xi)^2 + 1 \right] + \sum_{k \neq 0} \left(k^2 + g\rho \xi \right) a_k^* a_k + \frac{g}{2|B_L|} \sum_{k \neq 0} \left((a_0^*)^2 a_k a_{-k} + a_k^* a_{-k}^* a_0^2 \right).$$
(2.1.15)

The quantity $\rho = N/|B_L|$ is the total particle-density. When $\xi \to 1$, i.e., when the condensation is complete, The approximation reads:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{approx}}(\xi=1) := \frac{g\rho N}{2} + \sum_{k\neq 0} \left(k^2 + g\rho\right) a_k^* a_k + \frac{g}{2|B_L|} \sum_{k\neq 0} \left((a_0^*)^2 a_k a_{-k} + a_k^* a_{-k}^* a_0^2\right).$$
(2.1.16)

We will see that this approximate Hamiltonian is similar to the models of the following chapters in several ways. In particular, \mathcal{H}_{approx} represents a restriction of the model in Chapter 3 to the spatial domain of the periodic box B_L . Our use of the momentum basis here, which reduces the off-diagonal terms of \mathcal{H}_{approx} to couplings between pairs of equal-and-opposite momenta, (k, -k), is special to the translation-invariant system. Compared to the model in Chapter 4, this model and approximation scheme only includes the effects of specific terms coming from the interaction – that is, the model of Chapter 4 retains more terms from the interaction compared to this approximation. Finally, compared to the Lee-Huang-Yang model of Chapter 5, the model (2.1.16) is particle-conserving. The pair-excitation transform which we now introduce will therefore be bounded on the N-particle Fock space \mathbb{F}_N . This significantly simplifies the analysis of the spectrum for the operator \mathscr{H}_{approx} here (see the equation (2.1.18) in the next paragraph).

We now introduce the transformation of the approximate Hamiltonian, $\exp(\mathcal{W})\mathcal{H}_{approx}\exp(-\mathcal{W})$, in order to derive a formula for eigenstates of \mathcal{H}_{approx} in the Fock space \mathbb{F}_N . The operator \mathcal{W} is defined via

$$\mathscr{W} := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+} -\alpha(k) a_k^* a_{-k}^* (a_0)^2, \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le \alpha(k) < 1 \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+.$$
(2.1.17)

The general strategy for introducing the transformation by $\exp(\mathscr{W})$ is to determine the coefficients $\alpha(k)$ in such a way as to simplify the expression of the transformed operator. On the *N*-particle fiber, \mathbb{F}_N , the operators \mathscr{W} , and therefore $\exp(-\mathscr{W})$, are bounded. Thus, even through the operator \mathscr{W} is non-Hermitian, the following equivalence of spectra holds:

$$\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{approx}) = \sigma(\exp(\mathscr{W})\mathscr{H}_{approx}\exp(-\mathscr{W})). \tag{2.1.18}$$

The conjugations of the momentum basis operators with $exp(\mathcal{W})$ are given by:

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})a_{0}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) = a_{0},$$

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})a_{k}^{*}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) = a_{k}^{*},$$

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})a_{k}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) = a_{k} + \frac{\alpha(k)}{N}a_{-k}^{*}a_{0}^{2},$$

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})a_{0}^{*}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) = a_{0}^{*} - \frac{2}{N}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{r}^{+}}\alpha(k)(a_{k}^{*}a_{-k}^{*})a_{0}.$$

$$(2.1.19)$$

In particular, the transformed approximate Hamiltonian $\exp(\mathcal{W})\mathcal{H}_{approx}\exp(-\mathcal{W})$ will contain cubic and quartic terms in momentum state creation/annihilation operators; these

terms must be dropped on the basis of the approximation scheme. The result of the formulae (2.1.19), after dropping the terms just described, is:

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})\mathscr{H}_{approx}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) \approx \frac{g\rho N}{2} + \frac{g}{2\rho} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \alpha(k) + \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} a_{k}a_{-k}(a_{0}^{*})^{2}$$
$$+ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \left(k^{2} + g\rho + g\rho\alpha(k)\right)(a_{k}^{*}a_{k})$$
$$+ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \left(\left(k^{2} + g\rho\right)\alpha(k) + \frac{g\rho}{2} + \frac{g\rho}{2}\left(\alpha(k)\right)^{2}\right)a_{k}^{*}a_{-k}^{*}\frac{a_{0}^{2}}{N}.$$
$$(2.1.20)$$

The last line of this approximation, which contains the terms proportional to $(a_k^* a_{-k}^*)$, will vanish provided that the following equation holds for $\alpha(k)$,

$$\alpha(k) = \frac{1}{g\rho} \Big\{ -(k^2 + g\rho) \pm k\sqrt{k^2 + 2g\rho} \Big\},$$
(2.1.21)

Choosing the solution which corresponds to the plus sign in this expression entails

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})\mathscr{H}_{\text{approx}}\exp(-\mathscr{W}) \approx \frac{g}{2\rho N} + \frac{g}{2\rho} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \alpha(k) + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \left(k\sqrt{k^{2} + 2g\rho}\right) \left(a_{k}^{*}a_{k}\right) + \frac{g}{2|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} a_{k}a_{-k}(a_{0}^{*})^{2}.$$

$$(2.1.22)$$

We consider eigenstates $|\Psi(k)\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_N$ which are linear combinations of tensor product states containing only the momenta (k, -k), and which solve the equation

$$\exp(\mathscr{W})\mathscr{H}_{\text{approx}}\exp(-\mathscr{W})|\Psi(k)\rangle = E|\Psi(k)\rangle.$$
(2.1.23)

For this purpose, states $|\Psi
angle\in\mathbb{F}_N$ are most succinctly described as vectors :

$$|\Psi\rangle = \left(\Psi_0, \Psi_1, \dots, \Psi_n, \dots, \Psi_{N-1}, \Psi_N\right)^T; \qquad (2.1.24)$$

the component Ψ_n in this vector refers to the symmetric tensor product that contains N-n particles in the condensate $e_0(x)$, and n particles in a state orthogonal to the condensate,

denoted $\Psi_n^{\perp} \in \phi^{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$, viz.,

$$\Psi_n := \Psi_n^{\perp} \otimes_s (e_0)^{\otimes_s N - n}.$$

In $|\Psi(k)\rangle$, we assume that the component Ψ_n^{\perp} is a linear combination of momentum states $e_k(x)$ and $e_{-k}(x)$ for every *n*. In this notation, the eigenvalue problem (2.1.23) translates to an upper triangular matrix eigenvalue problem for the vectors $(\Psi_0, \ldots, \Psi_N)^T$. This is because the terms in the transformed Hamiltonian (2.1.22) that correspond to momentum $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$ either: (a) transform a component Ψ_n to $\widetilde{\Psi}_n$ with the same number of particles in the condensate, or (b) transform Ψ_n to a $\widetilde{\Psi}_{n-2}$, with 2 additional particles in the condensate.

The eigenvalues E of this upper-triangular matrix equation are equal to the diagonal elements of the matrix, which are

$$E = \left(k\sqrt{k^2 + 2g\rho}\right)n, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots, N - 1, N.$$
 (2.1.25)

These are energies of the diagonal operator $k\sqrt{k^2+2g\rho}\left(a_k^*a_k+a_{-k}^*a_{-k}\right)$ on \mathbb{F}_N . The offdiagonal terms of (2.1.22) couple states of the form $\Psi_n^{\perp} \otimes_s (e_0)^{\otimes_s N-n}$ to states $\Psi_{n-2}^{\perp} \otimes_s (e_0)^{\otimes_s N-n+2}$ where Ψ_{n-2}^{\perp} is the result of annihilating one particle with momentum k and one particle with momentum -k from Ψ_n^{\perp} . Using the integer p as before to denote the difference in the particle number between states with momentum k and those with momentum -k, we can write the (non-normalized) eigenstates as

$$|\Psi_{p,N}(k)\rangle := \sum_{s=0}^{(N-p)/2} \tilde{y}(k)^{-s} {N \choose s} \left({p+s \choose s} \right)^{-1/2} \left({2N \choose 2s} \right)^{-1/2} \left(\frac{1}{2s!} \right)^{-1/2} |s+p,s\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_N},$$
(2.1.26)

for

$$|s+p,s\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_N} := \left((e_k)^{\otimes_s s+p} \otimes_s (e_{-k})^{\otimes_s s} \otimes_s (e_0)^{\otimes_s N-2s-p}\right)$$

and

$$\tilde{y}(k) := \frac{g}{|B_L|k\sqrt{k^2 + 2g\rho}}.$$

Note that for every state in $|\Psi_{p,N}(k)\rangle$ there is a degenerate state $|\Psi_{p,N}^{(-)}(k)\rangle$ involving a linear combination of the tensor products $(e_k)^{\otimes_s s} \otimes_s (e_{-k})^{\otimes_s s+p} \otimes_s (e_0)^{\otimes_s N-2s-p}$. Therefore, the degeneracy of states with energy E is 2N + 1, exactly the same as the degenerate subspaces of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . The expression $\exp(\mathscr{W})|\Psi_{p,N}(k)\rangle$ then gives the eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{Wu} .

2.2 Overview of mathematical themes

We conclude this introduction by discussing how the model introduced here will be altered in the chapters that follow, and the more complicated analysis that the pairexcitation method will entail.

In Chapter 3 we extend the approximation scheme for the exact Hamiltonian to the non-translation-invariant setting, where the condensate is trapped in an external potential $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$. This means that we will no longer represent the Hamiltonian using the momentum basis operators $\{a_k, a_k^*\}$; instead we employ the position space field operators orthogonal to the condensate, $\{a_{\perp,x}, a_{\perp,x}^*\}$, and approximate the exact Fock space Hamiltonian by, e.g., dropping terms which are cubic/quartic in these operators. The parameter $\alpha(k)$ in the pair-excitation operator \mathcal{W} of equation (2.1.17) will become a spatially-dendent pair-excitation kernel, denoted by k(x, y). This kernel will be chosen by imposing a similar constraint on the transformed approximate Hamiltonian, in order to cancel out terms proportional to field operators $a_{\perp,x}^*a_{\perp,y}^*$. The quadratic equation (2.1.21) for $\alpha(k)$ will translate to a nonlinear operator Riccati equation for the kernel k(x, y). Indeed, $\alpha(k)$

corresponds to the inverse Fourier transform of a kernel k(x,y), which is a translationinvariant function of |x - y| in the periodic box.

In order to derive a formula for the spectrum and eigenstates of the approximate Hamiltonian in the non-translation-invariant setting – analogous to the formula (2.1.25) for elementary excitations, and formula (2.1.26) for the eigenstates – we must determine some single-particle basis such that finite collections of tensor product states of these these basis elements form invariant subspaces of the transformed Hamiltonian. This new basis will be determined as part of a non-Hermitian eigenvalue problem for the single-particle operator in the diagonal of the transformed Hamiltonian. We will see that this basis has an intimate connection to the pair-excitation kernel k(x, y).

Finally, in Chapter 5, we return to the periodic box, to extend the method described here to the Lee-Huang-Yang approximate Hamiltonian. This model for low-lying excitations does not conserve the total number of particles. We will have to take exceptional care to formulate the theory for many-body states on the Fock space \mathbb{F} as a result. The spectral theory for the unbounded, non-Hermitian transformed Hamiltonian will have several different cases, which correspond to the momentum subspaces that we consider eigenstates to live in. One case (i.e., range of momenta) will correspond to a simple extension of the results displayed here. We treat Chapter 5 as the first step in formulating a pair-excitation method for general quadratic Hamiltonians.

Disclaimer on Notation

We will be dealing with several different models in this work. So as to not introduce an inordinate number of symbols, each chapter defines its own notation. This comes at the risk of re-using certain symbols to refer to different quantities across different chapters (for example, the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} will be different between two different chapters).

Chapter 3

Pair-excitation in non-translation-invariant systems

3.1 Background

In this chapter, our goal is to describe the excited many-body eigenstates of an interacting Bose system in an external trapping potential. We employ a simplified effective model: a Hamiltonian, called \mathcal{H}_{app} , that is quadratic in the Boson field operators for noncondensate atoms and captures pair creation [60]. This \mathscr{H}_{app} commutes with the particle number operator; thus, the total number of particles is conserved in Fock space. We formally construct \mathscr{H}_{app} from the full many-body Hamiltonian with a regularized interaction potential. By invoking the formalism of Wu, [60,61] we apply a non-unitary transformation to \mathscr{H}_{app} . For stationary states, we analyze the role of the *pair excitation kernel*, k, a function of two spatial variables introduced by this transformation. This k expresses the scattering of atoms from the condensate in pairs; and satisfies a nonlinear integrodifferential equation. We develop an existence theory for this equation by a variational approach. Our treatment reveals a previously unnoticed connection of k to the one-particle excitation wave functions, u_i and v_i , introduced independently by Fetter via Bogoliubovtype rotations [20]. These functions obey a system of linear partial differential equations (PDEs). Our analysis sheds light on the existence of the eigenfunctions u_i and v_i , and eigenvalues E_j , for this system. By the non-Hermitian Hamiltonian that results from the transformed \mathscr{H}_{app} , we derive a nonlocal PDE for phonon-like excitations in the trap; and express its solutions in terms of u_j and v_j . We firmly relate the eigenvalues of this nonlocal PDE with E_j ; and recover the excitation spectrum obtained in Ref. [20]. Our approach yields an explicit construction of the excited many-body eigenstates of \mathcal{H}_{app} in the sector of Fock space with a fixed number of particles.

Our tasks and results can be outlined as follows (see also Section 3.2):

- Starting from a many-body Hamiltonian with positive and smooth interaction and trapping potentials, we formally apply an approximation scheme that leads to a Hamiltonian, *H*_{app}, quadratic in the Boson field operator for noncondensate atoms.
 *H*_{app} is a regularized version of the model in Ref. [61]. The total number of particles is conserved.
- For stationary states, we invoke the concept of pair excitation [60]. A key ingredient is the pair excitation kernel, k, which is involved in a *non-unitary* transformation of *H*_{app}. In operator form this k satisfies a Riccati equation.
- By constructing a functional of *k*, we prove the existence of solutions to the operator Riccati equation in an appropriate space. Our analysis, based on a variational principle, differs from many previous treatments of the operator Riccati equation. We indicate the possibility of multiple solutions for *k*, and distinguish the physically relevant, unique solution via a restriction on the operator norm of *k*.
- We provide an explicit construction of the eigenstates of \mathcal{H}_{app} in the *N*-particle sector of Fock space. We show that the spectrum of \mathcal{H}_{app} is positive and discrete.
- We show that the existence of solutions to the equation for k implies existence of

solutions to the eigenvalue problem for the one-particle excitation wave functions u_j and v_j with a regularized interaction in Ref. [20]. We employ the theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators by Albeverio and coworkers [2–4, 13]. Hence, we connect the apparently disparate approaches for low-lying (phonon-like) excitations by Fetter [20] and Wu [60, 61].

As a consequence of the non-unitarily transformed *H*_{app}, we formally derive a one-particle PDE ("phonon PDE") for single-particle excitations in the trapped Bose gas. By restricting the operator norm of k, we show that the point spectrum of the Schrödinger operator of the phonon PDE coincides with physically admissible eigenvalues E_j of the PDEs for (u_j, v_j), in agreement with Ref. [20].

A highlight of our work is the existence proof that we develop for the one-particle excitation wave functions u_j and v_j corresponding to 'quasiparticles' in a trapped Bose gas [20]. The pair excitation kernel k, introduced through the non-unitary transformation of \mathcal{H}_{app} , provides a crucial ingredient of this proof. Our work reveals a nontrivial connection between the non-Hermitian framework of Wu [60] to the Hermitian view of Fetter [20] for low-lying excitations via the operator theory of Albeverio and coworkers; [2–4, 13] see Fig. 3.1. Another highlight of our analysis is the explicit construction of excited many-body eigenstates in the *N*-particle sector of the Bosonic Fock space by use of the kernel *k*.

Our main focus is on the analysis of low-dimensional PDEs that formally result from a non-unitary transformation of the approximate many-body Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app} [60, 61]. This Hamiltonian is a starting point of our analysis, and can be derived heuristically



Figure 3.1: Schematic for the connection of two main physical approaches (left and right panels) to the problem of excitations in the Bose gas via abstract operator theory (central panel).

from the full many-particle Hamiltonian, as we show by using a regularized interaction potential. In our procedure, we fix the (conserved) total number of atoms at the value N $(N \gg 1)$. A rigorous justification for \mathscr{H}_{app} lies beyond our scope. In a similar vein, in this work we restrict ourselves to a plausibility argument for the extraction of the equation for k. On the other hand, the analysis of solutions is placed on mathematically firm grounds. The thermodynamic limit $(N \rightarrow \infty)$ is not treated here. For this limit, see, e.g., Refs. [11,42].

The non-unitarily transformed Hamiltonian considered here has space-time reflection symmetry. The systematic study of the pair-excitation kernel in the framework of space-time-reflection-symmetric quantum theories [6] lies beyond our scope.

Our motivation for the non-Hermitian view is outlined in Section 3.1.2. Previous related works are discussed in Section 3.1.3. The underlying mathematical formalism is reviewed in Section 5.1.3. The chapter organization is sketched in Section 3.1.5. (The reader who wishes to skip the remaining introduction and read result highlights is deferred to Section 3.2.)

3.1.1 A review of the mean field theory for BEC

Mathematical models for BEC aim to predict macroscopic quantities – such as the transition temperature, density of particles occupying the condensate, ground-state energy, as well as the scattering of condensate particles to other states – from the micro-scopic quantum dynamics of bosons. The underlying physical system is described by the (non-relativistic) many-body Schrödinger equation for bosons, viz.,

$$H\Psi = i\partial_t \Psi, \quad (i^2 = -1), \tag{3.1.1}$$

where *H* is the (self-adjoint) system Hamiltonian, *t* is time, and Ψ is the symmetric many- (N-) body wavefunction. Notably, the solution Ψ to this equation lives in a high-dimensional space,

$$\Psi(t, x_1, \dots, x_N) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{3N} \to \mathbb{C},$$

by virtue of the large number of particles involved. The presence of particle-particle interactions in the mathematical expression for H renders the problem of solving the equation for Ψ intractable in realistic systems. Importantly though, extracting information about many macroscopic quantities from the (microscopic) Schrödinger dynamics does not require solving equation (3.1.1) for all particles. It is possible to make predictions for the macroscopic behavior of the system via solutions of simpler, effective low-dimensional equations of motion.

This thesis takes a knowledge of the mean-field theory for BEC for granted as the starting point of many of the approximations. In this vein, the mean-field approximation for BEC is capable of reproducing many observed quantities of interacting bosonic systems with a drastic reduction in complexity [31,43]. The core assumption for (time-

independent) mean-field models is that the many-body ground state wavefunction takes the following form:

$$\Psi(t, x_1, \dots, x_N) = e^{-itE_{\text{tot}}} \prod_{i=1}^N \phi(x_i), \quad \phi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}$$

where E_{tot} is the total ground state energy of the system. Furthermore, the many-body Hamiltonian *H* is approximated in a way consistent with the above assumption for Ψ . The macroscopic or condensate (one-particle) wavefunction $\phi(x)$ involved in the above tensor product for Ψ satisfies a (low-dimensional) nonlinear Schrödinger equation in \mathbb{R}^3 with cubic nonlinearity, known as the "Gross-Pitaevskii equation" [32, 53]. For a system with an external trapping potential $V_{trap}(x) : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ and hard-sphere, repulsive particleparticle interactions, the Gross-Pitaevskii equation reads

$$-\Delta\phi(x) + V_{\text{trap}}(x)\phi(x) + g|\phi(x)|^2\phi(x) = E\phi(x), \quad g > 0.$$

The constant *E* measures the energy per particle of the condensate and g is the strength of the interactions. This mean field theory provides a ground state energy *E* per particle that approaches the actual ground state energy per particle of the many-body system in the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$ [43]. For a system with a more general interaction potential v (as in (1.0.1)), the mean-field approximation yields a Hartree equation, viz.,

$$-\Delta\phi(x) + V_{\text{trap}}(x)\phi(x) + g(\upsilon * |\phi(x)|^2)(x)\phi(x) = E\phi(x), \quad g > 0,$$

where $v * |\phi(x)|^2$ denotes the convolution integral of the potential v(x) with the condensate density $|\phi(x)|^2$.

3.1.2 Why a non-Hermitian view?

The reader may raise the following question: What is the motivation for pursuing a non-unitary transformation of a many-body Hamiltonian? After all, non-unitary transformations are often deemed as mathematically hard to deal with. Our motivation is twofold.

First, from a physics perspective, it can be argued that the formalism involving the pair-excitation kernel is a natural extension of the systematic treatment by Lee, Huang and Yang for the setting with translation invariance and periodic boundary conditions [37]. In their case, the eigenvectors of the many-body Hamiltonian can be approximately expressed in terms of the action of a non-unitary operator, $e^{-\mathcal{K}}$, on finite superpositions of tensor products of one-particle momentum (p) states [37]. The exponent \mathcal{K} is of the form [37,60]

$$\mathscr{K} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{p} \neq 0} \alpha(\boldsymbol{p}) a_{\boldsymbol{p}}^* a_{-\boldsymbol{p}}^* ,$$

where a_p (a_p^*) is the annihilation (creation) operator at one-particle momentum $p, p \in (2\pi/L)\mathbb{Z}^3$ and L is the linear size of the periodic box. The function $\alpha(p)$, where α : $(2\pi/L)\mathbb{Z}^3 \to \mathbb{R}_+$, yields the phonon spectrum. The operator a_0 was replaced by \sqrt{N} times the identity operator, which amounts to the Bogoliubov approximation [57].

Inspired by Wu's extension to the non-translation invariant setting, [60, 61] for stationary states we consider a Hamiltonian that conserves the total number of atoms. We also replace the exponent \mathscr{K} by an integral \mathscr{W} over $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$. This integral involves the pair excitation kernel k, a symmetric function of two spatial variables, viz.,

$$\mathscr{W} = -(2N)^{-1} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^6} \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, a_x^* a_y^* k(x, y) \, a(\overline{\phi})^2.$$

Here, a_x^* is the Boson field creation operator at position x, ϕ denotes the condensate wave
function, $a(\bar{\phi})$ is the Boson field annihilation operator for the single-particle state ϕ , and ϕ is assumed to be orthogonal to k; see Section 5.1.3. We stress that the operator \mathcal{W} commutes with the particle number operator, and therefore is restricted to the *N*-particle sector of Fock space. Thus, \mathcal{W} is a well-defined and bounded operator in our formulation. The kernel k must obey a nonlocal PDE [60,61]. We will prove the existence of stationary solutions to this PDE and explore its implications. Note that $a(\bar{\phi})$ is not replaced by a c-number in our approach. The existence of k paves the way to addressing physically tangible properties of the Bose gas in a meaningful way. For example, in Section 3.7 we outline the explicit fashion by which one can describe particle-particle correlations by invoking k.

We prove that the \mathcal{W} -based formalism, in conjunction with the effective Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app} for pairs, yields the known excitation energy spectrum for the Bose gas, in agreement with other works, e.g., Ref. [20, 42]. In particular, Fetter's approach [20] employs a Bogoliubov-type rotation of Boson field operators in the space orthogonal to ϕ . The underlying Hamiltonian does not commute with the particle number operator. Here, we place emphasis on the role of the pair-excitation kernel k, in the context of a Hamiltonian (\mathcal{H}_{app}) that conserves the total number of particles. By using k, we transform the effective Hamiltonian non-unitarily and explicitly construct the excited many-body eigenstates in the *N*-particle sector of Fock space. The use of a non-unitary transformation with k here results in a diagonalization scheme that has upper triangular structure.

Another reason for pursuing a non-Hermitian view is that this spells out previously unnoticed connections of abstract operator theory to phonon-like excitations in the trapped Bose gas. We identify the governing equation for k with an operator Riccati equation. The latter has been studied extensively by Albeverio and coworkers; [2-4] see also Refs. [13, 36, 58]. Our existence theory for k, based on a variational approach, differs from existence proofs found in these works. Our formalism has a different flavor from the variational approaches for operator matrices in Ref. [58]. We exploit the connection of pair excitations to the operator Riccati equation to prove existence of solutions to the PDE system for the quasiparticle-related excitation wave functions derived heuristically in Ref. [20]. The Riccati equation for k is inherent to the non-Hermitian formalism [60]. We establish that the excitation spectrum by Fetter's approach [20] comes from the eigenvalue problem for a *J*-self-adjoint operator intimately connected to k. We use a regularized interaction potential in the place of the delta-function potential of Refs. [20, 60, 61]. Our findings for the excitation spectrum are independent of the particle-conserving (or not) character of the Hamiltonian. In contrast, the construction of the many-body eigenstates relies on particle conservation.

3.1.3 On related past works

The quantum dynamics of the Bose gas has been the subject of numerous studies. It is impossible to exhaustively list this bibliography. Here, we make an attempt to place our work in the appropriate context of the existing literature. For a broad view on Boson dynamics, the interested reader may consult, e.g., Refs. [15, 31, 40, 43, 55, 57, 62].

Mean field limits of Boson dynamics are usually captured by nonlinear Schrödingertype equations for the condensate wave function [32, 53, 60]. Such limits have been rigorously derived from kinetic hierarchies in distinct scaling regimes for the atomic interactions; see, e.g., Ref. [19]. Our focus in this chapter is different. We primarily address the analysis of low-order PDEs that aim to provide corrections to the mean field dynamics. We also describe connections of the PDE solutions to the excitation spectrum and many-body eigenstates of an approximate Hamiltonian for pair creation.

Second-order corrections to the mean field time evolution have been studied through a Bogoliubov-type transformation [29,30]. Although these works are inspired by Wu's approach, [60,61] they are not strictly faithful to his formalism. In Refs. [29,30], the manybody Hamiltonian is transformed *unitarily* whereas in Refs. [60, 61] the corresponding transformation is *non-unitary*. Here, we take a firm step towards showing the importance of the latter approach via a minimal model, applying a non-unitary transformation to an effective approximate Hamiltonian in the stationary setting.

Wu's formal treatment of the interacting Bose system in non-translation invariant settings aims to transcend the mean field limit [60, 61]. This approach has motivated the use of the pair-excitation kernel k as a means of improving error estimates for the time evolution of Bosons. [31] It has been shown that a unitary, Bogoliubov-type transformation of the many-body Hamiltonian that involves k yields considerably improved Fock space estimates [26–30]. A price to pay for this improvement is that k satisfies a non-local evolution PDE coupled with the condensate wave function. Because of the use of a unitary transformation in Refs. [26–30], their PDE for k is different from the one in Refs. [60, 61].

There are many other papers that tackle the problems of quantum fluctuations around the mean field limit and the excitation spectrum of the Bose gas in the mathematics literature [7, 8, 10, 12, 17, 18, 41, 42, 46–50, 56]. A review of the challenges for the periodic setting is given by Seiringer [57]. Central roles in many treatments of the excitation spectrum are played by the Bogoliubov approximation and the Bogoliubov transformation. In particular, in Ref. [42] Lewin and coworkers tackle aspects of this problem by use of a quadratic Hamiltonian with a trapping potential via Fock space techniques in the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$. These works adopt a Hermitian view, and thus differ from our work. Note that in Ref. [18] the expectation of a quadratic many-body Hamiltonian is minimized over pure Gaussian states. This procedure causes elimination of terms that do not preserve the number of particles and leaves solely quasiparticle excitations [18]. However, because of the lack of the notion of a kernel in this formulation, the connection of the exponential structure of the many-body eigenstates to Fetter's one-particle excitation wave functions u_j and v_j , [20] which is pointed out here, is absent in Ref. [18]. To the best of our knowledge, the PDE system for u_j and v_j has not been rigorously studied until now.

In physics, the excitation spectrum of the Bose gas in non-translation invariant settings has been described by many authors; for reviews see, e.g., Refs [5, 15, 24, 25, 39, 51, 54]. We single out the work by Fetter [20–22] who formally addresses the excitation problem through an intriguing PDE system. The existence of solutions to this system has not been studied until now. The underlying many-body formalism relies on a unitary, Bogoliubov-type transformation of Boson field operators for noncondensate particles. This leads to a formula for the excitation spectrum in terms of the eigenvalues E_j of the PDE system [20]. This formalism has been invoked in the modeling of phonon scattering [16] and condensate fluctuations [25].

Our analysis brings forth an intimate mathematical connection of Fetter's theory [20] to Wu's approach [60]. Regarding the existence theory for the operator Riccati equation

obeyed by k, we develop a variational approach which significantly differs from the previously invoked fixed-point argument [4,13]. We show that this theory naturally implies the existence of solutions to Fetter's PDE system for a regularized interaction potential [20]. We also construct through k the eigenvectors of the approximate Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app} in the N-particle sector of Fock space. The particle-conserving character of the model is key in this construction.

3.1.4 Notation and terminology

- The symbol *f* denotes the complex conjugate of *f*, while *A** stands for the Hermitian adjoint of operator *A*. The symbol *A* indicates the operator which acts according to *A*[*f*] = *A*[*f*] for all functions *f* in the domain of *A*.
- In the symbol \int the integration limits are omitted. The corresponding region is \mathbb{R}^3 (for $\int dx$) or $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ (for $\int dx dy$).
- The (symmetric) inner product of complex-valued $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is defined by

$$\langle \overline{f}, g \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ \overline{f(x)} g(x) \right\} \,.$$

The respective inner product of complex-valued $f, g \in L^2_V(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is $\langle \overline{f}, Vg \rangle$ for positive external potential V(x). The L^2 -norm of f is denoted $||f||_2$. For some operator k, the (symmetric) inner product of f(x) and k(x,g) is denoted $\langle f, k(\cdot,g) \rangle$.

• Function spaces on \mathbb{R}^d (e.g., d = 3) are denoted by lowercase gothic letters, viz.,

$$\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^d) := L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) , \quad \mathfrak{h}^1(\mathbb{R}^d) := H^1(\mathbb{R}^d) , \quad \mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^d) := H^1(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^2_V(\mathbb{R}^d) .$$

We write $\mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{h}^1, \mathfrak{h}^1_V$ for these spaces if d = 3. As an exception to this notation, we define $\phi^{\perp} := \{e \in \mathfrak{h}^1_V \mid e \perp \phi\}$ where $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}^1$ is the condensate wave function.

- For a given ordered set {e_j(x)}_j ⊂ 𝔥, we occasionally use the symbol ⟨A⟩_j for the inner product ⟨e_j, a(·, e_j)⟩, taking A := a(x, y).
- The symbol $(\upsilon * g)(x)$ denotes the convolution integral $\int dy \,\upsilon(x-y)g(y)$.
- The space of bounded linear operators on h is denoted 𝔅(h), with norm || · ||_{op}.
 Also, the space of trace-class operators on h is denoted 𝔅₁(h) with norm

$$\|A\|_{\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathfrak{h})} = \|A\|_1 = \operatorname{tr}|A|, \quad \forall A \in \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathfrak{h}).$$

Similarly, the space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators on \mathfrak{h} is $\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h})$ with norm

$$\|A\|_{\mathfrak{B}_{2}(\mathfrak{h})} = \|A\|_{2} = (\operatorname{tr}|A^{*}A|)^{1/2}, \quad \forall A \in \mathfrak{B}_{2}(\mathfrak{h}).$$

The space of compact operators on \mathfrak{h} is $\mathfrak{B}_0(\mathfrak{h})$. Note the inequalities

$$||A||_{\text{op}} \le ||A||_2 \le ||A||_1$$
,

and the inclusions $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathfrak{h}) \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}) \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_0(\mathfrak{h}) \subseteq \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{h})$.

We express operators on h by use of their integral kernels which we denote by lowercase greek or roman letters. For example, we employ the expression δ(x,y), in place of δ(x – y), of the Dirac mass for the identity operator. In this vein, an effective one-particle Hamiltonian of interest is denoted by the singular kernel

$$h(x,y) := \left\{ -\Delta + V(x) + N(\upsilon * |\phi|^2)(x) \right\} \delta(x,y) + N\phi(x)\upsilon(x-y)\overline{\phi(y)} - \mu\delta(x,y) ,$$

where $\phi(x)$ is the condensate wave function, V(x) is the trapping potential, v(x) is the two-body interaction potential, and μ is a constant. Another example of notation is k(x,y) for the pair-excitation operator. We use the superscript '*T*' for a kernel to denote its transpose. The star (*) as a superscript indicates the adjoint (complex conjugate and transpose) kernel; e.g., $k^*(x,y) = \overline{k(y,x)}$. We write $k \in \mathfrak{S}$ to mean that 'the operator with integral kernel k' belongs to the space \mathfrak{S} , e.g., for $\mathfrak{S} = \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h})$.

• The composition of operators *h* and *k* is expressed by

$$(h \circ k)(x, y) := \int \mathrm{d}x' \left\{ h(x, x')k(x', y) \right\} \,.$$

• If a bounded operator $k \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{h})$ acts on $f \in \mathfrak{h}$, the result is the function

$$k(x,f) := \int dx' \{k(x,x')f(x')\}, \text{ or } k(f,x') := \int dx \{f(x)k(x,x')\}.$$

The same notation is used for kernels corresponding to unbounded operators, with the understanding that the domain of such an operator is defined appropriately.

For f,g ∈ h the tensor-product operator corresponding to integral kernel f(x)g(x') is sometimes expressed as f ⊗ g. The symmetrized tensor product of f,g is

$$f \otimes_{\mathrm{s}} g := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \{ f \otimes g + g \otimes f \} .$$

For the condensate wave function φ ∈ h with L²-norm ||φ||₂ = 1, the projection operator δ̂ : h → h is defined by

$$\widehat{\delta}(x,y) = \delta(x,y) - \phi(x)\overline{\phi(y)}$$
.

• The Bosonic Fock space \mathbb{F} is a direct sum of *n*-particle symmetric L^2 -spaces, viz.,

$$\mathbb{F} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}_n$$
; $\mathbb{F}_0 = \mathbb{C}$, $\mathbb{F}_n = L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$ if $n \ge 1$.

Hence, vectors in \mathbb{F} are described as sequences $\{u^n\}$ of *n*-particle wave functions where $u^n \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$, $n \ge 0$. The inner product of $|u\rangle = \{u^n\}, |w\rangle = \{w^n\} \in \mathbb{F}$ is

$$\langle u,w\rangle_{\mathbb{F}}:=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\langle \overline{u}^n,w^n\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n})},$$

which induces the norm $|||u\rangle|| = \sqrt{\langle u, u\rangle_{\mathbb{F}}}$. We employ the braket notation for Schrödinger state vectors in \mathbb{F} to distinguish them from wave functions in $L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$. We often write the inner product of $|u\rangle$ with $\mathscr{A}|w\rangle$ ($\mathscr{A} : \mathbb{F} \mapsto \mathbb{F}$) as $\langle u|\mathscr{A}|w\rangle$. The vacuum state in \mathbb{F} is $|vac\rangle := \{1, 0, 0, ...\}$, where the unity is placed in the zeroth slot. A symmetric *N*-particle wave function, $\psi_N \in L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$, has a natural embedding into \mathbb{F} given by $|\psi\rangle_N = \{0, 0, ..., \psi_N(x), 0, ...\}$, where $\psi_N(x)$ is in the *N*-th slot. The set of such state vectors $|\psi\rangle_N$ is the '*N*-th fiber' (*N*-particle sector) of \mathbb{F} , denoted \mathbb{F}_N . We sometimes omit the subscript '*N*' in $|\psi\rangle_N$, simply writing $|\psi\rangle$.

A Hamiltonian on L²_s(ℝ^{3N}) admits an extension to an operator on F. This extension is carried out via the Bosonic field operator a_x and its adjoint, a^{*}_x, which are indexed by the spatial coordinate x ∈ ℝ³. To define these field operators, first consider the annihilation and creation operators for a one-particle state f ∈ h, denoted by a(f) and a^{*}(f). These operators act on |u⟩ = {uⁿ} ∈ F according to

$$(a(\overline{f})|u\rangle)^{n} := \sqrt{n+1} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\overline{f(x)} \, u^{n+1}(x, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}) ,$$
$$(a^{*}(f)|u\rangle)^{n} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{j \le n} f(x_{j}) \, u^{n-1}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_{n}) .$$

We often use the symbols $a_{\overline{f}} := a(\overline{f})$ and $a_f^* := a^*(f)$. Also, given an orthonormal basis, $\{e_j(x)\}_j \subset \mathfrak{h}$, we will write a_j^* in place of $a^*(e_j)$ and a_j in place of $a(\overline{e_j})$.

• The Boson field operators a_x^* , a_x are now implicitly defined via the integrals

$$a_f^* = \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ f(x) a_x^* \right\}, \quad a_{\overline{f}} = \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ \overline{f(x)} a_x \right\}$$

By the orthonormal basis $\{e_j(x)\}_j$, the field operators are expressed by

$$a_x^* = \sum_j e_j(x) a_j^*$$
, $a_x = \sum_j \overline{e_j(x)} a_j$.

The canonical commutation relations $[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta(x - y), [a_x, a_y] = 0$ then follow.

• The Boson field operators orthogonal to the condensate $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}$ are defined by

$$a_{\perp,x} = \int dy \left\{ \widehat{\delta}(x,y)a_y \right\} = \int dy \left\{ a_y \widehat{\delta}^T(y,x) \right\} ,$$
$$a_{\perp,x}^* = \int dy \left\{ \widehat{\delta}^T(x,y)a_y^* \right\} = \int dy \left\{ a_y^* \widehat{\delta}(y,x) \right\} .$$

We can decompose the Boson field operators according to the equations

$$a_x = a_{\perp,x} + \phi(x)a_{\overline{\phi}}, \quad a_x^* = a_{\perp,x}^* + \phi(x)a_{\phi}^*.$$
 (3.1.2)

It is worthwhile to notice the commutation relations

$$\left[a_{\perp,x},a_{\perp,y}^*\right] = \widehat{\delta}(x,y) , \ \left[a_{\perp,x}^*,a_{\perp,y}\right] = -\widehat{\delta}^T(x,y) , \ \left[a_{\overline{\phi}},a_{\perp,x}^*\right] = \left[a_{\perp,x},a_{\phi}^*\right] = 0 .$$

- Fock space operators such as the Hamiltonian ℋ are primarily denoted by calligraphic letters. Some exceptions pertain to annihilation and creation operators including a_x, a^{*}_x, a_{⊥,x}, a^{*}_{⊥,x}; and a_φ, a^{*}_φ as well as a_j, a^{*}_j associated with the basis {e_j(x)}_j ⊂ 𝔥.
- Functionals on Banach spaces are often denoted also by calligraphic letters.

3.1.5 Chapter organization

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows. In Section 3.2 we summarize our results. Section 3.3 focuses on the formal construction of the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app} , and the derivation of the operator Riccati equation for the pair-excitation kernel k. In Section 3.4 we develop an existence theory for this Riccati equation. In Section 3.5 we describe the excitation spectrum and construct the associated eigenvectors of \mathcal{H}_{app} . Key in this description is our use of the *N*-particle sector of the Bosonic Fock space. Section 3.6 addresses the connection of our theory for low-lying excitations to Fetter's approach [20] and the properties of *J*-self-adjoint operators [4]. In Section 3.7 we conclude this chapter and discuss some implications.

3.2 Hamiltonian model, main results and methodology

In this section, we define the many-body Hamiltonian, and summarize our results and approach. The starting point is the many-body Hamiltonian in Fock space, viz.,

$$\mathscr{H} = \int \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y \left\{ a_x^* \varepsilon(x, y) a_y + \frac{1}{2} a_x^* a_y^* \upsilon(x - y) a_x a_y \right\} , \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where $\varepsilon(x,y) = \{-\Delta_x + V(x)\} \delta(x,y)$ is the kinetic part, $\upsilon(x)$ is the pairwise interaction potential, and V(x) is the trapping potential. We assume that $\upsilon(x)$ is positive, symmetric, integrable and bounded on \mathbb{R}^3 . The trapping potential V(x) is positive and such that the one-particle Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V$ has discrete spectrum.

3.2.1 Reduced Hamiltonian and operator Riccati equation for k

Section 3.3 describes Wu's approach [61] in a language closer to operator theory, which serves our objectives. By heuristics, we reduce Hamiltonian (3.2.1) to the quadratic form

$$\mathscr{H}_{app} = NE_{\rm H} + h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2N} f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) a_{\overline{\phi}}^2 + \frac{1}{2N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) {a_{\phi}^*}^2 ,$$

where E_H is the (mean field) Hartree energy per particle, $h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$ and $\overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$ are operators of the form $\int dx dy \{a_{\perp,x}^* h(x,y)a_{\perp,y}\}$ and $\int dx dy \{a_{\perp,x}\overline{f_{\phi}(x,y)}a_{\perp,y}\}$ for suitable kernels h(x,y) and $f_{\phi}(x,y)$, and ϕ is the condensate wave function; see Section 3.3.1. Our derivation of the reduced Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{app} relies on (3.1.2) and the conservation of the particle number. Our goal is to solve the eigenvalue problem $\mathscr{H}_{app}|\psi\rangle = E_N|\psi\rangle$.

Subsequently, we transform \mathscr{H}_{app} non-unitarily according to $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} := e^{\mathscr{W}} \mathscr{H}_{app} e^{-\mathscr{W}}$ where the operator \mathscr{W} is of the form $-(2N)^{-1} \int dx dy \{k(x,y) a_{\perp,x}^* a_{\perp,y}^*\} a_{\phi}^2$ which conserves the total number of particles; see Section 3.3.2. The Riccati equation for kernel kis extracted via the requirement that the non-Hermitian operator $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}$ does *not* contain any terms with the product $a_{\perp}^* a_{\perp}^*$; see Section 3.3.3. If $k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0$, the Riccati equation for k reads

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k = \lambda \otimes_{\mathrm{s}} \phi$$

where the Lagrange multiplier λ is determined self-consistently.

3.2.2 Existence theory for *k*

In Section 3.4, we introduce a functional of \overline{k} and k by use of which we develop an existence theory for k. This functional, $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k] : \operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E}) \to \mathbb{R}$, reads

$$\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k] := \operatorname{tr}\left\{ \left(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k \right)^{-1} \circ \left(\overline{k} \circ h \circ k + \frac{1}{2} \overline{k} \circ f_{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k \right) \right\};$$

see Section 3.4.1 for the definition of dom(\mathscr{E}). Setting the functional derivative of $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$ with respect to \overline{k} equal to zero yields the Riccati equation for *k*.

We prove the existence of solutions to the Riccati equation for k by assuming that

$$h(\overline{e},e) - \left| f_{\phi}(\overline{e},\overline{e}) \right| \geq c \|e\|_{L^2}^2 \qquad orall e \in \phi^{\perp} = \left\{ e \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1 \mid e \perp \phi
ight\}.$$

In particular, this condition is satisfied if ϕ is a minimizer of the Hartree energy, E_H . The aforementioned inequality is employed as a hypothesis in the main existence theorem, Theorem 1 (Section 3.4.2). In fact, Theorem 1 states that the above inequality and the property that f_{ϕ} is Hilbert-Schmidt imply that the functional \mathscr{E} restricted to dom $(\mathscr{E})_{\perp} =$ dom $(\mathscr{E}) \cap \{k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1) \mid k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0\}$ attains a minimum for some $k \in$ dom $(\mathscr{E})_{\perp}$ which is a weak solution to the operator Riccati equation. We emphasize that ϕ does not need to be a minimizer of the Hartree energy. Our proof makes use of a basis of ϕ^{\perp} , the theory of complex (\mathscr{C} -) symmetric operators and a variational principle based on functional \mathscr{E} . In Section 3.4.3, we discuss the possible non-uniqueness of solutions to the Riccati equation.

3.2.3 Spectrum and eigenvectors of reduced non-Hermitian Hamiltonian

In Section 3.5, we study the eigenvectors and spectrum of the non-unitarily transformed Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app}$, under the assumptions of Theorem 1 for *k*. A highlight of our analysis is the explicit construction of these eigenvectors in \mathbb{F}_N by Fock space techniques. We write $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} = NE_H + \mathscr{H}_{ph}$ where

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ph}} := h_{\mathrm{ph}}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{N}(a^*_{\phi})^2 \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp});$$

 $h_{\mathrm{ph}}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) := \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \left\{ a^*_{\perp,x}(h + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}})(x, y) a_{\perp,y} \right\}.$

Evidently, $h_{ph}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$ forms the diagonal part of $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} - NE_H$. We show that h_{ph} is responsible for the discrete phonon-like excitation spectrum of the trapped Bose gas.

The main result is captured by Theorem 2, which asserts the following equality of spectra:

$$\left. \sigma \left(\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ph}} \big|_{\mathbb{F}_N}
ight) = \sigma \left(h_{\mathrm{ph}}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) \big|_{\mathbb{F}_N}
ight) \,.$$

Furthermore, in this theorem we show that for every eigenvector of $h_{ph}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$ with eigenvalue *E* there is a unique eigenvector of \mathscr{H}_{ph} with the same eigenvalue, *E*.

Our analysis is based on the following steps. First, we provide a formalism for the decomposition of \mathbb{F}_N into appropriate orthogonal subspaces (Section 3.5.1). Our technique is similar in spirit to that in the construction by Lewin, Nam, Serfaty and Solovej [42]. However, here we consider the eigenvectors of a Hamiltonian that conserves the number of particles as opposed to the Bogoliubov Hamiltonian studied in Ref. [42]. Second, we invoke *k* explicitly and show that by the restriction $||k||_{op} < 1$, the spectrum of the one-particle Schrödinger-type operator h_{ph} is positive and discrete, and the corresponding eigenfunctions form a non-orthogonal Riesz basis of ϕ^{\perp} (Section 3.5.2). The proof of the main theorem (Theorem 2) relies on the above steps to show that the eigenvalue problem for \mathcal{H}_{ph} can be reduced to a finite-dimensional system of equations that has an upper triangular form (Section 3.5.3).

3.2.4 Connection to Hermitian approach

In Section 3.6, we compare our approach to Fetter's formalism [20] which makes use of Bogoliubov rotations. We prove the existence of solutions to a PDE system for one-particle excitation wave functions, which reduces to Fetter's system [20] when the pairwise interaction potential v is replaced by $g\delta$ for some constant g > 0. To this end, we assume that a solution to the operator Riccati equation exists. We discuss the connection of the Riccati equation for k to the theory of J-self-adjoint matrix operators by Albeverio and coworkers [2–4].

Starting with the relevant Bogoliubov Hamiltonian, [20] we indicate that its diagonalization via "quasiparticle" operators (in Fetter's terminology) leads to the PDE system (j = 1, 2, ...)

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{\perp}^{T} & -f_{\phi_{\perp}} \\ \overline{f_{\phi_{\perp}}} & -h_{\perp} \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} u_{j}(x) \\ v_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix} = E_{j} \begin{pmatrix} u_{j}(x) \\ v_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix}$$

for the one-particle wave functions u_j and v_j and respective eigenvalues E_j (Section 3.6.1). Here, q_{\perp} ($q = h, f_{\phi}$) is the projection of operator q on space ϕ^{\perp} . We show that the existence of solutions to the Riccati equation for k implies the solvability of the above system for (u_j, v_j) ; see Section 3.6.2. We also prove that the completeness relations between u_j and v_j , previously posed by Fetter, [20] directly follow from our approach. In Section 3.6.3 we invoke ideas from *J*-self-adjoint operator theory to show that the restriction $||k||_{\text{op}} < 1$ yields a positive spectrum $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ for the symplectic matrix involved in the system for (u_j, v_j) .

3.3 Construction of many-body Hamiltonian for pairs

In this section, we formally construct the (Hermitian) Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{app} for pair excitation which is quadratic in the Boson field operators for noncondensate atoms, and transform it non-unitarily. A core ingredient of this approach is that the number of atoms is strictly conserved. We follow the treatment of Wu [60,61] but replace his delta-function potential for repulsive pairwise atomic interactions by a smooth potential.

Section 3.3.1 focuses on heuristic approximations in the Hermitian setting. Section 3.3.2 concerns the non-unitary transformation of the approximate Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{app} . In Section 3.3.3, we derive a Riccati equation for the pair excitation kernel of the transformation. Section 3.3.4 provides some discussion on the procedure.

3.3.1 Reduction of Hamiltonian in Hermitian setting

In this subsection, we formally reduce the many-body Hamiltonian to an approximate Hermitian operator that is quadratic in the Boson field operators for noncondensate atoms. The total number of particles is conserved. Our main result is described by (6.2.3)-(3.3.1e) below.

We start with Hamiltonian (3.2.1). Let ϕ denote the (one-particle) condensate wave function, which has L^2 -norm $\|\phi\|_2 = 1$. Recall decomposition (3.1.2) for the Boson field operators a_x , a_x^* . The particle number operator, \mathcal{N} , on \mathbb{F} can thus be decomposed as

$$\mathscr{N} = \int \mathrm{d}x \{a_x^* a_x\} = a_\phi^* a_{\overline{\phi}} + \int \mathrm{d}x \{a_{\perp,x}^* a_{\perp,x}\} =: \mathscr{N}_\phi + \mathscr{N}_\perp ,$$

where $\mathcal{N}_{\phi} := a_{\phi}^* a_{\overline{\phi}}$ is the number operator for condensate atoms; \mathcal{N}_{ϕ} and \mathcal{N}_{\perp} commute, and \mathcal{H} commutes with \mathcal{N} , viz., $[\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{N}] = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{N} - \mathcal{N}\mathcal{H} = 0$. We use the *N*-th fiber, \mathbb{F}_N , of the Bosonic Fock space, considering state vectors $|\psi\rangle_N$ that satisfy

$$\mathscr{N}|\psi\rangle_N = N|\psi\rangle_N \; ; \qquad \||\psi\rangle_N\| = 1 \; .$$

Following Wu, [60] we first expand \mathscr{H} is powers of $a_{\perp,x}$, $a_{\perp,x}^*$ by applying decomposition (3.1.2) for a_x , a_x^* . The Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} reads

$$\mathcal{H} = \int dx dy \left\{ \overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) \phi(y) + \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - 1) |\phi(x)|^{2} \upsilon(x - y) |\phi(y)|^{2} \right\} \mathcal{N}_{\phi}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} \left(\varepsilon(x, y) \phi(y) + (\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - 1) \phi(x) \upsilon(x - y) |\phi(y)|^{2} \right) a_{\overline{\phi}} \right\}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\phi}^{*} \left(\overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) + (\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - 1) \overline{\phi(y)} \upsilon(x - y) |\phi(x)|^{2} \right) a_{\perp,y} \right\}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} \left(\varepsilon(x, y) + \mathcal{N}_{\phi} \left(\upsilon * |\phi|^{2} \right) (x) \delta(x, y) + \mathcal{N}_{\phi} \phi(x) \upsilon(x - y) \overline{\phi(y)} \right) a_{\perp,y} \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} a_{\perp,y}^{*} \phi(x) \upsilon(x - y) \phi(y) a_{\overline{\phi}}^{2} + a_{\phi}^{*} \overline{\phi(x)} \upsilon(x - y) \overline{\phi(y)} a_{\perp,x} a_{\perp,y} \right\}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} a_{\perp,y}^{*} \upsilon(x - y) \phi(y) a_{\perp,x} a_{\overline{\phi}} + a_{\phi}^{*} a_{\perp,x}^{*} \overline{\phi(y)} \upsilon(x - y) a_{\perp,x} a_{\perp,y} \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} a_{\perp,y}^{*} \upsilon(x - y) \phi(y) a_{\perp,x} a_{\overline{\phi}} + a_{\phi}^{*} a_{\perp,x}^{*} \overline{\phi(y)} \upsilon(x - y) a_{\perp,x} a_{\perp,y} \right\}$$

Recall that $\varepsilon(x, y) = \{-\Delta_x + V(x)\} \delta(x, y).$

The next step is to reduce \mathscr{H} to a Hermitian operator quadratic in a_{\perp} , a_{\perp}^* . First, we drop the terms that are cubic or quartic in a_{\perp} , a_{\perp}^* . Second, we make the substitution $\mathscr{N}_{\phi} = \mathscr{N} - \mathscr{N}_{\perp}$ and replace \mathscr{N} by N ($\mathscr{N} \mapsto N$ with $N \gg 1$) because $|\psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_N$. We then drop the term \mathscr{N}_{\perp}^2 . We take $N - 1 \simeq N$ and *apply a Hartree-type equation* for the condensate wave function ϕ which we write as

$$\int dy \left\{ \varepsilon(x,y)\phi(y) + N\phi(x)\upsilon(x-y)|\phi(y)|^2 \right\} - \mu\phi(x) = 0$$

This results in the elimination of terms linear in a_{\perp} , a_{\perp}^* in the Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} . The multiplier μ enables us to impose the normalization constraint $\|\phi\|_2 = 1$; thus,

$$\mu = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ \overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) \phi(y) + N |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon(x - y) |\phi(y)|^2 \right\} \,.$$

The PDE for ϕ formally becomes the Gross-Pitaevskii equation [32, 53] if v is replaced by $g\delta$ for some constant g > 0.

Consequently, the original Hamiltonian $\mathcal H$ is reduced to the quadratic form

$$\mathscr{H}_{app} = NE_{\rm H} + h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2N} f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) a_{\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{2N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) a_{\phi}^{*2}$$
(3.3.1a)

where, abusing notation slightly, we define the operators

$$h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) := \int dx dy \{a_{\perp,x}^* h(x, y) a_{\perp,y}\},$$
 (3.3.1b)

$$f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}^{*}) := \int dx dy \left\{ a_{\perp,x}^{*} f_{\phi}(x, y) a_{\perp,y}^{*} \right\},$$
 (3.3.1c)

along with the corresponding kernels

$$h(x,y) := \varepsilon(x,y) + N(\upsilon * |\phi|^2)(x) \,\delta(x,y) + N\gamma(x,y) - \mu \,\delta(x,y) \,, \quad (3.3.1d)$$

$$f_{\phi}(x,y) := N\phi(x)\upsilon(x-y)\phi(y), \quad \gamma(x,y) := \phi(x)\upsilon(x-y)\overline{\phi(y)}. \quad (3.3.1e)$$

In the above, the Hartree energy functional, $E_{\rm H}$, is defined by

$$E_{\rm H} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ \overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) \phi(y) + \frac{N}{2} |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon(x-y) |\phi(y)|^2 \right\} \,.$$

Equation (6.2.3) is the desired reduced Hamiltonian. Note the key property

$$[\mathscr{H}_{app},\mathscr{N}]=0$$
.

3.3.2 Non-unitary transformation of Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{app}

In this subsection, we transform \mathscr{H}_{app} non-unitarily by use of the pair-excitation kernel, k. The main result is given by (3.3.3a) and (3.3.3b) below.

For this purpose, we invoke the following quadratic operator:

$$\mathscr{K} := -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ k(x, y) a^*_{\perp, x} a^*_{\perp, y} \right\} \,, \qquad (3.3.2a)$$

where $k = k^T$. This \mathscr{K} does not conserve the number of particles $([\mathscr{K}, \mathscr{N}] \neq 0)$. In addition, following Wu, [60] we introduce the operator

$$\mathscr{W} := -\frac{1}{2N} \int dx \, dy \, \{k(x, y) a_{\perp, x}^* a_{\perp, y}^*\} (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 = \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{K}(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \,. \tag{3.3.2b}$$

The kernel k is not known at this stage, but must satisfy certain consistency conditions (see Section 3.3.3). We refrain from specifying the function space of k now. A salient point of this formalism is the identity $[\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{N}] = 0$. Consequently, the operator $e^{\mathcal{W}}$, which is used to define the non-unitary transformation of \mathcal{H}_{app} below, leaves \mathbb{F}_N invariant, i.e., $e^{\mathcal{W}} : \mathbb{F}_N \mapsto \mathbb{F}_N$. (However, $e^{\mathcal{W}}$ does not respect the Fock space norm.) Our goal here is to describe the non-Hermitian operator $e^{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{H}_{app} e^{-\mathcal{W}}$.

The main idea concerning the proposed non-unitary transformation of \mathscr{H}_{app} can be described as follows. Assume that $|\psi\rangle_N = |\psi\rangle \ (|\psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_N)$ is an eigenvector of the (Hermitian) Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{app} with eigenvalue *E*, viz., $\mathscr{H}_{app}|\psi\rangle = E|\psi\rangle$. Then, we have

$$\left\{e^{\mathscr{W}}\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{app}}e^{-\mathscr{W}}\right\}\left(e^{\mathscr{W}}|\psi\rangle\right)=E\left(e^{\mathscr{W}}|\psi\rangle\right).$$

Hence, the non-Hermitian, non-unitarily transformed, operator $e^{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{H}_{app} e^{-\mathcal{W}}$ has eigenvalue E and eigenvector $e^{\mathcal{W}} |\psi\rangle$. It turns out that it is more tractable to describe the transformed eigenvector $e^{\mathcal{W}} |\psi\rangle$ in \mathbb{F}_N than the original vector $|\psi\rangle$ by exploiting spectral properties of $e^{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{H}_{app} e^{-\mathcal{W}}$. A price that one must pay for this option is that the pair-excitation kernel k must satisfy the operator Riccati equation. One of our major goals here is to motivate the equation obeyed by k through the computation of the non-Hermitian operator $e^{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{H}_{app} e^{-\mathcal{W}}$.

Next, we organize our calculation. First, we readily compute the conjugation

$$e^{\mathscr{W}}a_{\perp,x}e^{-\mathscr{W}} = a_{\perp,x} + \frac{1}{N}\widehat{k}^T(a_{\perp}^*,x)(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2,$$

where (abusing notation) we define

$$\widehat{k}^{T}(x,y) := \int dz \left\{ k(x,z)\widehat{\delta}^{T}(z,y) \right\} ,$$
$$\widehat{k}^{T}(a_{\perp}^{*},x) := \int dy dz \left\{ a_{\perp,y}^{*}k(y,z)\widehat{\delta}^{T}(z,x) \right\} .$$

In a similar vein, by virtue of (3.3.2a) we compute

$$e^{\mathscr{W}}a_{\phi}^{*}e^{-\mathscr{W}}=a_{\phi}^{*}+rac{2}{N}\mathscr{K}a_{\overline{\phi}}\,.$$

In order to obtain a symmetric equation in the end, we symmetrize $h(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp})$ as

$$h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + h^T(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^*) \right\} + c_{\infty} ,$$

where c_{∞} is an (infinite) immaterial constant. This constant is harmless since it is added and subtracted. In fact, we remove this c_{∞} after we perform the calculation.

We proceed to carry out the computation of $e^{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{H}_{app} e^{-\mathcal{W}}$. To avoid overly cumbersome expressions, we only display the manipulation of key terms of \mathcal{H}_{app} , for illustration purposes. We refrain from presenting the explicit computation of all terms. The main term that we need to compute reads

$$\begin{split} &\int \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{y} \, \left\{ e^{\mathscr{W}} \left((a_{\phi}^*)^2 a_{\perp,x} a_{\perp,y} \right) e^{-\mathscr{W}} \frac{1}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}(\mathbf{x}, y)} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ (a_{\phi}^*)^2 + \frac{2}{N} \mathscr{K} (2\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 1) + \frac{4}{N^2} \mathscr{K}^2 (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \right\} \\ &\times \int \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{y} \, \left(a_{\perp,x} + \frac{1}{N} \widehat{k}^T (a_{\perp}^*, \mathbf{x}) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \right) \frac{1}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}(\mathbf{x}, y)} \left(a_{\perp,y} + \frac{1}{N} \widehat{k}(\mathbf{y}, a_{\perp}^*) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \right) \\ &= \left\{ (a_{\phi}^*)^2 + \frac{2}{N} \mathscr{K} (2\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 1) + \frac{4}{N^2} \mathscr{K}^2 (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \right\} \\ &\times \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{N^2} \left((\widehat{k}^T \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}) (a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + (\overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{k}) (a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^*) \right) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{N^3} (\widehat{k}^T \circ \overline{f} \circ \widehat{k}) (a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^4 \right\} \\ &= \left(a_{\phi}^* \right)^2 \frac{1}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{N^2} \left\{ (\widehat{k}^T \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}) (a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + (\overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{k}) (a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^*) \right\} \mathscr{N}_{\phi} (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 1) \\ &+ \frac{1}{N^3} (\widehat{k}^T \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{k}) (a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 2) (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 3) \\ &+ \text{higher order terms in } a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^* \, . \end{split}$$

The above Fock space operator can be further simplified, without distortion of its commutability with \mathcal{N} , via the replacement $\mathcal{N}_{\phi} = \mathcal{N} - \mathcal{N}_{\perp} \mapsto N - \mathcal{N}_{\perp}$. Subsequently, we drop terms higher than quadratic in a_{\perp} , a_{\perp}^* ; and treat N as large so that $N - l \simeq N$ if l is fixed. The other relevant computations are

$$\begin{split} e^{\mathscr{W}}h(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp})e^{-\mathscr{W}} &= h(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{N} \left(h \circ \widehat{k}\right) (a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp}^*) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 ,\\ e^{\mathscr{W}}h^T(a_{\perp},a_{\perp}^*)e^{-\mathscr{W}} &= h^T(a_{\perp},a_{\perp}^*) + \frac{1}{N} \left(\widehat{k}^T \circ h^T\right) (a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp}^*) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 . \end{split}$$

Accordingly, we obtain the non-Hermitian quadratic operator

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} := e^{\mathscr{W}} \mathscr{H}_{app} e^{-\mathscr{W}} = NE_{\mathrm{H}} + \left(h + \widehat{k}^{T} \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}\right) (a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}) + \left(h^{T} + \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{k}\right) (a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^{*}) \\
+ \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{Ric}(a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}^{*}) (a_{\overline{\phi}})^{2} + \frac{1}{N} (a_{\phi}^{*})^{2} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) .$$
(3.3.3a)

In the formal limit $\upsilon \to \delta$, as the interaction potential becomes a delta function, this $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}$

becomes the reduced transformed Hamiltonian derived in Ref. [61]. The 'Riccati kernel' is

$$\operatorname{Ric}(x,y) := h \circ \widehat{\delta} \circ k + k \circ \widehat{\delta}^T \circ h^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \widehat{\delta}^T \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{\delta} \circ k .$$
(3.3.3b)

Recall that the kernel h(x, y) is defined by (3.3.1d) with (3.3.1e), viz.,

$$h(x,y) = \{-\Delta_x + V(x)\}\delta(x,y) + N(\upsilon * |\phi|^2)(x)\delta(x,y) + N\phi(x)\upsilon(x-y)\overline{\phi(y)} - \mu\delta(x,y) .$$

The operator $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}$ is the focus of our analysis. As we anticipated, we have the identity $[\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}, \mathscr{N}] = 0$, which enables us to seek eigenvectors of $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}$ in \mathbb{F}_N .

3.3.3 Riccati equation for k

Next, we heuristically outline the rationale for the derivation of an equation for k, in the spirit of Wu [60,61]. This equation is described by (3.3.4b) below. In Sections 3.4–3.6, we study properties and implications of solutions to this equation.

By inspection of (3.3.3a), we see that $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app} - NE_H$ consists of two types of terms: (i) Terms that contain a_{\perp}^* and a_{\perp} , and no $a_{\overline{\phi}}$ and a_{ϕ}^* . The sum of these terms forms the 'diagonal part' of $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app}$, and can be described by use of a (nonlocal) one-particle Schrödinger operator. In the periodic setting, [37] the use of this operator yields the phonon spectrum. (ii) Terms that contain a_{\perp}^* and $a_{\overline{\phi}}$, or a_{\perp} and a_{ϕ}^* . In the periodic setting, it can be argued that this second part does *not* affect the phonon spectrum *provided* Ric $(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) = 0$. We require that

$$\operatorname{Ric} = \lambda \otimes_{\mathrm{s}} \phi \; ,$$

where \otimes_s denotes the symmetrized tensor product. In view of (3.3.3b), we thus have an equation for *k*. Here, $\lambda(x)$ is arbitrary and can be chosen to satisfy a prescribed constraint

involving the inner product $k(x, \overline{\phi})$. Notably, the operator \mathscr{W} is invariant under changes of this constraint. In other words, physical predictions are not affected by the choice of $k(x, \overline{\phi})$. For example, we can impose $k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0$ [60, 61]. This condition removes $\hat{\delta}, \hat{\delta}^T$ from the related equations, which is natural since

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ \mathrm{Ric}(x,y)a_{\perp,x}^*a_{\perp,y}^* \right\} = \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ \left(\widehat{\delta} \circ \mathrm{Ric} \circ \widehat{\delta}^T\right)(x,y) \,a_x^*a_y^* \right\} \,.$$

The expression for Ric(x, y) becomes

$$\operatorname{Ric}(x, y) = h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k .$$
(3.3.4a)

Consequently, the equation for k reads

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k = \lambda \otimes_{s} \phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda \otimes \phi + \phi \otimes \lambda) , \qquad (3.3.4b)$$

where λ should be determined self-consistently. In fact, $\lambda(x)$ obeys the equation

$$\lambda(x) = C_1\phi(x) + \sqrt{2}(h \circ k + k \circ h^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k)(x, \overline{\phi}) = C_1\phi(x) + \sqrt{2}(k \circ h^T + f_{\phi})(x, \overline{\phi})$$

with $C_1 = -\langle \overline{\phi}, \lambda \rangle$; see Section 3.4.2. We refer to (3.3.4b) as the 'operator Riccati equa-
tion' for *k*. In Section 3.5, we show that this equation leads to an excitation spectrum
identical to the one from Fetter's formalism [20]. By virtue of (3.3.4b), the transformed
Hamiltonian (3.3.3a) becomes

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} = NE_{\mathrm{H}} + \left(h + \widehat{k}^T \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}\right)(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \left(h^T + \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ \widehat{k}\right)(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}^*) + \frac{1}{N}(a_{\phi}^*)^2 \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) \ .$$

3.3.4 Further comments

We comment on aspects of our heuristic procedure. First, in hindsight, it is of some interest to discuss how (3.3.4b) can be motivated more transparently. The main

observation is that, in regard to \mathscr{H}_{app} , we can consider the quadratic matrix form

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left(a_{\perp,x} \,,\, a_{\perp,x}^*\right) \begin{pmatrix} -h^T(x,y) & N^{-1}(a_{\phi}^*)^2 \overline{f_{\phi}}(x,y) \\ \\ -N^{-1}f_{\phi}(x,y)(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 & h(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -a_{\perp,y}^* \\ \\ a_{\perp,y} \end{pmatrix}$$

In view of the commutability of a_{\perp} , a_{\perp}^* with $a_{\overline{\phi}}$, a_{ϕ}^* we can perform the following conjugation of the above 2×2 matrix, assuming for simplicity that $k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0$:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta & 0 \\ N^{-1}k(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 & \delta \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} -h^T & N^{-1}(a_{\phi}^*)^2 \overline{f_{\phi}} \\ -N^{-1}f_{\phi}(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 & h \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} \delta & 0 \\ -N^{-1}k(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 & \delta \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} -h^T - N^{-2}\overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k\mathcal{N}_{\phi}(\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - 1) & N^{-1}(a_{\phi}^*)^2 \overline{f_{\phi}} \\ -N^{-1}\widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2 & h + N^{-2}k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \mathcal{N}_{\phi}(\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - 1) \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}} = h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + f_{\phi} + \frac{1}{N^{2}} k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k \, \mathscr{N}_{\phi}(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - 1) \; .$$

Replace \mathcal{N}_{ϕ} with *N* in the last expression and take $N - 1 \simeq N$; thus, $\widetilde{\text{Ric}}$ is reduced to Ric (with the $\hat{\delta}$ and $\hat{\delta}^T$ removed). Equation (3.3.4b) then results from the requirement that *the transformed* 2×2 *matrix is upper triangular*. We will show that this property implies that the excitation spectrum of \mathcal{H}_{app} coincides with the one of the diagonal part of $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app}$, and is identical to the spectrum of Fetter's approach [20]; see Sect. 3.5.

A second comment concerns the Hartree-type equation for ϕ , which becomes the Gross-Pitaevskii equation if v is replaced by $g\delta$ for some constant g > 0. We write the relevant PDE as $\mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{H}}\phi = \mu\phi$ where

$$\mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{H}} := -\Delta_{x} + V(x) + N(\upsilon * |\phi|^{2})(x)$$
(3.3.5)

is a one-particle Hartree operator. We will consider the interaction potential v(x) to be

positive, integrable and smooth. For a *trapping* potential V(x), where $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, the condensate wave function $\phi(x)$ is bounded and decays exponentially as $|x| \to \infty$.

We are tempted to loosely comment on the assumptions underlying the uncontrolled approximations for the many-body Hamiltonian in this section. We expect that the simplifications leading to the reduced Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app}$ make sense provided

$$rac{\langle oldsymbol{\psi} | \mathscr{N}^l_{\perp} | oldsymbol{\psi}
angle}{N^l} \ll 1 \quad orall \, | oldsymbol{\psi}
angle \in \mathbb{F}_N \; ; \quad l=1,2,3,4 \; .$$

3.4 Existence theory for pair excitation kernel: Variational approach

In this section, we address the existence of solutions to (3.3.4b). Our analysis is partly inspired by works of Albeverio, Tretter and coworkers, [2–4, 13] who rigorously connected the operator Riccati equation to the spectral theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators. In our work, we view an existence proof for *k* as a necessary step towards ensuring the self-consistency of the approximation and non-unitary transform for the Bosonic manybody Hamiltonian. The existence proof for *k* paves the way to establishing the connection of pair excitation to the phonon spectrum in a trap (Section 3.5).

Our theory invokes an appropriate functional, $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k}, k]$, and two related lemmas (Section 3.4.1). A highlight is Theorem 1 on the existence of k (Section 3.4.2). We stress that our existence proof differs significantly from the approach of Refs. [2–4]. First, we utilize a variational approach by seeking stationary points of the functional $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k}, k]$ on a Hilbert space, instead of applying the fixed-point argument of Ref. [4]. Note that this fixed-point argument [4] makes use of operator estimates that are not expected to hold for the operator Ric of (3.3.3b). The variational approach developed here is amenable to con-

straints inherent to our problem; thus, the term $\lambda \otimes_s \phi$ of (3.3.4b) emerges as a Lagrange multiplier. Alternate approaches of variational character for block operator matrices (not for the Riccati equation per se) are described in Ref. [58].

Second, our variational approach reveals that Riccati equation (3.3.4b) may in principle *not* have a unique solution. Our existence proof indicates how one can construct an infinite number of solutions for *k*. These correspond to saddle points of the underlying functional, \mathscr{E} . This lack of uniqueness can pose a challenge in the subsequent analysis of the phonon spectrum (Section 3.5). As a remedy to this issue, we point out that a restriction on the norm of *k*, i.e., $||k||_{op} < 1$, warrants uniqueness (see also Ref. [2]). By this restriction, the *k* that solves Riccati equation (3.3.4b) is a minimizer of \mathscr{E} .

3.4.1 Functional $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$ and useful lemmas

Next, we define the relevant Hilbert space and the functional $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$ which yields (3.3.4b). We also prove two lemmas needed for our existence theory.

Definition 1. Let $\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ be the space of functions k(x, x') such that

$$\iint \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}x' \,\left\{ |\nabla_x k(x,x')|^2 + |\nabla_{x'} k(x,x')|^2 + \left(V(x) + V(x') \right) |k(x,x')|^2 \right\} < \infty$$

The energy functional $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$: dom $(\mathscr{E}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

$$\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k] := \operatorname{tr}\left\{ \left(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k \right)^{-1} \circ \left(\overline{k} \circ h \circ k + \frac{1}{2} \overline{k} \circ f_{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k \right) \right\}$$
(3.4.1a)

where

dom(
$$\mathscr{E}$$
) := $\left\{ k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1) | k^T = k \text{ and } ||k||_{\text{op}} < 1 \right\} \subset \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$. (3.4.1b)

Remark 1. The space $\mathfrak{h}_V^1(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ is the same as the space $\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$. If $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$ and $||k||_2 < 1$ then $(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$. Thus, dom (\mathscr{E}) is nonempty. The inequality $||k||_2 < 1$ implies $||k||_{op} < 1$. Further remarks on $||k||_{op} < 1$ are deferred to Section 3.4.3.

The first lemma of interest can be stated as follows.

Lemma 1. The functional derivative of $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k},k]$ with respect to symmetric variations of \bar{k} in $\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$, denoted by $\delta \mathscr{E}/\delta \bar{k}$ where $\delta \mathscr{E}/\delta \bar{k} \in \mathfrak{B}^*_2(\mathfrak{h}^1_V) = \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}^1_V)$, is

$$\frac{\delta \mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]}{\delta \overline{k}} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left\{ h \circ k + k \circ h^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k \right\} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} .$$

Proof. Consider the arbitrary symmetric perturbation $\ell(x, x')$. It suffices to show that

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s} \mathscr{E}[\overline{k} + s\overline{\ell}, k] \right) \Big|_{s=0} = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}x' \left\{ \overline{\ell}(x, x') (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left\{ h \circ k + k \circ h^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k \right\} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}(x, x') \right\} .$$

First, by differentiating the formal identity $\delta = (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)$ we obtain

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\left\{\delta-(\bar{k}+s\bar{\ell})\circ k\right\}^{-1}\right)\Big|_{s=0}=\left(\delta-\bar{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\circ\bar{\ell}\circ k\circ\left(\delta-\bar{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}.$$

Using, e.g., the Neumann series for $(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}$, we realize that

$$k \circ \left(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k\right)^{-1} = \left(\delta - k \circ \overline{k}\right)^{-1} \circ k$$
.

Hence, we also obtain the identity

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\left\{\left(\delta - (\bar{k} + s\bar{\ell}) \circ k\right)^{-1} \circ (\bar{k} + s\bar{\ell})\right\}\right)\Big|_{s=0} = \left(\delta - \bar{k} \circ k\right)^{-1} \circ \bar{\ell} \circ \left(\delta - k \circ \bar{k}\right)^{-1}.$$

Now express \mathscr{E} as the sum

$$\mathscr{E} = \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k\right)^{-1} \circ \overline{k} \circ \left(h \circ k + \frac{1}{2}f_{\phi}\right)\right\} + \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta - \overline{k} \circ k\right)^{-1} \circ \frac{1}{2}(\overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k)\right\} =: \mathscr{E}_{1} + \mathscr{E}_{2}.$$

The use of the cyclic property of the trace along with $\ell^T = \ell$ and $(\overline{k} \circ k)^T = k \circ \overline{k}$ yield

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\mathscr{E}_{1}[\overline{k}+s\overline{\ell},k]\right)\Big|_{s=0} &= \mathrm{tr}\left\{\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\circ\overline{\ell}\circ\left(\delta-k\circ\overline{k}\right)^{-1}\circ\left(h\circ k+\frac{1}{2}f_{\phi}\right)\right\}\\ &= \mathrm{tr}\left\{\overline{\ell}\circ\left(\delta-k\circ\overline{k}\right)^{-1}\circ\left(h\circ k+\frac{1}{2}f_{\phi}\right)\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\right\}\end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\mathscr{E}_{2}[\overline{k}+s\overline{\ell},k]\right)\Big|_{s=0} &= \mathrm{tr}\left\{\frac{1}{2}(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k)^{-1}\circ\overline{\ell}\circ k\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\circ\left(\overline{f_{\phi}}\circ k\right)\right\}\\ &= \mathrm{tr}\left\{\frac{1}{2}\overline{\ell}\circ k\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\circ\left(\overline{f_{\phi}}\circ k\right)\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\right\}\\ &= \mathrm{tr}\left\{\frac{1}{2}\overline{\ell}\circ\left(\delta-k\circ\overline{k}\right)^{-1}\circ\left(k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}}\circ k\right)\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\right\}.\end{split}$$

Now combine the above results to obtain the expression

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\mathscr{E}[\overline{k}+s\overline{\ell},k]\right)\Big|_{s=0} = \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\left\{\overline{\ell}\circ\left(\left(\delta-k\circ\overline{k}\right)^{-1}\circ\mathrm{Ric}\circ\left(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k\right)^{-1}\right)\right\},\,$$

where Ric is defined by (3.3.4a). Note that Ric is manifestly symmetric if k is symmetric. This observation completes the proof of Lemma 1.

Remark 2. The notion of the weak solution as the critical point of the functional $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$ is relevant to our existence theorem (Theorem 1). Consider the space $\phi^{\perp} = \{e \in \mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1} \mid e \perp \phi\}$. We remind the reader that a bounded operator $k \in \mathfrak{B}(\phi^{\perp}, \phi^{\perp})$ has a weak solution to the Riccati equation

$$k \circ h_{\perp}^{T} + h_{\perp} \circ k + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k + f_{\phi} = 0$$

provided

$$\langle k \circ h_{\perp}^T p, r \rangle + \langle k p, h_{\perp}^T r \rangle + \langle k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k p, r \rangle = \langle -f_{\phi} p, r \rangle \quad \forall p, r \in \mathrm{dom}\{h_{\perp}^T\} \;,$$

where h_{\perp} is the projection of operator h on space ϕ^{\perp} .

Before stating the second lemma, we add a remark on the condensate wave function,

φ.

Remark 3. By Section 3.3, recall that ϕ satisfies $\mathbb{H}_{H}\phi(x) = \mu\phi(x)$ where the one-particle Hartree operator \mathbb{H}_{H} is defined in (3.3.5). We now state a few assumptions, which primarily concern the interaction potential $\upsilon(x)$ and the trapping potential V(x). First, let us assume that $\upsilon(x)$ is positive, symmetric, integrable, and smooth. If the equation for ϕ comes from minimizing the Hartree energy functional, E_{H} , viz.,

$$E_H(\phi) := \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\left\{ \overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) \phi(y) + \frac{N}{2} |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon(x-y) |\phi(y)|^2 \right\} \,,$$

with $\|\phi\|_2 = 1$ then μ is the lowest eigenvalue of the linear operator that results from fixing ϕ in \mathbb{H}_{H} . The existence theorem (Theorem 1) is stated and proved for a condensate ϕ that is not necessarily a minimizer of E_{H} . In fact, we replace the assumption of ϕ being such a minimizer by a less restrictive hypothesis (see Lemma 2). We assume that the potential V is such that $-\Delta + V$ has discrete spectrum; for example, $V(x) = c|x|^2$ (c > 0). The spectrum of \mathbb{H}_{H} is also discrete since \mathbb{H}_{H} is a compact perturbation of $-\Delta + V$.

Lemma 2. If v(x) has positive Fourier transform $\hat{v}(\xi)$, $\hat{v}(\xi) \ge 0$, and ϕ is a minimizer of the functional $E_H(\phi)$, then for some c > 0 the following inequality holds:

$$h(\overline{e},e) - \left| f_{\phi}(\overline{e},\overline{e}) \right| \ge c \|e\|_2 \quad \forall e \in \phi^{\perp} = \left\{ e \in \mathfrak{h}^1_V \mid e \perp \phi \right\}$$

where $h(\cdot, \cdot)$ and $f_{\phi}(\cdot, \cdot)$ are defined from (3.3.1b)–(3.3.1e).

Proof. Define $g(x) := \overline{\phi(x)} e(x)$. Parseval's identity yields

$$\iint \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \,\{\overline{e(x)}\phi(x)N\upsilon(x-y)\overline{\phi}(y)e(y)\} = \int \mathrm{d}\xi \,\{N\widehat{\upsilon}(\xi)|\widehat{g}(\xi)|^2\}\,,$$

which dominates the integral

$$\iint \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,\{\overline{e}(x)f_{\phi}(x,y)\overline{e}(y)\} = \int d\xi\{N\widehat{\upsilon}(\xi)\big(\overline{\widehat{g}(\xi)}\big)^2\}\,.$$

Since ϕ is the minimizer of the Hartree functional, $E_H(\phi)$, we can assert that ϕ is the eigenfunction with the lowest eigenvalue of the operator \mathbb{H}_H and is therefore simple. If $e \perp \phi$ then $\langle \overline{e}, \mathbb{H}_H e \rangle \ge c ||e||_{L^2}$ for some c > 0 because the spectrum of the Hartree operator \mathbb{H}_H is discrete (see Remark 3).

Lemma 2 motivates the inequality involving *h* and f_{ϕ} as a key assumption of Theorem 1, which replaces the requirement that ϕ is a minimizer of $E_H(\cdot)$.

3.4.2 Existence theorem and proof

The existence theorem can be stated as follows:

Theorem 1. Suppose that the kernels h(x, y) and $f_{\phi}(x, y)$ satisfy the inequality

$$h(\overline{e}, e) - \left| f_{\phi}(\overline{e}, \overline{e}) \right| \ge c \|e\|_{L^2}^2 \qquad \forall e \in \phi^{\perp} = \left\{ e \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1 \mid e \perp \phi \right\}, \tag{3.4.2}$$

for some constant c > 0. Moreover, let us assume that f_{ϕ} is Hilbert-Schmidt.

Consider the functional $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k},k]$, defined in (3.4.1a), with domain

$$\operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E})_{\perp} := \operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E}) \cap \left\{ k \in \mathfrak{B}_{2}(\mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1}) \mid k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0 \right\}$$

which consists of the compact \mathscr{C} -symmetric Hilbert-Schmidt operators $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$ satisfying $k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0$. Then the functional \mathscr{E} restricted to $\operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E})_{\perp}$ attains a minimum for some $k \in \operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E})_{\perp}$ which is a weak solution of the operator Riccati equation (3.3.4b). The function $\lambda(x)$ entering this equation is a Lagrange multiplier and equals

$$\lambda(x) = \sqrt{2} \left\{ \left(k \circ \gamma \right) \left(x, \overline{\phi} \right) + f_{\phi} \left(x, \overline{\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{\phi} \left(\overline{\phi}, \overline{\phi} \right) \phi(x) \right\} .$$
(3.4.3)

At this stage, two remarks are in order.

Remark 4. We seek stationary points of $\mathscr{E}[\overline{k},k]$ under the constraint $k^T = k$. We now describe a generalization of the spectral theorem for compact operators with symmetric kernels which is invoked in the proof of Theorem 1. Let \mathscr{C} denote the operator of complex conjugation on \mathfrak{h} where

$$\mathscr{C}f(x) = \overline{f(x)} \qquad \forall f \in \mathfrak{h} .$$

An operator \mathcal{T} on \mathfrak{h} is called complex-symmetric (" \mathcal{C} -symmetric") if it satisfies

$$\mathscr{CT} = \mathscr{T}^*\mathscr{C} ,$$

where \mathscr{T}^* is the Hermitian conjugate of $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{T}^*(x,y) = \overline{\mathscr{T}(y,x)})$. Clearly, integral operators whose kernels are symmetric in their arguments are \mathscr{C} -symmetric. An important property is that any compact complex-symmetric operator \mathscr{T} such that $\mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T}$ has simple spectrum admits the decomposition

$$\mathscr{T} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n (u_n \otimes \mathscr{C} u_n) , \qquad (3.4.4)$$

where $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$ converge to zero as $n \to \infty$ and $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal basis of \mathfrak{h} . This property comes from the identity $(\mathscr{CT}) \circ (\mathscr{CT}) = \mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T}$, which implies the commutation relation $[\mathscr{CT}, \mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T}] = 0$. In particular, \mathscr{CT} commutes with the spectral measure (and any eigenprojector) of the positive operator $\mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T}$. Since the latter operator has simple spectrum, it follows that these two operators have the same eigenspace. This fact allows us to pass from the eigenvalue equation $(\mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T})(u_n, x) = c_n u_n(x)$ to the eigenvalue equation $\mathscr{CT}(u_n, x) = a_n u_n(x)$; thus, $|a_n|^2 = c_n$. It can be directly shown that all \mathscr{C} -symmetric tensor products $u \otimes v$ must have $v(x) = \mathscr{Cu}(x)$. Hence, we can also pass from the spectral representation

$$\mathscr{T}^* \circ \mathscr{T} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n (u_n \otimes u_n)$$

to expression (3.4.4). This result amounts to a version of the spectral theorem for compact *C*-symmetric operators; see, e.g., Ref. [23].

Remark 5. The reader should compare (3.4.3), regarding the Lagrange multiplier λ , with equation (3.24) in Ref. [61] which employs a delta-function interaction potential. The respective formulas for $\lambda(x)$ differ by a factor of $\sqrt{2}$ because of the choice of a normalization factor for $\lambda \otimes_{s} \phi$.

We can now proceed to prove Theorem 1. Notably, we consider a condensate ϕ that is not necessarily a minimizer of the Hartree energy, E_H .

Proof. We split the proof of Theorem 1 into three main steps.

Step 1. We now express the functional \mathscr{E} in terms of a suitable basis and describe critical points, by taking into account the theory of \mathscr{C} -symmetric operators. By Remark 4, any *k* satisfying our assumptions admits the decomposition

$$k(x,x') = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z_j e_j(x) e_j(x') , \quad e_j \in \phi^{\perp} ,$$

where $\{e_j(x)\}_j \subset \mathfrak{h}$ is an orthonormal basis and the coefficients $\{z_j\} \subset \mathbb{C}$ are such that $z_j \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. For the moment, we assume $|z_j| \neq 1$ for all j so that

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}(x, x') = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{1 - |z_j|^2}\right) \overline{e}_j(x) e_j(x') \; .$$

The substitution of the two preceding expressions into (3.4.1a) for the energy furnishes

$$\mathscr{E}\Big(\{e_j\},\{z_i\}\Big) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1-|z_j|^2} \left\{ h(\overline{e}_j,e_j)|z_j|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \Big(f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j,\overline{e}_j)z_j + \overline{f_{\phi}}(e_j,e_j)\overline{z}_j \Big) \right\},$$

where $\overline{f_{\phi}}(e_j, e_j) = \overline{f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)}$. The derivative of $\mathscr{E}(\{e_j\}, \{z_j\})$ with respect to $\overline{z_j}$ reads

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} \mathscr{E}\Big(\{e_j\}, \{z_j\}\Big) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{2h(\overline{e}_j, e_j)z_j + \overline{f_{\phi}}(e_j, e_j) + f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)z_j^2}{(1 - |z_j|^2)^2}$$

Setting $\partial \mathscr{E} / \partial \overline{z}_j = 0$ gives two roots, viz.,

$$z_j^{\pm} = \frac{-h(\overline{e}_j, e_j) \pm \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e}_j, e_j) - |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)|^2}}{f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)} .$$
(3.4.5)

The assumption stated by (3.4.2) guarantees that $|z_j^{\pm}| \neq 1$, provided e_j is a member of the function space ϕ^{\perp} ; in fact, $|z_j^{+}| < 1$ and $|z_j^{-}| > 1$. Regarding $\mathscr{E}(\{e_j\}, \{z_j\})$, notice that the summand (for fixed j and $e_j = e$) is described by the function

$$f(z;e) := \frac{2h(\overline{e},e)|z|^2 + f_{\phi}(\overline{e},\overline{e})\overline{z} + \overline{f_{\phi}}(e,e)z}{1 - |z|^2}$$

which takes real values with f(0; e) = 0, while

$$\lim_{|z|\to 1^-} f(z;e) = +\infty .$$

Thus, the function $f(z; e_j)$ attains a minimum at $z = z_j^+$. On the other hand, we have

$$\lim_{|z|\to\infty}f(z;e)=-2h(\overline{e},e)\;,$$

and $f(\overline{z_j}; e_j) = -h(\overline{e}_j, e_j) - \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e}_j, e_j) - |f_\phi(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)|^2}$ which implies that $f(z; e_j)$ has a maximum at $z = \overline{z_j}$ in view of

$$\lim_{|z|\to 1^+} f(z;e) = -\infty .$$

By (3.4.5) the evaluation of \mathscr{E} with the roots z_j^{\pm} yields

$$\mathscr{E}\Big(\{(z_j^{\pm}\}, \{e_j\}\Big) = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\{h(\overline{e}_j, e_j) \mp \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e}_j, e_j) - |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j|^2)}\right\}.$$

In light of the preceding discussion, we choose the root z_j^+ where $|z_j^+| < 1$ and define

$$\mathscr{F}(e) := h(\overline{e}, e) - \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e}, e) - |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}, \overline{e})|^2} ,$$

so that the value of the functional ${\mathscr E}$ reads

$$\mathscr{E}\left(\{z_j^+\}, \{e_j\}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j) \ .$$

Step 2. The minimization problem can be stated by the following expression:

$$\min_{\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}} \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j) \right\} = -\frac{1}{2} \max_{\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j) ,$$

where $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal frame, i.e.,

$$\langle \overline{e}_j, e_k \rangle = \delta_{j,k} \quad ; \quad \langle \overline{\phi}, e_j \rangle = 0 \; .$$

Next, we prove that the overall minimum is attained.

Recall the bilinear expansion

$$k(x,y) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z_j^+ e_j(x) e_j(y)$$

where the coefficients z_j^+ are

$$z_j^+ = \frac{-h(\overline{e}, e) + \sqrt{h(\overline{e}, e)^2 - |f_\phi(\overline{e}, \overline{e})|^2}}{f_\phi(\overline{e}, \overline{e})} = \frac{-f_{\overline{\phi}}(e, e)}{h(\overline{e}, e) + \sqrt{h(\overline{e}, e)^2 - |f_\phi(\overline{e}, \overline{e})|^2}} \ .$$

We will prove that $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j)$ is bounded above. The following inequality holds:

$$\mathscr{F}(e) \leq rac{|f_{\phi}(\overline{e},\overline{e})|^2}{h(\overline{e},e)} \leq rac{1}{c_{\mathrm{gap}}} |f_{\phi}(\overline{e},\overline{e})|^2$$

where c_{gap} denotes a positive constant. Subsequently, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |f_{\phi}(e_j, e_j)|^2 &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \left\langle e_j(x), \int v(x-y) \overline{\phi(x)} \, \overline{\phi(y)} e_j(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right\rangle \right|^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int \! \mathrm{d}x \left| \int \! v(x-y) \overline{\phi(x)} \, \overline{\phi(y)} e_j(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right|^2 \\ &\leq \int \! \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \left\{ v(x-y)^2 |\phi(x)|^2 |\phi(y)|^2 \right\} \leq \|v\|_{L^3(\mathbb{R}^d)} \|\phi\|_{L^6(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 \,, \end{split}$$

which entails an upper bound for $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j)$. This result is crucial because it enables us to seek a maximizing sequence $\{e_j^{(n)}\}_j$ of frames $(n \in \mathbb{N})$; and show that such a sequence converges strongly in the domain of definition of the functional \mathscr{E} .

Indeed, consider the maximizing sequence of frames $\{e_j^{(n)}\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, where $n \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e.,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j^{(n)}) = \max_{\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j) .$$

A (standard) diagonalization procedure then yields

$$e_j^{(n)} \to e_j$$
 weakly in $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^3)$

where $\mathfrak{h} = L^2$. If there exists some constant C_j independent of *n* such that

$$h(\overline{e}_j^{(n)}, e_j^{(n)}) \leq C_j \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N} ,$$

we conclude that

$$e_j^{(n)} \to e_j$$
 strongly in $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

Otherwise, we have $z_j^{(n)} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, and we can ignore this case.

We should add that if the convergence were weak in $\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^3)$ then we would have

$$h(\overline{e}_j, e_j) < \lim_{n \to \infty} h(\overline{e}_j^{(n)}, e_j^{(n)})$$
.

Since $\mathscr{F}(e)$ is a decreasing function of $h(\overline{e}, e)$, we obtain a contradiction to the fact that $\{e_j^{(n)}\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a maximizing sequence. This proves the strong convergence in $\mathfrak{h}_V^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

In the above, we use the norm (see also Section 5.1.3 for definition of function space \mathfrak{h}_V^1)

$$||f||_{\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathrm{d}x \,\left\{ |\nabla f(x)|^2 + V(x)|f(x)|^2 \right\} \,.$$

It is thus necessary that the presence of the trapping potential V controls the $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ norm in such a way that $\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is compactly embedded in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ (for d = 3).

Next, we check that the overall minimum is finite. Condition (3.4.2) implies that $h(\overline{e}, e)$ is bounded below. This means that the the overall minimum is finite provided

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}(e_j) &\leq C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, e_j)|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \left\{ \overline{e}_j(x) f_{\phi}(x, y) \overline{e}_j(y) \right\} \right|^2 \\ &\leq \int \mathrm{d}x \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left| \int \mathrm{d}y \left\{ f_{\phi}(x, y) \overline{e}_j(y) \right\} \right|^2 \leq \int \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y \left\{ |f_{\phi}(x, y)|^2 \right\} < \infty \,. \end{split}$$

The last condition indeed holds. Note that z_j^+ is recast to the expression

$$z_j^+ = \frac{f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)}{h(\overline{e}_j, e_j) + \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e}_j, e_j) - |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)|^2}}$$

Accordingly, we see that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |z_j^+|^2 \le C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_j, \overline{e}_j)|^2 \le \|f_{\phi}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)}^2.$$

Thus, k is Hilbert-Schmidt.

Step 3. So far, we showed that the minimum is attained in dom $(\mathscr{E})_{\perp}$. We must now take into account the constraint $k(x, \overline{\phi}) = 0$ via a Lagrange multiplier. We introduce the Lagrange multiplier as an operator with symmetric kernel $\ell(x, y)$ where

$$\ell(x,y) = \left(\lambda \otimes_{s} \phi\right)(x,y) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\{\lambda(x)\phi(y) + \lambda(y)\phi(x)\right\} .$$

In the above, ϕ is the condensate wave function and $\lambda(x)$ is to be determined. Hence, the modified energy functional to be minimized has the form

$$\tilde{\mathscr{E}}[\bar{k},k] := \mathscr{E}[\bar{k},k] - \operatorname{tr}\left\{\bar{\ell} \circ k + \bar{k} \circ \ell\right\} \,.$$

In view of Lemma 1, setting equal to zero the functional derivative of $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$ with respect to \bar{k} yields Riccati equation (3.3.4b). Given that $h = \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{H}}\delta + N\gamma - \mu$ and $\mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{H}}\phi = \mu\phi$, we compute λ by contracting the above equation for k with $\overline{\phi}$. Thus, we obtain (3.4.3).

Note on k as a weak solution: We conclude the proof by showing that *k* satisfies the definition of a weak solution (Remark 2). The condition that \mathscr{E} is minimized implies that the first variation with respect to \overline{k} vanishes, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\overline{k}_{1}\circ(\delta-k\circ\overline{k})^{-1}\circ\left\{h_{\perp}\circ k+k\circ h_{\perp}^{T}+f_{\phi}+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}}\circ k\right\}\circ(\delta-\overline{k}\circ k)^{-1}\right]=0,$$

for all $\bar{k}_1 \in \text{dom}(\mathscr{E})$. Without loss of generality, we can make the substitution $\bar{k}_1 \mapsto (\delta - \bar{k} \circ k)^{-1} \circ \bar{k}_1 \circ (\delta - \bar{k} \circ k)^{-1}$ so that the equation for vanishing first variation reads

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\overline{k}_{1}\circ\left\{h_{\perp}\circ k+k\circ h_{\perp}^{T}+f_{\phi}+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}}\circ k\right\}\right]=\operatorname{tr}\left[\overline{k}_{1}\circ\operatorname{Ric}\right]=0.$$

If $\overline{k}_1 := p \otimes_s r$ for $p, r \in \text{dom}(h_{\perp})$, the condition $\text{tr}[\overline{k}_1 \circ \text{Ric}] = 0$ translates to

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[p\otimes_{s} r \circ \operatorname{Ric}\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(k \circ p \otimes_{s} r\right) \circ h_{\perp}\right] + \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(p\otimes_{s} r\right) \circ k \circ h_{\perp}\right] \\ + \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(p\otimes_{s} r\right) \circ \left(f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k\right)\right] \\ = \sqrt{2}\left(\langle kp, h_{\perp}r \rangle + \langle p, (k \circ h_{\perp})r \rangle + \langle p, (f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k)r \rangle\right).$$

Observe that this expression is defined for any $p, r \in \text{dom}(h_{\perp})$, which is the space of test functions for the weak formulation of the Riccati equation.
3.4.3 On the non-uniqueness of the solution for k

Next, we discuss the important issue of the non-uniqueness of solutions for k by our variational approach. The energy functional $\mathscr{E}[\bar{k}, k]$ has infinitely many critical points which correspond to choosing one of the two roots z_j^{\pm} , at every index j, in the proof of Theorem 1. We can show that these different choices correspond to minimax points. To this end, pick an arbitrary $e_1(x)$, normalized so that $||e_1||_{\mathfrak{h}} = 1$, and let

$$X^{\perp}(\phi, e_1) := \left\{ e(x) \mid e \perp \{\phi, e_1\} \right\} .$$

Also, consider the subspace $X(e_1) := \operatorname{span}(e_1) = \{z_1e_1(x) \in \mathfrak{h} \mid z_1 \in \mathbb{C}\}$. Accordingly, we set up the min-max problem expressed by

$$\max_{e \in X(e_1), |z_1| > 1} \left\{ \min_{\|k|_{X^{\perp}(\phi, e_1)}\|_{\text{op}} < 1} \mathscr{E}(\overline{k}, k) \right\}$$

By repetition of the above argument (proof of Theorem 1), this min-max problem generates the (saddle type) critical point of the functional $\mathscr{E}(\bar{k},k)$. More generally, the maximum can be taken over any finite collection of $\{(e_{j_k}, z_{j_k})\}_k$, producing a unique solution for every distinct sequence.

Evidently, the only solution k that obeys $||k||_{op} < 1$ is the one given in the proof of Theorem 1. Thus, we single out the choice $\{z_j = z_j^+\}$ with $|z_j^+| < 1$ for all j as the one yielding the unique pair-excitation kernel for our model.

Remark 6. If z_j is chosen in (3.4.5) such that $z_j = z_j^+$ for all j > 0 (i.e., $||k||_{op} < 1$) then

$$\begin{split} (h+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}})(\overline{e}_{j},e_{j}) &= h(\overline{e}_{j},e_{j}) + (k\overline{e}_{j},\overline{f_{\phi}}e_{j}) = h(\overline{e}_{j},e_{j}) + (z_{j}^{+})\overline{f_{\phi}}(e_{j},e_{j}) \\ &= \sqrt{h^{2}(\overline{e}_{j},e_{j}) - |f_{\phi}(\overline{e}_{j},\overline{e}_{j})|^{2}} > 0 \;. \end{split}$$

This property will be relevant for the spectrum of the reduced Hamiltonian (Section 3.5.2).

3.5 Spectrum and eigenvectors of reduced Hamiltonian

In this section, we describe the spectrum and eigenvectors of the reduced transformed Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app}$ in the *N*-th sector of Fock space, \mathbb{F}_N (see Section 3.3.3). For this purpose, we decompose \mathbb{F}_N into suitable orthogonal subspaces. A similar technique is used in Ref. [42] in connection to the Bogoliubov Hamiltonian which does not conserve the particle number.

We start by writing the transformed, approximate non-Hermitian Hamiltonian as

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{app} = NE_H + \mathscr{H}_{ph} , \quad \mathscr{H}_{ph} := h_{ph} \left(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp} \right) + \frac{1}{N} (a_{\phi}^*)^2 \overline{f_{\phi}} \left(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp} \right)$$
(3.5.1a)

where $f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*)$ (and thus $\overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$) is defined by (3.3.1b) with (3.3.1d), and

$$h_{\rm ph} := h + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} . \tag{3.5.1b}$$

The operator $h_{\rm ph}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$ forms the diagonal part of $\mathscr{H}_{\rm ph}$ and is non-Hermitian.

The main result of this section is expressed by the following theorem.

Theorem 2. Consider the operators \mathscr{H}_{ph} and $h_{ph}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$ restricted on \mathbb{F}_N . Then

$$\left. \sigma \left(\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ph}}
ight|_{\mathbb{F}_N}
ight) = \sigma \left(h_{\mathrm{ph}}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})
ight|_{\mathbb{F}_N}
ight) \,.$$

Moreover, for each eigenvector $|\Omega\rangle_N \in \mathbb{F}_N$ of $h_{ph}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$ with eigenvalue E there exists a unique eigenvector $|\Psi(\Omega)\rangle_N \in \mathbb{F}_N$ of \mathscr{H}_{ph} such that

$$\mathscr{H}_{\rm ph}|\Psi(\Omega)\rangle_N = E|\Psi(\Omega)\rangle_N$$
.

Before we give a proof of Theorem 2, we need to provide a few useful results. In Section 3.5.1, we develop a formalism for the decomposition of \mathbb{F}_N into orthogonal subspaces. A key ingredient of our approach is the use of Fock space techniques. In Section 3.5.2, we show that the spectrum of $h_{\rm ph}$ is discrete. In Section 3.5.3, we use this machinery (theory of Sections 3.5.1 and 3.5.2) to prove Theorem 2. In our proof, we describe an explicit construction of the eigenvectors of $\mathscr{H}_{\rm ph}$ restricted on \mathbb{F}_N in terms of eigenvectors of $h_{\rm ph}(a^*_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$. This construction invokes the discrete spectrum of $h_{\rm ph}$.

3.5.1 Decomposition of \mathbb{F}_N and two related lemmas

Next, we set the stage for the proof of Theorem 2. We use the symbol $|\psi\rangle_n$ to denote the vector of \mathbb{F} with entry $\psi_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ in the *n*-th slot and zero elsewhere. Let us also introduce the projection $\mathscr{P}_N : \mathbb{F} \mapsto \mathbb{F}_N$.

The vector $\psi_N(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ can be decomposed as a direct sum according to

$$\psi_N = \sum_{n=0}^N \psi_{N,n} \otimes_{\mathrm{s}} \left(\otimes^{N-n} \phi \right) =: \sum_{n=0}^N \psi_{N,n}^\phi , \qquad \otimes^p \phi := \prod_{j=1}^p \phi(x_j) ,$$

where the vectors $\psi_{N,n}(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ satisfy the orthogonality relations $(n = 1, 2 \dots N)$

$$\int \mathrm{d}x \,\left\{\overline{\phi}(x)\psi_{N,n}(x,x_2,\ldots,x_n)\right\}=0\,.$$

We also define $|\psi_{N,n}^{\phi}\rangle_N := (0, \ldots, 0, \psi_{N,n}^{\phi}, \ldots) \in \mathbb{F}_N$. Hence, the vector

$$|\psi^{\perp}
angle := ig(\psi_{N,0},\psi_{N,1},\ldots,\psi_{N,N},0,\ldotsig)$$

describes fluctuations around the tensor product $\otimes^N \phi$ (pure condensate). This means that we can decompose the space \mathbb{F}_N into the following direct sum of orthogonal subspaces:

$$\mathbb{F}_N = \bigoplus_{n=0}^N \mathbb{F}_{N,n} ; \qquad \mathbb{F}_{N,n} = \operatorname{span}_{\psi_n \perp \phi} \left(0, \ldots, 0, \psi_n \otimes_{\mathrm{s}} (\otimes^{N-n} \phi), 0 \ldots \right) .$$

To describe this decomposition, we consider the number operator $\mathcal{N}_{\phi} = a_{\phi}^* a_{\bar{\phi}}$ for the condensate. We have

$$\mathscr{N}_{\phi}\big|_{\mathbb{F}_{N,n}} = (N-n)\mathscr{I}\big|_{\mathbb{F}_{N,n}} \quad , \quad 0 \le n \le N \; ,$$

where \mathscr{I} is the identity operator on \mathbb{F} . In other words, $\mathbb{F}_{N,n}$ are the eigenspaces of \mathcal{N}_{ϕ} restricted to \mathbb{F}_N . To see how the decomposition works, we invoke the identity

$$\mathscr{P}_N = \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(-1)^{N-n}}{(N-n)!n!} \prod_{\substack{p=0\\p\neq N-n}}^N \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - p\mathscr{I} \right) \mathscr{P}_N ,$$

which can be understood as a resolution of the identity on \mathbb{F}_N . By introducing the projection operator (projection on \mathbb{F}_n) via the polynomial

$$P_n(z) := \frac{(-1)^n}{n!} \prod_{j=1}^n (z-j) ,$$

we define

$$\mathscr{P}_{n,n} := P_n(\mathscr{N}_{\phi}) = \frac{(-1)^n}{n!} \prod_{j=1}^n \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - j\mathscr{I} \right) .$$

Thus, $\mathscr{P}_{n,n}$ is the projection $\mathscr{P}_{n,n} : \mathbb{F}_n \mapsto \mathbb{F}_{n,n}$.

At this stage, we can state the first lemma of this section as follows.

Lemma 3. The operator $\mathscr{P}_{n,n} = P_n(\mathscr{N}_{\phi})$ satisfies the factorization

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N}}{(N-n)!} a_{\phi}^{*N-n} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-n} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N-n}}{(N-n)!n!} \prod_{p=0 \atop p \neq N-n}^{N} \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - p \mathscr{I} \right)$$

which, restricted to \mathbb{F}_N , describes a resolution of \mathbb{F}_N into orthogonal subspaces.

Proof. First, we note the useful identities

$$a_{\overline{\phi}}{}^{p}\mathcal{N}_{\phi} = (\mathcal{N}_{\phi} + p\mathscr{I})a_{\overline{\phi}}{}^{p}, \quad a_{\phi}^{*p}\mathcal{N}_{\phi} = (\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - k\mathscr{I})a_{\phi}^{*p} \qquad (p = 0, 1, \dots N)$$

Subsequently, for any polynomial P(z) we can assert that

$$P(\mathcal{N}_{\phi})a_{\overline{\phi}}{}^{p} = a_{\overline{\phi}}{}^{p}P(\mathcal{N}_{\phi} - p\mathscr{I}) , \quad P(\mathcal{N}_{\phi})a_{\phi}^{*p} = a_{\phi}^{*p}P(\mathcal{N}_{\phi} + p\mathscr{I}) .$$

Moreover, we have the following formulas:

$$a_{\overline{\phi}}^{n} a_{\phi}^{*n} = \prod_{p=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} + p\mathscr{I} \right), \quad a_{\phi}^{*n} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{n} = \prod_{p=0}^{n-1} \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - p\mathscr{I} \right).$$

By using the above relations, we write

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N}}{(N-n)!} a_{\phi}^{*N-n} P_{n}(\mathscr{N}_{\phi}) a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-n} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N}}{(N-n)!} a_{\phi}^{*N-n} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-n} P_{n}(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - (N-n)\mathscr{I}) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N}(-1)^{n}}{(N-n)!n!} \prod_{j=0}^{N-n-1} (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - j\mathscr{I}) \prod_{p=1}^{n} (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} + (n-p-N)\mathscr{I}) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N-n}}{(N-n)!n!} \prod_{\substack{j\neq N-n}}^{N} (\mathscr{N}_{\phi} - j\mathscr{I}) = \mathscr{P}_{N} \,. \end{split}$$

We can show that $\mathscr{P}_{n,n}$ is a projection. Indeed, notice that $\mathscr{N}_{\phi}P_n(\mathscr{N}_{\phi})\big|_{\mathbb{F}_n} = 0$, and if $|\psi\rangle_n \in \mathbb{F}_n$ then $\mathscr{P}_{n,n}|\psi\rangle_n = |\psi_{n,n}\rangle_n$. If we consider the decomposition

$$\psi_n = \sum_{p=0}^n \psi_{n,p} \otimes_s \left(\otimes^{n-p} \phi \right) = \sum_{p=0}^n \psi_{n,p}^{\phi}$$

then $\mathscr{P}_{n,n}$ applied to $|\psi\rangle_n$ produces a vector in $\mathbb{F}_{n,n}$, where $\mathbb{F}_{n,p}$ is the decomposition of \mathbb{F}_n for $p = 0, 1 \dots n$.

For later algebraic convenience, we give the following definition (cf. Ref. [42]).

Definition 2. Consider the operators $\mathscr{U}_n, \mathscr{U}_n^* : \mathbb{F}_N \mapsto \mathbb{F}_N$ given by

$$\mathscr{U}_n := \mathscr{P}_{n,n} \frac{a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}}, \quad \mathscr{U}_n^* := \frac{a_{\phi}^{*N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \mathscr{P}_{n,n}; \quad n = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$

By Definition 2, the result of Lemma 3 implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{P}_{N} &= \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{N}}{(N-n)!} a_{\phi}^{*N-n} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-n} \mathscr{P}_{N} = (-1)^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*N-n} \mathscr{P}_{n,n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \frac{\mathscr{P}_{n,n} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{-N-n}}{\sqrt{N-n}!} \mathscr{P}_{N} \\ &= (-1)^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \mathscr{U}_{n} \Big|_{\mathbb{F}_{N}}. \end{aligned}$$

The key relations following from this decomposition are

$$\mathscr{U}_n|\psi\rangle_N = |\psi_{N,n}\rangle_n$$
, $\mathscr{U}_n^*|\psi_{N,n}\rangle_n = |\psi_{N,n}^{\phi}\rangle_N$ and $\sum_{n=0}^N |\psi_{N,n}^{\phi}\rangle_N = |\psi\rangle_N$.

Hence, we have $\mathscr{U}_n : \mathbb{F}_N \mapsto \mathbb{F}_{n,n}$ and $\mathscr{U}_n^* : \mathbb{F}_n \mapsto \mathbb{F}_{N,n}$.

Lemma 4. The operators $\{\mathscr{U}_n\}_{n=0}^N$ (see Definition 2) satisfy the relation

$$\mathscr{U}_m \mathscr{U}_n^* = \delta_{m,n} \mathscr{P}_{m,m} \mathscr{P}_{n,n}$$
 .

Proof. First, we make the observation that

$$\mathscr{U}_m \mathscr{U}_n^* = \mathscr{P}_{m,m} \frac{a_{\overline{\phi}}^{N-m}}{\sqrt{(N-m)!}} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} .$$

If m < n (thus, N - m > N - n), in view of the property $a_{\overline{\phi}} \mathscr{P}_{n,n}|_{\mathbb{F}_n} = 0$ we have

$$\mathscr{U}_{m}\mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} = \frac{\prod_{j=n-m}^{N-m-1} \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} + j\mathscr{I}\right)}{\sqrt{(N-m)!(N-n)!}} \mathscr{P}_{m,m} a_{\overline{\phi}}^{n-m} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} = 0$$

In this vein, if n < m then $\mathscr{U}_m \mathscr{U}_n^* = 0$. By $\mathscr{N}_{\phi} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} = 0$ we assert that if m = n then

$$\mathscr{U}_{n}\mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} = \mathscr{P}_{n,n} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{N-n} \left(\mathscr{N}_{\phi} + j\mathscr{I}\right)}{(N-n)!} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} = \mathscr{P}_{n,n} .$$

_		
г		٦

3.5.2 On the spectrum of $h_{\rm ph}$

Next, we discuss key properties of the diagonal part, $h_{ph}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$, of the reduced Hamiltonian. Interestingly, $h_{ph}(x, y)$ is similar to a self-adjoint operator. As such, many important spectral properties of self-adjoint operators carry over to h_{ph} .

Lemma 5. Assume that the pair-excitation kernel k solves the operator Riccati equation (3.3.4b) with $||k||_{op} < 1$. (i) Then the spectrum of $h_{ph} : \mathfrak{h}_V^1 \cap \phi^{\perp} \mapsto \mathfrak{h}$ is real and discrete. The corresponding eigenfunctions $\omega_j(x)$, which satisfy $h_{ph}(x, \omega_j) = E_j \omega_j(x)$ where $E_j > 0$ are the eigenvalues (for j = 1, ...), form a non-orthogonal Riesz basis of ϕ^{\perp} .

(ii) Also, suppose that the functions $u_j(x)$ solve the adjoint problem, i.e., $h_{ph}^*(x, u_j) = E_j u_j(x)$ on ϕ^{\perp} (for j = 1, 2, ...). Then the following completeness relation holds:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \overline{\omega_j(x)} u_j(y) = \widehat{\delta}(x, y) .$$
(3.5.2)

Proof. The following relation holds on ϕ^{\perp} by use of the Riccati equation (3.3.4b):

$$(h+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}})\circ(\widehat{\delta}-k\circ\overline{k})=(\widehat{\delta}-k\circ\overline{k})\circ(h+f_{\phi}\circ\overline{k}).$$
(3.5.3)

If $||k||_{op} < 1$ then $(\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}$ and $(\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{1/2}$ exist and are bounded operators on ϕ^{\perp} . By (3.5.3), the operator $\varkappa := (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2} \circ (h + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}) \circ (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{1/2}$ is self-adjoint. Recall that *h* has discrete spectrum; thus, $h + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}$ has discrete spectrum because $k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}$ is compact. Moreover, the eigenvalues of $h + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}$ are positive (see Remark 6). By the spectral theorem, the eigenvalues of \varkappa are then positive and discrete, and the respective eigenvectors form an orthonormal basis of ϕ^{\perp} .

(i) Let the eigenvalues of \varkappa be $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, with eigenvectors $\{\eta_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$. Since the mapping $(h+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}})\mapsto(\widehat{\delta}-k\circ\overline{k})^{-1/2}(h+k\circ\overline{f_{\phi}})(\widehat{\delta}-k\circ\overline{k})^{1/2}$ is a similarity transformation, the operator $h_{\rm ph}$ also has real spectrum $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$. From the relation

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_j(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\widehat{\boldsymbol{\delta}} - \boldsymbol{k} \circ \bar{\boldsymbol{k}})^{1/2}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\eta}_j) , \qquad (3.5.4a)$$

we conclude that $\{\omega_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ forms a Riesz basis as a bounded perturbation of an orthonormal basis of ϕ^{\perp} .

(ii) In a similar vein, the family $\{u_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ defined by

$$u_j(x) := (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2}(x, \eta_j)$$
(3.5.4b)

forms a Riesz basis for the adjoint problem on ϕ^{\perp} .

The resolution of the identity by the eigenvectors η_i of the operator \varkappa reads

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \eta_j(x) \overline{\eta_j(y)} = \widehat{\delta}(x, y) \; .$$

This equation yields completeness relation (3.5.2), by use of (3.5.4).

3.5.3 Proof of Theorem 2

We are now in position to prove Theorem 2. Our argument for the construction of eigenvectors of \mathscr{H}_{ph} relies on the fact the h_{ph} has discrete spectrum. Let $|\psi\rangle := |\psi\rangle_N$.

Proof. Step 1. We decompose $\mathscr{H}_{ph}|\psi\rangle$, where \mathscr{H}_{ph} is given in (3.5.1). We show that

$$\sum_{m=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{m}^{*} \mathscr{U}_{m} \mathscr{H}_{ph} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \mathscr{U}_{n} |\psi\rangle = \sum_{m,n=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{m}^{*} \left\{ \mathscr{U}_{m} \mathscr{H}_{ph} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \right\} \left(\mathscr{U}_{n} |\psi\rangle \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} h_{ph}(a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_{n} |\psi\rangle + \sum_{n=0}^{N-2} b_{N,n} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_{n+2} |\psi\rangle .$$
(3.5.5)

Here, $b_{N,n}$ is a numerical constant. Regarding the operators \mathcal{U}_n , see Definition 2.

In order to derive (3.5.5), we invoke Lemma 4. In this vein, we notice the relations

$$h_{\rm ph}(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp})|\psi\rangle = \sum_{n,m=0}^N \mathscr{U}_n^* \mathscr{U}_n h_{\rm ph}(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_m^* \mathscr{U}_m |\psi\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^N \mathscr{U}_n^* h_{\rm ph}(a_{\perp}^*,a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_n |\psi\rangle ,$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*2}}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) |\psi\rangle &= \sum_{n,m=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \mathscr{U}_{n} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*2}}{N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_{m}^{*} \mathscr{U}_{m} |\psi\rangle \\ &= \sum_{n,m=0}^{N} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \mathscr{P}_{n,n} \frac{a_{\overline{\phi}}^{-N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*2}}{N} \frac{a_{\phi}^{*N-m}}{\sqrt{(N-m)!}} \mathscr{P}_{m,m} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_{m} |\psi\rangle \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{N-2} b_{N,n} \mathscr{U}_{n}^{*} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) \mathscr{U}_{n+2} |\psi\rangle , \quad b_{N,n} = \frac{\sqrt{(N-n)(N-n+1)}}{N} \end{split}$$

since only the terms with n = m - 2 survive in the last double sum.

Step 2. Next, we describe the finite system that results from the above decomposition. The first observation is that $\mathscr{U}_n | \psi \rangle = | \psi_{N,n} \rangle_n$ where $\psi_{N,n}(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ is a function orthogonal to the condensate. Let $\psi_n := \psi_{N,n}$, a function of *n* variables where $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$. The operator h_{ph} acts on each of these functions ψ_n for $n = 1, 2, \ldots, N$ by preserving the number of variables. On the other hand, the operator $\overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$ maps ψ_{n+2} to ψ_n . Denote the first action by $h_{\text{ph}} \circ \psi_n$ and the second one by $\overline{f_{\phi}} : \psi_{n+2}$.

We elaborate on these actions. For a symmetric function $\psi_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, we have

$$h_{\rm ph} \circ \psi_n = d_n \sum_{j=1}^n \int dy \left\{ h_{\rm ph}(x_j, y) \psi(x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, y, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_n) \right\}$$
.

Similarly, $\overline{f_{\phi}}$ acts on $\psi_{n+2}(x_1 \dots x_{n+2})$ as follows:

$$\overline{f_{\phi}}: \psi_{n+2} = b_n \int \mathrm{d}y_1 \, \mathrm{d}y_2 \,\left\{\overline{f_{\phi}}(y_1, y_2) \,\psi_{n+2}(y_1, y_2, x_1, \dots, x_n)\right\} \,.$$

In the above, d_n and b_n are some (immaterial) numerical constants.

Hence, the eigenvalue equation $\mathscr{H}_{ph}|\psi\rangle = E|\psi\rangle$ reduces to a finite system, viz.,

$$h_{\rm ph} \circ \psi_{N,N} = E \psi_{N,N} , \qquad (3.5.6a)$$

$$h_{\rm ph} \circ \psi_{N,N-2} + \overline{f_{\phi}} : \psi_{N,N} = E \psi_{N,N-2} , \qquad (3.5.6b)$$

$$h_{\rm ph} \circ \psi_{N,N-4} + \overline{f_{\phi}} : \psi_{N,N-2} = E \psi_{N,N-4} , \dots$$
 (3.5.6c)

This system has upper triangular form and manifests the effect of pair excitation, since the number of non-condensate particles is reduced in pairs. The even and odd values of *N* should be considered separately. These equations describe how to compute the fluctuation vector $|\psi_{\perp}\rangle = (\psi_{N,0}, \psi_{N,1}, \dots, \psi_{N,N}, 0, \dots).$

Notably, (3.5.6a) implies the equality of the spectra, $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ph}) = \sigma(h_{ph}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}))$, on \mathbb{F}_N . Indeed, if (3.5.6a) has only the trivial solution then all the subsequent equations have trivial solutions. The upper triangular form suggests that we can construct the eigenvalues explicitly. Note that the top equation has infinitely many possible solutions corresponding to the spectrum of h_{ph} – but choosing one of them results in a finite system of equations.

We now give the relevant construction, which serves as a proof of existence for system (3.5.6). For example, start with (see Lemma 5)

$$\Omega_N = \prod_{p=1}^N \omega_{j_p}(x_p)$$

for given j_p (p = 0, 1, ..., N) so that Ω_N is an eigenvector of $h_{\text{ph}}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$, viz.,

$$h_{\mathrm{ph}} \circ \Omega_N = \left(\sum_{p=0}^N E_{j_p}
ight) \Omega_N \; .$$

The action of $\overline{f_{\phi}}$ on the state Ω_N produces the collection of states

$$\Omega_{l,m} := \prod_{\substack{p=0\\p\neq l,m}}^N \omega_{j_p}(x_p) ; \qquad l,m=0,1,\ldots,N .$$

We can determine $\Omega_{N-2} := \sum_{l,m} c_{l,m} \Omega_{l,m}$ which plays the role of $\psi_{N,N-2}$. By substituting into (3.5.6b), we obtain the system $c_{l,m} (E_{j_l} + E_{j_m}) = b_2 \overline{f_{\phi}}(\omega_{j_l}, \omega_{j_m})$ which yields $c_{l,m}$. The next state, Ω_{N-4} , is a linear combination of ω_{j_k} where four terms have been removed from the original collection. The idea of computation is similar. One can proceed until all non-condensate particles are removed. This argument concludes our explicit construction of the eigenvectors of \mathcal{H}_{ph} in terms of eigenvectors of h_{ph} .

It is of some interest to observe that the eigenvectors of \mathscr{H}_{ph} contain (in part) the condensate wave function, in contrast to the eigenvectors of $h_{ph}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp})$.

3.6 Connections to a Hermitian approach and *J*-self-adjoint system

In this section, we focus on how our existence theory for kernel k is connected to another approach, namely, the direct diagonalization of a (Hermitian) Hamiltonian that does not conserve the number of particles [20, 42]. This Hamiltonian results from the Bogoliubov approximation and has the same spectrum as our non-Hermitian \mathcal{H}_{app} when restricted to \mathbb{F}_N . Our analysis reveals a connection between (unitary) Bogoliubov-type rotations of Hamiltonians that are quadratic in Boson field operators for noncondensate atoms, the operator Riccati equation for k, and the theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators developed by Albeverio and coworkers [2–4] (see also Refs. [13, 58]). These works, however, appear not to address the possible presence of infinitely many solutions to the Riccati equation which is suggested by our existence theory. We also point out that our results so far imply the existence of solutions to the eigenvalue problem for Boson excitations (quasiparticles) formulated by Fetter, if his delta-function interaction potential is regularized [20].

3.6.1 On a reduced Hamiltonian via the Bogoliubov approximation

Recall our reduced Hamiltonian with a smooth interaction potential (Section 3.3.1), viz.,

$$\mathscr{H}_{app} = NE_{\mathrm{H}} + h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2N} f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) a_{\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{2N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) a_{\phi}^{*2}$$

Let us now apply the Bogoliubov approximation to this \mathscr{H}_{app} by formally replacing the operators $a_{\overline{\phi}}, a_{\overline{\phi}}^*$ with \sqrt{N} . This results in the Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{Bog} : \mathbb{F} \mapsto \mathbb{F}$ where

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{Bog}} := NE_{\text{H}} + h(a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2}f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^{*}, a_{\perp}^{*}) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}) , \qquad (3.6.1)$$

which does not commute with the number operator \mathcal{N} .

Next, we discuss the diagonalization of \mathscr{H}_{Bog} by using eigenstates of the operator $h_{ph}: \mathfrak{h}_V^1 \cap \phi^\perp \to \mathfrak{h}$ defined by (3.5.1b) (Section 3.5). We proceed in the spirit of Fetter, [20] who diagonalizes $\mathscr{H}_{Bog} - NE_H$ via (unitary) Bogoliubov-type rotations of the Boson field operators in the space orthogonal to ϕ ; see equation (2.14) for a delta-function interaction potential in Ref. [20]. In this vein, let us consider Fetter's quasiparticle operators γ_j, γ_j^* which are defined as follows [20].

Definition 3. The operators $\gamma_j, \gamma_j^* : \mathbb{F} \mapsto \mathbb{F} (j = 1, 2, ...)$ are defined by

$$\gamma_j := \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ \overline{u_j(x)} a_{\perp,x} + \overline{v_j(x)} a_{\perp,x}^* \right\}, \quad \gamma_j^* := \int \mathrm{d}x \left\{ u_j(x) a_{\perp,x}^* + v_j(x) a_{\perp,x} \right\}$$

In the above, $\{u_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a Riesz basis of ϕ^{\perp} , and $\{v_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ are chosen such that γ_j and γ_j^* satisfy the canonical commutation relations.

One can verify that γ_j, γ_j^* satisfy the canonical commutation relations provided

$$\int dx \{ u_j(x) v_{j'}(x) - v_j(x) u_{j'}(x) \} = 0 ,$$

$$\int dx \{ u_j(x) \overline{u_{j'}(x)} - v_j(x) \overline{v_{j'}(x)} \} = \delta_{jj'} .$$
(3.6.2)

We proceed to show that the diagonalization of \mathscr{H}_{Bog} in terms of γ_j and γ_j^* implies that $\{u_j(x), v_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ must solve a linear system of PDEs. Following Fetter's procedure, [20] let us momentarily assume the following completeness relations:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \{u_j(x)\overline{u_j(x')} - \overline{v_j(x)}v_j(x')\} = \widehat{\delta}(x, x') ,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \{u_j(x)\overline{v_j(x')} - \overline{v_j(x)}u_j(x')\} = 0, \quad \forall x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^3 .$$
(3.6.3)

In view of Definition 3, these relations allow us to decompose the operators $a_{\perp,x}$ and $a_{\perp,x}^*$ as

$$a_{\perp,x} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ u_j(x)\gamma_j - \overline{v_j(x)}\gamma_j^* \right\}, \quad a_{\perp,x}^* = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \overline{u_j(x)}\gamma_j^* - v_j(x)\gamma_j \right\}.$$

These two relations together with Definition 3 amount to a Bogoliubov-type (unitary) transformation in the space orthogonal to the condensate ϕ . The substitution of these expressions into (3.6.1) along with the requirement that the terms proportional to $\gamma_j \gamma_l$ and $\gamma_j^* \gamma_l^*$ vanish (for all j, l = 1, 2, ...) yields the following eigenvalue problem involving a symplectic matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{\perp}^{T} & -f_{\phi_{\perp}} \\ \overline{f_{\phi_{\perp}}} & -h_{\perp} \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} u_{j}(x) \\ v_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix} = E_{j} \begin{pmatrix} u_{j}(x) \\ v_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix}; \quad j = 1, 2, \dots.$$
(3.6.4)

In the above, h_{\perp} and $f_{\phi_{\perp}}$ are the projections of operators *h* and f_{ϕ} on space ϕ^{\perp} . Equation (3.6.4) should be compared to equations (2.21a,b) in Ref. [20]. Note that the notation for u_j and E_j here is the same as the one used for the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of h_{ph}^* in Section 3.5.2. In fact, the corresponding quantities turn out to be identical in the two eigenvalue problems, as we discuss below.

3.6.2 On the existence of solutions to eigenvalue problem for (u_j, v_j)

Let us recall the spectral theory for h_{ph} , particularly Lemma 5 (Section 3.5.2). We should also add that this theory relies on the existence of solutions to the Riccati equation for k, Theorem 1 (Section 3.4). To make a connection to system (3.6.4), consider the solutions ω_j and u_j (j = 1, 2, ...) to the eigenvalue problem for h_{ph} and its adjoint. This problem is expressed by the equations

$$h_{\rm ph}(x,\omega_j) = (h+k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}})(x,\omega_j) = E_j \omega_j(x) ,$$

$$h_{\rm ph}^*(x,u_j) = (h^T + f_{\phi} \circ \overline{k})(x,u_j) = E_j u_j(x) \qquad (j=1,2,\ldots)$$

Notice that if we define $v_j(x) := -\overline{k}(x, u_j)$ then the (adjoint) equation for $u_j(x)$ here immediately takes the form of the first equation in system (3.6.4). We can show that this definition for v_j also gives the second equation in system (3.6.4) by employing the conjugate Riccati equation (for \overline{k}). Indeed, notice that

$$\begin{split} -h_{\perp}(x,v_j) &= (h_{\perp} \circ \overline{k})(x,u_j) = (-\overline{k} \circ h_{\perp}^T - \overline{f_{\phi}} - \overline{k} \circ f_{\phi} \circ \overline{k})(x,u_j) \\ &= -\overline{k} \circ \left[E_j u_j(x) - f_{\phi} \circ \overline{k}(x,u_j) \right] - \overline{f_{\phi}}(x,u_j) - (\overline{k} \circ f_{\phi} \circ \overline{k})(x,u_j) \\ &= -E_j v_j(x) - \overline{f_{\phi}}(x,u_j) \;. \end{split}$$

Hence, the existence of eigenvectors $\{\omega_j, u_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and spectrum $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ in regard to h_{ph} entails the existence of solutions to system (3.6.4).

Remark 7. (*i*) We showed an intimate connection of the eigenvalue problem for h_{ph} and its adjoint, based on the Riccati equation for kernel k, to PDE system (3.6.4) coming from Fetter's Hermitian view. A direct comparison to the results in Ref. [20] is meaningful if Fetter's delta-function interaction is appropriately regularized. This connection is in fact a manifestation of a deeper theory which links the Riccati equation to J-self-adjoint matrix operators [2–4]. We briefly discuss aspects of this theory in Section 3.6.3.

(ii) In Fetter's work [20], an ansatz for the many-body ground state $|\Psi_0\rangle$ of the quadratic Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{Bog} on \mathbb{F} is

$$|\Psi_0\rangle = Ze^{\mathscr{G}}\{a_{\overline{\phi}}^{*N}\}|vac\rangle ; \quad \mathscr{G} := \frac{1}{2}\int \mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}y\,b(x,y)\,a_{\perp,x}^*a_{\perp,y}^* .$$

However, a single governing equation for the associated kernel b(x,y) is not provided in Ref. [20]. Instead, the condition $\gamma_j |\psi_0\rangle = 0$ is applied for all j = 1, 2, ..., which yields the following system of integral relations:

$$\int dy \left\{ b(x,y)\overline{u}_j(y) \right\} = -\overline{v_j(x)} \qquad (j=1,2,\ldots) \ .$$

By comparison of this formalism to our approach, we realize that kernel b coincides with k, and the above integral relations are already a consequence of our solution for k. In fact, in Ref. [20] the above integral system is used to define the kernel b(x,y) =k(x,y) when $\{u_j(x),v_j(x)\}$ solve the matrix eigenvalue problem (3.6.4) under a deltafunction interaction. The kernel k is expressed as a bilinear form involving ϕ -orthogonal projections of the wave functions v_j ; [20] see also Ref. [18]. Our existence proof for k furnished in the context of Theorem 1 shows that the ground state $|\psi_0\rangle$ is self-consistent, in the sense that the integral system stemming from $|\psi_0\rangle$ and (3.6.4) is well-posed if a solution to the Riccati equation for k exists.

At this stage, we find it compelling to give the following corollary for system (3.6.4). **Corollary 1.** For $\{u_j(x), v_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ that solve (3.6.4), completeness relations (4.3.2) and orthogonality relations (3.6.2) hold. *Proof.* We resort to the spectral theory of operator $h_{\rm ph}$ on space ϕ^{\perp} , particularly the proof of Lemma 5 (Section 3.5.2). Recall the completeness relation for the basis $\{\eta_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of ϕ^{\perp} , as well as the relation $\eta_j(x) = (\hat{\delta} - k \circ \bar{k})^{1/2}(x, u_j)$.

Hence, on ϕ^{\perp} we have

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\delta}(x,x') &= (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{1/2} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \eta_j(x) \overline{\eta_j(x')} \right\} (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2} \\ &= (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k}) \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(x) \overline{\eta_j(x')} \right\} (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2} = (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k}) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(x) \overline{u_j(x')} \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(x) \overline{u_j(x')} = \frac{\widehat{\delta}(x, x')}{\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k}} .$$

By use of the relation $v_j(x) = -\overline{k}(x, u_j)$, we can therefore assert that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \overline{v_j(x)} v_j(x') = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} k(\overline{u_j}, x) \overline{k}(x', u_j) = \frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k}} .$$

The last two equations entail the first relation of (4.3.2).

Next, we invoke the equation just derived to write

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(x)\overline{v_j(x')} = -\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_j(x)k(x',\overline{u_j}) = -(\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k \, .$$

Alternatively, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \overline{v_j(x)} u_j(x') = -\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} k(x, \overline{u_j}) u_j(x') = -k \circ (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} .$$

Thus, we obtain the second completeness relation of (4.3.2) by using the identity $(\hat{\delta} - k \circ$

$$\overline{k})^{-1} \circ k = k \circ (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}.$$

Regarding orthogonality relations (3.6.2), the manipulation of system (3.6.4) yields

the following equations:

$$(E_j - \overline{E_{j'}}) \int dx \{ u_j(x) \overline{u_{j'}(x)} \} = \int dx \{ -\overline{u_{j'}(x)} f_{\phi}(x, v_j) + u_j(x) \overline{f_{\phi}}(x, \overline{v_{j'}}) \},$$
$$(E_j - \overline{E_{j'}}) \int dx \{ v_j(x) \overline{v_{j'}(x)} \} = \int dx \{ \overline{v_{j'}(x)} \overline{f_{\phi}}(x, u_j) - v_j(x) f_{\phi}(x, \overline{u_{j'}}) \}.$$

By subtracting the second equation from the first one, we obtain the second orthogonality relation of (3.6.2), if $||u_j||_2^2 - ||v_j||_2^2 \neq 0$ and this normalization for u_j and v_j is chosen to give unity. The first orthogonality relation of (3.6.2) follows by a similar procedure which we omit here.

3.6.3 On the *J*-self-adjoint system

Next, we discuss the connection between Riccati equation (3.3.4b) and main ideas from the theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators found in, e.g., Refs. [2–4]. A link between these two theories is suggested by the eigenvalue problem (3.6.4), which involves the symplectic matrix

$$M := \begin{pmatrix} h_{\perp}^{T} & -f_{\phi_{\perp}} \\ \overline{f_{\phi_{\perp}}} & -h_{\perp} \end{pmatrix}; \quad \operatorname{dom}(M) := \mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1}.$$
(3.6.5)

Note that the matrix

$$\widetilde{M} := egin{pmatrix} h^T & -f_\phi \ \hline f_\phi & -h \end{pmatrix}$$

has the zero eigenvalue with eigenvector $(\phi, \overline{\phi})$.

Suppose that $\phi(x)$, h(x,y) and $f_{\phi}(x,y)$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 1 (Section 3.4.2). Let *k* be the unique solution to the Riccati equation with $||k||_{op} < 1$. Then the operator matrix

$$W := egin{pmatrix} \widehat{\delta} & k \ & k \ \overline{k} & \widehat{\delta} \end{pmatrix} : \phi^{\perp} \oplus \phi^{\perp} \mapsto \phi^{\perp} \oplus \phi^{\perp}$$

is boundedly invertible, [4] with inverse

$$W^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & -k \circ (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \\ \\ -\overline{k} \circ (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now let us consider the diagonal matrix

$$D := egin{pmatrix} h_{\perp}^T + k \circ \overline{f_{oldsymbol{\phi}}}_{\perp} & 0 \ 0 & -h_{\perp} - \overline{k} \circ f_{oldsymbol{\phi}}_{\perp} \end{pmatrix}$$

The spectrum of *D* is $\sigma(\overline{h_{\text{ph}}}) \cup \sigma(-h_{\text{ph}})$, which under the assumptions of Theorem 1 consists of two disjoint parts. Since *k* obeys the Riccati equation on ϕ^{\perp} , we have

$$DW = egin{pmatrix} h_{\perp}^T + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}}_{\perp} & -k \circ h_{\perp} - f_{\phi}_{\perp} \ \overline{k} \circ h_{\perp}^T + \overline{f_{\phi}}_{\perp} & -h_{\perp} - \overline{k} \circ f_{\phi}_{\perp} \end{pmatrix} = WM \; ,$$

where M is defined by (3.6.5). Thus, the matrix M is similar to the diagonal matrix D.

We proceed to describe implications of this similarity relation. Eigenvectors of the diagonal operator matrix D are of two types. One type is of the form $(\omega_j(x), 0)$ where $\omega_j(x)$ is an eigenvector of $h_{\rm ph}$, and another type is of the form $(0, \overline{\omega_j(x)})$ (see Section 3.5.2). This fact yields two types of eigenvectors for M after transformation by W^{-1} , viz.,

$$W^{-1}\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\omega}_j(x)\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (\widehat{\boldsymbol{\delta}} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}(x, \boldsymbol{\omega}_j)\\ -\overline{k} \circ (\widehat{\boldsymbol{\delta}} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}(x, \boldsymbol{\omega}_j) \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$W^{-1}\begin{pmatrix}0\\\overline{\omega_j(x)}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}-k\circ(\widehat{\delta}-\overline{k}\circ k)^{-1}(x,\overline{\omega_j})\\(\widehat{\delta}-\overline{k}\circ k)^{-1}(x,\overline{\omega_j})\end{pmatrix}$$

•

For the second type of eigenvector, we make the identifications

$$u_j(x) := (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}(x, \omega_j)$$
 and $v_j(x) := -\overline{k} \circ (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}(x, \omega_j) = -\overline{k}(x, u_j)$.

The eigenvectors of the second type should be excluded since they yield a negative spectrum.

Remark 8. So far, we assumed that the Riccati equation for k is satisfied (and solutions to this equation exist by Theorem 1). Conversely, if we assume that the integral system $v_j = -\overline{k}(x, u_j)$ as well as PDE system (3.6.4) hold then k must obey the Riccati equation. This claim can be proved by use of the methods that we already developed.

3.7 Conclusion and discussion

In concluding this chapter, we stress the intimate, and perhaps surprising, mathematical connection between two apparently disparate approaches (those of Fetter [20] and Wu [60]) for the problem of low-lying Boson excitations via the theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators [4]. By exploiting this connection, we were able to prove existence of solutions to the PDE system for the single-particle wave functions u_j and v_j pertaining to elementary excitations (quasiparticles) in Fetter's far-reaching formalism [20]. In addition, we explicitly constructed the eigenvectors of the approximate many-body Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{app} for pair excitations, given by (6.2.3), in the *N*-particle sector of Fock space. Some of our results can be viewed as an application of the powerful theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators to a physics-inspired problem.

Let us outline implications of our analysis. The similarity relation $WMW^{-1} = D$, discussed in Section 3.6.3, shows that the spectrum of h_{ph} can change for different solutions to the Riccati equation, but in a predictable way. In particular, since we have the spectrum $\sigma(M) = \sigma(D) = \sigma(h_{ph}) \cup \sigma(-h_{ph})$, the (double) spectrum $\sigma(h_{ph}) \cup \sigma(-h_{ph})$ is

unaffected by the choice of kernel k solving the Riccati equation. However, the spectrum $\sigma(h_{\rm ph})$ will change under different choices of solutions for k. In light of our analysis, the only possible change induced by $\sigma(h_{\rm ph}(k)) \mapsto \sigma(h_{\rm ph}(k'))$ for two different solutions k and $k' \ (k' \neq k)$ is such that a finite collection of eigenvalues $\{E_j\} \subset \sigma(h_{\rm phon}(k))$ is mapped to $\{-E_j\} \subset \sigma(h_{\rm phon}(k'))$ while the rest of the eigenvalues remain unchanged.

The kernel *k* is directly related to the pair correlation function $C_2 : \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}$ at the ground state Ψ (at zero temperature), which for our purposes is defined by $C_2(x,y) :=$ $N^{-1} \langle \Psi | a_{\perp,x}^* a_{\perp,y} a_{\phi}^* a_{\overline{\phi}} | \Psi \rangle$. An asymptotic calculation of C_2 for large *N* to the order of approximation consistent with the reduced Hamiltonian $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{app}$ yields [20,60]

$$C_2(x,y) = \frac{k \circ \bar{k}}{\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \bar{k}} \; .$$

This formula can be extracted from the analysis of Ref. [60] under the restriction $||k||_{op} < 1$ which ensures uniqueness of the solution to the operator Riccati equation for *k*. Hence, the existence of a unique *k* directly implies a well-defined pair correlation function $C_2(x, y)$. The investigation of the connection between *k* and C_2 is the subject of future work.

We are tempted to also mention a few other open problems motivated by our work. For example, given the existence of the kernel k with $||k||_{op} < 1$, it is of interest to consider the effect of a non-unitary transformation analogous to $e^{\mathcal{W}}$ by including contributions from higher-order (cubic and quartic terms) in the reduced many-body Hermitian Hamiltonian. This consideration would plausibly require the introduction of additional kernels, which must satisfy several consistency conditions. Furthermore, it is conceivable that the non-Hermitian approach involving k can be extended to the setting of finite (positive) temperatures below the phase transition in the presence of a trapping potential. In the spirit of the periodic case, [38] we could construct an effective approximate Hamiltonian for pair excitation that involves a parameter expressing the average fraction of particles at the condensate, and subsequently transform it non-unitarily. Alternatively, one may use a Hermitian approach at finite temperatures akin to Fetter's formalism, e.g., the approach taken up in Ref. [25].

Chapter 4

Non-translation-invariant systems: pairs coupled with mean field

4.1 Background

In the previous chapter, we connected the theory for pair-excitation kernel k(x, y) to the diagonalization of a quadratic many-body Hamiltonian. In that chapter, the quadratic Hamiltonian was derived by the method of Fetter [20], and resulted in a system for the condensate $\phi(x)$ and excitation kernel k(x, y) (which we review here in equations (4.1.4) and (4.1.14)). That model had the particular feature that the Hartree equation for ϕ was decoupled from the Riccati equation for k, so that we could solve them independently by different variational methods.

In the present chapter, we analyze a more complicated quadratic approximate Hamiltonian for the trapped Bose gas, which contains effective mean-field potentials arising from the density of non-condensate particles. The model of Fetter tacitly ignored the contribution of these terms in the approximation scheme for the exact many-body Hamiltonian.

The starting point of this chapter is the exact many-body Hamiltonian, \mathscr{H} , for *N* bosons with a repulsive, mean-field, pairwise interaction v_N , in the trapping potential $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$, given by the Fock space operator:

$$\mathscr{H} = \int dx \{a_x^* (-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x))a_x\} + \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy \{a_x^* a_y^* \frac{1}{N} v_N (x - y)a_x a_y\}, \quad \mathbb{F}_N \to \mathbb{F}_N.$$
(4.1.1)

A feature of this system which was not present in the previous chapters is the mean-field interaction, $\frac{1}{N}v_N(x)$. Here, we require that $v_N(x) = N^{3\beta}v(N^{\beta}x)$, where v is a smooth, positive, radially symmetric function, with $\int dx \{v(x)\} = g$, for g > 0, and $\beta \le 1/6$. In particular, $\frac{1}{N}v_N(x-y) \le ||v||_{L^{\infty}}$, and $||\frac{1}{N}(v_N * f)||_{L^2} \le g||f||_{L^2}$, by Young's inequality. We assume that $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$ is positive, and that the operator $(-\Delta_x + V_{\text{trap}}(x))$ has a positive spectrum with a gap between it's lowest and first excited states. It is useful to take the concrete example $V_{\text{trap}}(x) = |x|^2$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ as the prototypical trapping potential.

As in previous chapters, the goal is to write an approximation to \mathscr{H} (denoted generically by \mathscr{H}_{approx}) which describes important features of the many-body system for states close to the ground state. The previous chapter emphasized the utility of an approximation \mathscr{H}_{approx} which is quadratic in field operators orthogonal to the condensate; since quadratic Hamiltonians can be diagonalized by unitary rotation, finding a quadratic system which approximates (5.2.5) is of great value. Here we describe a systematic approximation scheme motivated by Griffin [25], which generalizes the quadratic approximation of the previous chapter, represented by the work of Fetter [20]. Compared to the previous chapter, the scheme here includes additional quadratic terms coming from non-condensate densities. The new terms alter the analysis in a qualitative way; giving rise to a nonlinear system for elementary excitations in place of the corresponding linear system of Chapter 3.

We first translate the approximation of Fetter (1970) [20] to this new context. The operator $\mathscr{H} - \mu \mathscr{N}$, (where $\mathscr{N} = \int dx \{a_x^* a_x\}$, and $\mu > 0$ is the chemical potential), is

rewritten using the Bogoliubov approximation:

$$a_{x} \approx N\phi(x)\phi(x) + b_{x}$$

$$a_{x}^{*} \approx N\phi(x)\overline{\phi(x)} + b_{x}^{*},$$

$$(4.1.2)$$

where, as before, the operators b_x , b_x^* are understood to satisfy the canonical commutation relations on the space orthogonal to the condensate. In particular,

$$[b_x, b_y^*] = \delta(x - y) - \phi(x)\overline{\phi(y)}.$$

The macroscopic condensate wavefunction $\phi(x)$, with $\|\phi\| = 1$, is determined self-consistently as part of the scheme. Making the above substitutions in \mathcal{H} , and ignoring cubic and quartic terms in the operators b_x , b_x^* , the reduced Hamiltonian is given by:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{Fetter}} = \text{const} + \int dx \{ \overline{A_{\text{Fetter}}(x)} b_x + A_{\text{Fetter}}(x) b_x^* \}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \{ (b_x, b_x^*) \begin{pmatrix} -h_{\text{Fet}}^T(x, y) & \overline{f_{\phi}}(x, y) \\ -f_{\phi}(x, y) & h_{\text{Fet}}(x, y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -b_y^* \\ b_y \end{pmatrix} \}.$$

$$(4.1.3)$$

Here, $A_{\text{Fetter}}(x)$, $h_{\text{Fet}}(x, y)$, and $f_{\phi}(x, y)$ are defined by:

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\text{Fetter}}(x) &:= (-\Delta_x + V_{\text{trap}}(x) - \mu)\phi(x) + \int dy \{ \upsilon_N(x - y) |\phi(y)|^2 \} \phi(x), \\ h_{\text{Fet}}(x, y) &:= (-\Delta_x + V_{\text{trap}}(x) - \mu)\delta(x - y) + \overline{\phi(y)}\upsilon_N(x - y)\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)\delta(x - y), \\ f_{\phi}(x, y) &:= \phi(y)\upsilon_N(x - y)\phi(x). \end{aligned}$$

The equation for the mean-field condensate $\phi(x)$ of Fetter results by enforcing the condition $A_{\text{Fetter}}(x) = 0$, i.e.,

$$(-\Delta_x + V_{\rm trap}(x))\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)\phi(x) = \mu\phi(x).$$
(4.1.4)

With $\phi(x)$ specified by equation (4.1.4), the operator matrix in $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Fetter}}$ (equation (4.1.3)) is then well-defined. The method outlined by Fetter [20, 21] for diagonalizing the operator $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Fetter}}$ is equivalent to solving the eigenvalue problem for this matrix, for the basis of single-particle states $\{U_j(x), P_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, i.e.,

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h_{\text{Fet}}(x,y) & -f_{\phi}(x,y) \\ \hline f_{\phi}(x,y) & -h_{\text{Fet}}^{T}(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} U_{j}(y) \\ P_{j}(y) \end{pmatrix} \right\} = E_{j} \begin{pmatrix} U_{j}(x) \\ P_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad ||U_{j}||^{2} - ||P_{j}||^{2} = 1.$$

$$(4.1.5)$$

This system is the result of defining the quasiparticle operators α_j , α_j^* by the formula

$$b_{x} = \sum_{j} \{ U_{j}(x)\alpha_{j} - \overline{P_{j}(x)}\alpha_{j}^{*} \}$$

$$b_{x}^{*} = \sum_{j} \{ \overline{U_{j}(x)}\alpha_{j}^{*} - P_{j}(x)\alpha_{j} \}.$$
(4.1.6)

The operators α_j , α_j^* in (4.3.1) are taken to satisfy the canonical commutation relations

$$[\pmb{lpha}_j,\pmb{lpha}_k^*]=\pmb{\delta}_{jk}, \quad [\pmb{lpha}_j,\pmb{lpha}_k]=[\pmb{lpha}_j^*,\pmb{lpha}_k^*]=0,$$

which gives the normalization condition for $\{U_j(x), P_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ in (4.1.5). The spectrum $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ describes the elementary excitations of $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Fetter}}$.

Griffin (1996) [25] extended the analysis of (4.1.3) by including higher order terms within a quadratic scheme, introducing the two-particle correlation functions for noncondensate particles, denoted $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x) := n^{\text{pair}}(x,x)$. The setup is similar to the derivation of $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Fetter}}$; the Bogoliubov approximation (4.1.2) is made in the exact Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} . Now, instead of ignoring cubic and quartic terms in $\{b_x, b_x^*\}$, the following replacements are made:

$$b_{x}^{*}b_{y}^{*}b_{x}b_{y} \approx 2n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{y}^{*}b_{x} + 2\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)b_{y}^{*}b_{y} + \overline{m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)}b_{x}b_{y} + m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x}^{*}b_{y}^{*},$$

$$b_{x}^{*}b_{x}b_{y} \approx \rho^{\text{pair}}(x)b_{y} + n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x} + m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x}^{*}.$$
(4.1.7)

The reduced Hamiltonian is a generalization of (4.1.3), which reads:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{Grif}} = \text{const} + \int dx \{ \overline{A_{\text{Grif}}(x)} b_x + A_{\text{Grif}}(x) b_x^* \}$$

$$+ \int dx dy \{ (b_x, b_x^*) \begin{pmatrix} -h^T(x, y) & (v_N \overline{m})(x, y) \\ -(v_N m)(x, y) & h(x, y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -b_y^* \\ b_y \end{pmatrix} \},$$

$$(4.1.8)$$

where the operators in this expresssion are defined by

$$A_{\text{Grif}}(x) := \left(-\Delta_{x} + V_{\text{trap}}(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_{N} * \rho)(x) - \mu\right)\phi(x) + \\ + \frac{1}{N} \int dy \{\upsilon_{N}(x - y)n(x, y)\phi(y)\} + \int dy \{\upsilon_{N}(x - y)m(x, y)\overline{\phi(y)}\}, \\ n(x, y) := \phi(x)\overline{\phi(y)} + \frac{1}{N}n^{\text{pair}}(x, y), \\ m(x, y) := \phi(x)\phi(y) + \frac{1}{N}m^{\text{pair}}(x, y), \\ \rho(x) := n(x, x), \quad \rho^{\text{pair}}(x) := n^{\text{pair}}(x, x), \\ h(x, y) := \{-\Delta_{x} + V_{\text{trap}}(x) + (\upsilon_{N} * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x) - \mu\}\delta(x - y) + \upsilon_{N}(x - y)n(x, y). \end{cases}$$
(4.1.9)

The apparent problem with this formulation is that it is unclear how to determine the functions $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $\phi(x)$ consistently, which would require enforcing more equations than just $A_{\text{Grif}}(x) = 0$. Griffin, making an implicit assumption on the structure of eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Grif}}$, diagonalizes $\mathscr{H}_{\text{Grif}}$ using a basis of states $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ (which play the same role as $\{U_j(x), P_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ in (4.1.5)), thereby providing a "closure" to the system that determines all correlation functions. The system for condensate $\phi(x)$, and the basis $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}$ reads:

$$\mu\phi(x) = (-\Delta_x + V_{\text{trap}}(x))\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{\upsilon_N(x-y)n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\phi(y)\} + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{\upsilon_N(x-y)m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\phi(y)\},$$
(4.1.10)

and

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} -h^T(x,y) & (\upsilon_N \overline{m})(x,y) \\ -(\upsilon_N m)(x,y) & h(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_j(y) \\ p_j(y) \end{pmatrix} \right\} = E_j \begin{pmatrix} u_j(x) \\ p_j(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad ||u_j||^2 - ||p_j||^2 = 1.$$
(4.1.11)

The normalization condition for the basis in (4.1.11) ensures that the spectrum $\{E_j\}$ that we find is positive. An implicit assumption on the structure of eigenstates allows for the correlation functions to be given by the formulas (see Remark 9):

$$m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = -\sum_{j} u_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)}$$

$$n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = \sum_{j} p_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)}.$$
(4.1.12)

4.1.1 Synopsis of the theory of J-self-adjoint operators

In Chapter 3, it was also shown that there is a connection between the unitary rotation of quadratic bosonic Hamiltonians, and the non-Hermitian formalism of *pairexcitation*. These methods are represented in the physics literature by the works of Lee, Huang, Yang [37, 38], Fetter [20, 21], and Wu [60, 61], respectively.

More precisely, the theory of *J*-self-adjoint operators, motivated by the work of Albeverio, Tretter, et. al [2, 3, 13, 58] can be applied to any quadratic Hamiltonian. In the context of equation (4.1.4) for the condensate and the linear system (4.1.13) for $\{U_j(x), P_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, a solution to any one of the following systems can be used to construct a solution to the other two:

(i) The Bogoliubov de-Gennes system for the basis $\{U_j(x), P_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$:

$$\int \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h_{\text{Fet}}(x,y) & -f_{\phi}(x,y) \\ \hline f_{\phi}(x,y) & -h_{\text{Fet}}^{T}(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} U_{j}(y) \\ P_{j}(y) \end{pmatrix} \right\} dy = E_{j} \begin{pmatrix} U_{j}(x) \\ P_{j}(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad ||U_{j}||^{2} - ||P_{j}||^{2} = 1.$$

$$(4.1.13)$$

(ii) The nonlinear Riccati equation for kernel k(x, y):

$$h_{\text{Fet}} \circ k + k \circ h_{\text{Fet}}^T + f_{\phi} + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} \circ k = 0, \quad k : (\phi)_{\perp} \to (\phi)_{\perp}, \quad ||k||_{\text{op}} < 1.$$
(4.1.14)

This approach is used, e.g., in [60] to describe a spatially-dependent process whereby pairs of particles escape the condensate.

(iii) The 'phonon' equation for a (non-orthogonal) basis of single-particle excitations $\omega_j(x)$:

$$h_{\rm ph}(x,\boldsymbol{\omega}_j) := (h_{\rm Fet} + k \circ f_{\phi})(x,\boldsymbol{\omega}_j) = E_j \boldsymbol{\omega}_j(x). \tag{4.1.15}$$

In particular, the operator matrix in (4.1.13) is diagonalized by a boundedly-invertible matrix which depends on the kernel k, via:

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{\text{Fet}}^T + k \circ \overline{f_{\phi}} & 0\\ 0 & -h_{\text{Fet}} - \overline{k} \circ f_{\phi} \end{pmatrix} = W \circ \begin{pmatrix} h_{\text{Fet}} & -f_{\phi}\\ \overline{f_{\phi}} & -h_{\text{Fet}}^T \end{pmatrix} \circ W^{-1}, \quad (4.1.16)$$

for

$$W := egin{pmatrix} \widehat{\delta} & k \ \overline{k} & \widehat{\delta} \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$W^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & -k(\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \\ -\overline{k}(\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The diagonalized matrix in (4.1.16) features the phonon operator of (4.1.15).

We extend the equivalence of systems (4.1.13) and (4.1.14) to the nonlinear system of equations (4.1.10), (4.1.11), (4.1.12). This allows us to consider the equation (for operators *h*, *m* defined in equation (4.1.9))

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + (v_{N}m) + k \circ \overline{(v_{N}m)} \circ k = 0, \quad k : (\phi)_{\perp} \to (\phi)_{\perp},$$
(4.1.17)

in lieu of the coupled nonlinear system (4.1.11). In this reformulation, we have the formulas

$$-\sum_{j} u_{j}(x)\overline{p_{j}(y)} = \left(k \circ (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}\right)(x, y),$$

$$\sum_{j} p_{j}(x)\overline{p_{j}(y)} = \left((k \circ \overline{k}) \circ (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}\right)(x, y).$$
(4.1.18)

This allows us to rewrite the densities $n^{\text{pair}}(x, y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x, y)$, in terms of the operator k(x, y). The equation for $\phi(x)$ is therefore coupled to the equation for k(x, y), via these densities. This approach has the benefit of solving a single equation for k(x, y), instead of the infinite, nonlinear, coupled system for $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$.

In this chapter, we solve the nonlinear system (4.1.10), (4.1.17), (4.1.18) using techniques developed for solving the linear system (4.1.13). Our construction is perturbative—we introduce the small parameter g > 0 which describes the strength of the interaction (i.e., $v_N(x) := gN^{3\beta}v(N^{\beta}x)$ where $v(x) \ge 0$ is a symmetric, smooth function, such that $v_N(x-y) \rightarrow g\delta(x-y)$ as $N \rightarrow \infty$), and show that solutions to the nonlinear system exist which are close to the unperturbed solutions of (4.1.13) and (4.1.14).

The translation of the system (4.1.10), (4.1.11), (4.1.12), to a coupled system for $\phi(x)$ and k(x,y) also helps us to understand the spectrum E_j in the context of the nonlinear system (4.1.11). Our main result is:

Theorem 3. Suppose the single-particle operator $(-\Delta + V_{trap}(x))$ contains a gap between its ground state and first excited state. Then for g > 0 small enough and $0 \le \beta \le$ 1/6, there exist $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1$, with $\|\phi\|_{L^2} = 1$, and $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\phi_{\perp}, \phi_{\perp})$, with $\|k\|_{op} < 1$ which solve the coupled system consisting of the equation for ϕ :

$$(-\Delta_{x} + V_{\text{trap}}(x))\phi(x) + (\upsilon_{N} * |\phi|^{2})(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_{N} * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{\upsilon_{N}(x-y)n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\phi(y)\} + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{\upsilon_{N}(x-y)m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\phi(y)\} = \mu\phi(x),$$

the nonlinear equation for k(x, y):

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^T + (v_N m) + k \circ \overline{(v_N m)} \circ k = 0, \quad k : (\phi)_\perp \to (\phi)_\perp,$$

for particle densities $n^{pair}(x, y)$ and $m^{pair}(x, y)$ given by:

$$n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) := \left((\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ (k \circ \overline{k}) \right) (x,y), \quad m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) := \left((\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k \right) (x,y),$$

and $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x) := n^{\text{pair}}(x, x)$.

4.2 Many-body system and approximation scheme

We derive the coupled system for the condensate wavefunction and pair-excitation kernel via the heuristic approximation scheme of Griffin [25]. The starting point is the operator $\mathcal{H} - \mu \mathcal{N}$, where \mathcal{H} is the many-body Fock space Hamiltonian (5.2.5). We write this using the definition

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(x,y) := \left(-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x) - \boldsymbol{\mu}\right)\boldsymbol{\delta}(x-y),$$

so that,

$$\mathscr{H} - \mu \mathscr{N} = \iint \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \left\{ a_x^* \varepsilon(x, y) a_y + \frac{1}{2} a_x^* a_y^* \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x - y) a_x a_y \right\}.$$
(4.2.1)

The function $V_{\text{trap}}(x) > 0$ represents the effect of a generic trapping potential. It suffices for our purposes to consider, for example, $V_{\text{trap}}(x) = |x|^2$, or any trapping potential that makes the Schrödinger operator $(-\Delta - V_{\text{trap}}(x))$ positive, with a gap between its lowest and first excited state. The constant $\mu > 0$ represents the chemical potential of the system, and is included because the total particle number is not conserved in the resulting quadratic approximate Hamiltonian. We understand μ as a Lagrange multiplier which fixes the average number of particles N > 0 in the system; its value must be determined as part of the approximation. The two-particle interaction potential is given by $v_N(x) := gN^{3\beta}v(N^{\beta}x)$ where v(x) is a positive, symmetric, and $\int dx\{v(x)\} = 1$. The constant g > 0 is a small parameter, such that $v_N(x-y) \rightarrow g\delta(x-y)$ as $N \rightarrow \infty$. In what follows, we will assume $\beta \leq 1/6$, so that, in particular, $\frac{1}{N}v_N(x) \leq g||v||_{L^{\infty}}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. To avoid unnecessary complications, we also assume that the Fourier transform of v is positive, i.e., $\hat{v} \geq 0$, although this is not strictly necessary in order for the argument to hold.

The operators a_x, a_x^* denote the bosonic field operators on $\mathbb{F}(\mathfrak{h})$ which satisfy the usual commutation relations,

$$[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta(x - y), \quad [a_x, a_y] = [a_x^*, a_y^*] = 0.$$

The scheme consists in replacing $\mathscr{H} - \mu \mathscr{N}$ by the 'approximation' \mathscr{K}' , which is described by the expression

$$\mathscr{K}' = K_0 + \tilde{K}_1 + \tilde{K}_2.$$

The three operators K_0 , \tilde{K}_1 , \tilde{K}_2 contain, respectively, constant, linear, and quadratic terms in the bosonic field operators for the noncondensate (see (4.2.2)). The goal of this description is to derive effective equations for two quantities: (i) the macroscopic condensate wavefunction $\Phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ (this results from enforcing the condition $\tilde{K}_1 \equiv 0$), and (ii) a quantity that describes low-lying excitations of the Bose gas that can be attributed to particles outside the condensate. We will show that there are two equivalent descriptions of this second quantity. The first comes from diagonalizing the operator \tilde{K}_2 via a unitary transformation of field operators, and yields the basis of single-particle states $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$. The second description utilizes the pair-excitation kernel k(x,y), which solves a nonlinear Riccati-type equation (equation (4.4.9)), and describes a spatially-dependent process whereby pairs of particles scatter from the condensate.

The macroscopic wavefunction is normalized according to

$$\|\Phi\|^2 = N,$$

where N > 0 is the total number of particles of the system with Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} , or the average number of particles of the system with Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}' . More generally, the normalization can be taken to be $N\xi$ where the parameter $0 < \xi < 1$ represents the condensate fraction, although we do not pursue this currently. Furthermore, we employ the *Bogoliubov approximation*, writing the field operators as

$$a_x \approx \Phi(x) + b_x, \quad a_x^* \approx \overline{\Phi(x)} + b_x^*.$$
 (4.2.2)

Here the operators b_x^* , b_x are taken to satisfy canonical commutation relations on the space orthogonal to the condensate, $(\Phi)_{\perp}$. That is,

$$[b_x, b_y^*] = \delta(x - y) - \frac{1}{N}\overline{\Phi(x)}\Phi(y) := \widehat{\delta}(x - y).$$

We will not justify the approximation (4.2.2) in the current work. Our aim is rather to

explore consequences of the model that results from this heuristic approximation. For relevant mathematical work on the validity of the Bogoliubov approximation for interacting Bosonic Hamiltonians, see [57].

Using the Bogoliubov approximation (4.2.2) in Hamiltonian (4.2.1) yields an operator $\mathscr{K}_{Bog} : \mathbb{F}(\Phi_{\perp}) \to \mathbb{F}(\Phi_{\perp})$ which is quartic in field operators b_x, b_x^* :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{K}_{\text{Bog}} &:= \iint dx dy \Big\{ \left(\overline{\Phi(x)} + b_x^* \right) \varepsilon(x, y) \left(\Phi(y) + b_y \right) \Big\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy \Big\{ \left(\overline{\Phi(x)} + b_x^* \right) \left(\overline{\Phi(y)} + b_y^* \right) \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x - y) \left(\Phi(x) + b_x \right) \left(\Phi(y) + b_y \right) \Big\} \\ &:= K_0 + K_1 + K_2 + K_3 + K_4, \end{aligned}$$

(4.2.3)

The operators K_i for i = 0, 1, 2, 3 contain all terms with *i* factors of the field operators b^* , *b*. More precisely,

$$K_{0} = \iint dxdy \left\{ \overline{\Phi(x)} \varepsilon(x, y) \Phi(y) + \frac{1}{2N} |\Phi(x)|^{2} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) |\Phi(y)|^{2} \right\},$$

$$K_{1} = \iint dxdy \ b_{x}^{*} \left\{ \varepsilon(x, y) \Phi(y) + |\Phi(y)|^{2} \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \Phi(x) \right\} + \text{h.c.},$$

$$K_{3} = \iint dxdy \ b_{x}^{*} \left\{ \overline{\Phi(y)} \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \right\} b_{x}b_{y} + \text{h.c.},$$

$$K_{4} = \frac{1}{2} \iint dxdy \ b_{x}^{*} b_{y}^{*} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \right\} b_{x}b_{y}.$$
(4.2.4)

We write $K_2 = K_{diag} + K'_2$, where

$$K_{diag} = \iint dx dy \, b_x^* \Big\{ \varepsilon(x, y) + \overline{\Phi(y)} \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x - y) \Phi(x) \Big\} b_y + \iint dx dy \, b_x^* \Big\{ |\Phi(y)|^2 \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x - y) \Big\} b_x$$
(4.2.5)

and

$$K_{2}' = \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy \, b_{x}^{*} b_{y}^{*} \Big\{ \Phi(x) \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \Phi(y) \Big\} + \text{h.c.}$$
(4.2.6)

Next, the Hamiltonian \mathscr{K}_{Bog} is replaced by \mathscr{K}' , by replacing the operators K_3 and K_4 with combinations of quadratic operators. This is done by replacing products of field

operators, $(b_x^*b_y)$, (b_xb_y) , or $(b_x^*b_y^*)$, by the averages $\langle b_x^*b_y \rangle$, $\langle b_xb_y \rangle$, or $\langle b_x^*b_y^* \rangle$. **Note:** We will remark on the meaning of these averages shortly, and link them to a *quasifree* hypothesis. Thus, we make the replacements:

$$b_{x}^{*}b_{y}^{*}b_{x}b_{y} \approx 2\langle b_{x}^{*}b_{y}\rangle b_{y}^{*}b_{x} + 2\langle b_{x}^{*}b_{x}\rangle b_{y}^{*}b_{y} + \langle b_{x}^{*}b_{y}^{*}\rangle b_{x}b_{y} + \langle b_{x}b_{y}\rangle b_{x}^{*}b_{y}^{*},$$

$$b_{x}^{*}b_{x}b_{y} \approx \langle b_{x}^{*}b_{x}\rangle b_{y} + \langle b_{x}^{*}b_{y}\rangle b_{x} + \langle b_{x}b_{y}\rangle b_{x}^{*}.$$

$$(4.2.7)$$

Defining the quantities

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\text{pair}}(x) := \langle b_x^* b_x \rangle, \quad n^{\text{pair}}(x, y) := \langle b_x^* b_y \rangle, \quad m^{\text{pair}}(x, y) := \langle b_x b_y \rangle, \quad (4.2.8)$$

we arrive at the approximate Hamiltonian,

$$\mathscr{K}' = K_0 + \tilde{K}_1 + \tilde{K}_2,$$

where

$$\tilde{K}_{1} = K_{1} + \iint dxdy \left\{\overline{\Phi(y)} \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y)\right\} \left(\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)b_{y} + n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x} + m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x}^{*}\right)$$
$$+ \iint dxdy \left\{\Phi(y) \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_{N}(x-y)\right\} \left(\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)b_{y}^{*} + n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)b_{x}^{*} + \overline{m^{\text{pair}}}(x,y)b_{x}\right)$$
$$= K_{1} + \frac{1}{N} \iint dxdy \ b_{x}^{*} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \left\{\overline{\Phi(y)}m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) + \Phi(x)\rho^{\text{pair}}(y) + \Phi(y)n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\right\} + \text{h.c.}$$
and $\tilde{K}_{2} = \tilde{K}x + \tilde{K}'$ with

and $\tilde{K}_2 = \tilde{K}_{diag} + \tilde{K}'_2$, with

$$\tilde{K}_{diag} = K_{diag} + \frac{1}{N} \iint dxdy \ b_x^* \{ n^{\text{pair}}(x, y) \upsilon_N(x - y) \} b_y + \frac{1}{N} \iint dxdy \ b_y^* \{ \upsilon_N(x - y) \rho^{\text{pair}}(x) \} b_y,$$

$$\tilde{K}_2' = \frac{1}{2} \iint dxdy \ b_x^* b_y^* \ \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x - y) \Big\{ \Phi(x) \Phi(y) + m^{\text{pair}}(x, y) \Big\} + \text{h.c.}$$

For the remainder of this work, we work with the normalized condensate wavefunction,

$$\phi(x) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \Phi(x), \quad \|\phi\|^2 = 1.$$

The equation for ϕ emerges by imposing the constraint $\tilde{K}_1 = 0$, which yields:

$$\mu\phi(x) = \left(-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)\right)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \left\{n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\upsilon_N(x-y)\phi(y) + m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\upsilon_N(x-y)\overline{\phi(y)}\right\}.$$
(4.2.9)

Define the operators

$$h(x,y) := \varepsilon(x,y) + \overline{\phi(y)}\upsilon_N(x-y)\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(y)\delta(x-y) + \frac{1}{N}\upsilon_N(x-y)n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) + (\frac{1}{N}\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x)\delta(x-y), \qquad (4.2.10)$$
$$\Theta(x,y) := \upsilon_N(x-y)\{\phi(x)\phi(y) + \frac{1}{N}m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)\}.$$

Then, Hamiltonian \mathscr{K}' reads $\mathscr{K}' = K_0 + \tilde{K}_2$, for

$$\tilde{K}_2 = \iint \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y \, b_x^* \big\{ h(x,y) \big\} b_y + \frac{1}{2} \iint \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y \, b_x \big\{ \overline{\Theta(x,y)} \big\} b_y + \frac{1}{2} \iint \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y \, b_x^* \big\{ \Theta(x,y) \big\} b_y^*.$$

4.3 Diagonalization of \tilde{K}_2 and the coupled system for ϕ, k :

Assume that ϕ satisfies equation (4.2.9). We now diagonalize the Hamiltonian \mathscr{K}' via a unitary rotation of the field operators b_x, b_x^* . This introduces the basis of singleparticle states $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, which satisfy a block operator matrix problem (4.3.4) involving the densities $n^{\text{pair}}(x, y), \rho^{\text{pair}}(x), m^{\text{pair}}(x, y)$.

The most concise way to represent this unitary rotation is via the formula:

$$b_{x} = \sum_{j} \{u_{j}(x)\alpha_{j} - \overline{p_{j}(x)}\alpha_{j}^{*}\}$$

$$b_{x}^{*} = \sum_{j} \{\overline{u_{j}(x)}\alpha_{j}^{*} - p_{j}(x)\alpha_{j}\}.$$
(4.3.1)

The operators α_j , α_j^* in (4.3.1) are taken to satisfy the canonical commutation relations

$$[lpha_j, lpha_k^*] = \delta_{jk}, \quad [lpha_j, lpha_k] = [lpha_j^*, lpha_k^*] = 0,$$

and the canonical relations on the operators b_x, b_x^* imply the following relations for the basis $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}$:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \{u_j(x)\overline{u_j(x')} - \overline{p_j(x)}p_j(x')\} = \widehat{\delta}(x, x') ,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \{u_j(x)\overline{p_j(x')} - \overline{p_j(x)}u_j(x')\} = 0, \quad \forall x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^3 .$$
(4.3.2)

By an elementary calculation, identical to the one carried out in Chapter 3, it is found that \tilde{K}_2 becomes diagonal in the $\{\alpha_j, \alpha_j^*\}$ operators, i.e.,

$$\tilde{K}_2 = \sum_j E_j \alpha_j^* \alpha_j, \qquad (4.3.3)$$

provided the following block operator matrix eigenvalue equation holds for all *j*:

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h(x,y) & -\Theta(x,y) \\ \overline{\Theta(x,y)} & -h^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_j(y) \\ p_j(y) \end{pmatrix} \right\} = E_j \begin{pmatrix} u_j(x) \\ p_j(x) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.3.4)

At this point, the operator matrix in (4.3.4) contains contributions from the unknown operators $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)$, $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$. A solution to the system will therefore require us to interpret these quantities.

The contribution of this chapter is to solve the system (4.3.4) in the case where the parameter g is very small. In particular, we must characterize the spectrum $\{E_j\}$ and determine the single-particle wavefunctions $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$. The operators h(x,y)and $\Theta(x,y)$ contain contributions from densities $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)$, $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$ and $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, which have been left undetermined up to this point; these quantities must be determined selfconsistently as part of the solution. This complication was not present in our analysis of system (4.1.13) & (4.1.14), which is a special case of equation (4.3.4) that results from setting $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)$, $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$ equal to zero. Our solution takes the operators h(x,y), $\Theta(x,y)$ to depend on the solutions $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$, thus equation (4.3.4) is actually nonlinear.

We take the densities n^{pair} , m^{pair} to be given by the formulas:

$$n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = \sum_{j} p_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)},$$

$$m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = -\sum_{j} u_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)}.$$
(4.3.5)
The reason for this is given in the next remark (which is part of the argument of Griffin [25]):

Remark 9. We now derive the formulas for the densities $\rho^{\text{pair}}(x)$, $n^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$, $m^{\text{pair}}(x,y)$ under several assumptions on the operators α_j , α_j^* . This follows the derivation of Griffin. Using equation (4.3.1),

$$\langle b_x^* b_y \rangle = \sum_{jk} \{ \overline{u_j(x)} u_k(y) + \overline{p_j(x)} p_k(y) \} \langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k \rangle + \sum_j p_j(x) \overline{p_j(y)}$$

$$- \sum_{jk} p_j(x) u_k(y) \langle \alpha_j \alpha_k \rangle + \overline{u_j(x)} \overline{p_k(y)} \langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k^* \rangle$$

$$(4.3.6)$$

and

$$\langle b_{x}b_{y}\rangle = \sum_{jk} \{-\overline{p_{j}(x)}u_{k}(y) - \overline{p_{j}(y)}u_{k}(x)\} \langle \alpha_{j}^{*}\alpha_{k}\rangle - \sum_{j}u_{j}(x)\overline{p_{j}(y)}$$

$$+ \sum_{jk}u_{j}(x)u_{k}(y) \langle \alpha_{j}\alpha_{k}\rangle + \overline{p_{j}(x)} \overline{p_{k}(y)} \langle \alpha_{j}^{*}\alpha_{k}^{*}\rangle.$$

$$(4.3.7)$$

We have not yet interpreted the meaning of the averages $\langle b_x^* b_y \rangle$, $\langle b_x b_y \rangle$, or $\langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k \rangle$, $\langle \alpha_j \alpha_k \rangle$. Apparently, Griffin makes the assumption:

$$\sum_{jk} \left\{ p_j(x) u_k(y) \langle \alpha_j \alpha_k \rangle + \overline{u_j(x)} \ \overline{p_k(y)} \langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k^* \rangle \right\} = 0,$$
(4.3.8)

as well as

$$\sum_{jk} \left\{ u_j(x)u_k(y)\langle \alpha_j \alpha_k \rangle + \overline{p_j(x)} \ \overline{p_k(y)} \langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k^* \rangle \right\} = 0.$$
(4.3.9)

(Note: the approximation also works in the same way by making the more strict assumption $\langle \alpha_j \alpha_k \rangle = 0$.) In addition, Griffin takes the averages $\langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k \rangle$ to follow the Bose distribution, i.e.,

$$\langle \alpha_j^* \alpha_k \rangle = N_0(E_j) \delta_{jk}, \quad N_0(E_j) := \left(\frac{1}{e^{\beta(T)E_j} - 1}\right), \quad \beta(T) := 1/k_B T, \quad T \ge 0.$$
(4.3.10)

Equations (4.3.8), (4.3.9), and (4.3.10) then imply

$$\langle b_x^* b_y \rangle = \sum_j \{ \overline{u_j(x)} u_j(y) + \overline{p_j(x)} p_j(y) \} N_0(E_j) + p_j(x) \overline{p_j(y)}, \qquad (4.3.11)$$

and

$$\langle b_x b_y \rangle = \sum_j -2N_0(E_j)\overline{p_j(x)}u_k(y) - u_j(x)\overline{p_j(y)}.$$
(4.3.12)

Taking $N_0(E_j) = 0$ for all j, which corresponds to the limit $T \to 0$, or $\beta \to \infty$, then gives the formulas (4.3.5).

The coupled system therefore consists of the formulas:

$$n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = \sum_{j} p_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)},$$

$$m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = -\sum_{j} u_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)},$$
(4.3.13)

the equation for $\phi(x)$:

$$\mu\phi(x) = \left(-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)\right)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}})(x)\phi(x) + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \left\{n^{\text{pair}}(x, y)\upsilon_N(x - y)\phi(y) + m^{\text{pair}}(x, y)\upsilon_N(x - y)\overline{\phi(y)}\right\},$$
(4.3.14)

and the matrix system for $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$:

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h(x,y) & -\Theta(x,y) \\ \overline{\Theta(x,y)} & -h^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_j(y) \\ p_j(y) \end{pmatrix} \right\} = E_j \begin{pmatrix} u_j(x) \\ p_j(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad ||u_j||^2 - ||p_j||^2 = 1.$$
(4.3.15)

Remark 10. Since the system of equation (4.3.15) is formally identical to the matrix system of Fetter [20] covered in the previous chapter, the spectrum

$$\sigma_{\mathrm{p}}\Big(egin{pmatrix} h(x,y) & -\Theta(x,y) \\ \overline{\Theta(x,y)} & -h^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \Big),$$

will have two 'sheets,' one of which is bounded below, the other bounded above. The normalization condition in (4.3.15) specifies the sheet which is bounded below. For details of this choice, we refer to the previous chapter.

4.4 Variational formalism for the nonlinear system

The operator matrix in (4.3.15) has an associated Riccati equation for operator k: $(\phi)_{\perp} \rightarrow (\phi)_{\perp}$, which reads as

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k = 0, \quad k : (\phi)_{\perp} \to (\phi)_{\perp}.$$

$$(4.4.1)$$

This is a nonlinear integro-differential equation, which we solve for Hilbert-Schmidt kernel $k(x, y) \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$. The link between block operator matrices and operator Riccati equations has an extensive mathematical background which was discussed in depth in Chapter 3 (see also the works of Tretter, Albeverio, et. al. [2,3,13,58]). We state the relevant facts as they apply to the matrix system (4.3.15) in the following theorem:

Theorem 4. (a) Suppose $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$ is a symmetric solution to equation (4.5.6) with $||k||_{op} < 1$. Then there exists basis $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ solving (4.3.15) with normalization $||u_j||^2 - ||p_j||^2 = 1$. The spectrum $\{E_j\}$ in this case is positive and the following integral relation holds:

$$k(x, u_j) = p_j(x).$$
 (4.4.2)

(b) Suppose $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ solves (4.3.15), where $\{u_j\}$ is a basis of ϕ_{\perp} , and that the integral relation (4.4.2) holds for some k with $||k||_{op} < 1$ and all j. Then k solves the Riccati equation (4.5.6).

The proof of this theorem is an adaptation of the spectral theory of J-self-adjoint operator matrices [58]; our proof is the same here as it was in the case $\rho^{\text{pair}}, n^{\text{pair}}, m^{\text{pair}} = 0$, which was handled in Chapter 3. We include the proof here, adapted to the current system, for the reader's convenience.

Proof. The matrix in equation (4.3.15) is diagonalized by an operator matrix constructed using *k* which solves (4.5.6). In particular, define the operator matrices

$$W := \begin{pmatrix} \widehat{\delta} & k \\ \overline{k} & \widehat{\delta} \end{pmatrix}, \quad W^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & -k(\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \\ -\overline{k}(\widehat{\delta} - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} & (\widehat{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$D := egin{pmatrix} h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta} & 0 \ 0 & -h - \overline{k} \circ \Theta \end{pmatrix}$$

A direct calculation, which uses the fact that *k* satisfies the Riccati equation, shows that the following holds:

$$\begin{pmatrix} h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta} & 0 \\ 0 & -h - \overline{k} \circ \Theta \end{pmatrix} = W \circ \begin{pmatrix} h & -\Theta \\ \overline{\Theta} & -h^T \end{pmatrix} \circ W^{-1}.$$

In order for both *W* and W^{-1} to be bounded, we require that $(\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1}$ be a bounded operator, which is true if $||k||_{op} < 1$. The operator $h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta}$, while not self-adjoint, is similar to the self-adjoint operator (a consequence of the equation (4.4.1) for *k*):

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta} - \boldsymbol{k} \circ \bar{\boldsymbol{k}})^{-1/2} \circ (\boldsymbol{h}^T + \boldsymbol{k} \circ \overline{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}) \circ (\boldsymbol{\delta} - \boldsymbol{k} \circ \bar{\boldsymbol{k}})^{1/2}.$$
(4.4.3)

The spectrum $\sigma(h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta})$ is therefore real, discrete, and bounded below (as a compact perturbation of $-\Delta + V_{\text{trap}}(x) - \mu$), and the system of eigenvectors of (4.4.3), denoted

 $\{\eta_j(x)\}\$, is orthogonal and complete in the space $(\phi)_{\perp}$. Given the solutions $\eta_j(x)$, we can construct $u_j(x)$, $p_j(x)$ which solve the matrix system via

$$u_j(x) = (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2}(x, \eta_j), \quad p_j(x) = k(x, u_j).$$

The spectrum of *D* consists of two discrete and semi-bounded parts: $\sigma(h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta})$ is bounded below (since $\sigma(h^T)$ is bounded below), and $-\sigma(h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta})$ is bounded above. The normalization condition for $\{u_j, p_j\}$, which comes from the fact that these functions represent Bogoliubov rotations, implies that the Bogoliubov spectrum of the quadratic Hamiltonian $K_0 + \tilde{K}_2$ consists of one part only, namely $\sigma(h^T + k \circ \overline{\Theta})$.

Corollary 2. Assume that $\{u_j, p_j\}$ satisfy equation (4.3.15), and that k solves the Ricatti equation. Then the following formulas hold for the density operators:

$$m^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = -\sum_{j} u_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)} = \left(k \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}\right)(x,y)$$

$$n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) = \sum_{k} p_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(y)} = \left((k \circ \overline{k}) \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}\right)(x,y).$$
(4.4.4)

Corollary 2 shows that the nonlinear terms of the Riccati equation (4.4.1) can be rewritten exclusively in terms of the kernel *k*. In particular, the operators h(x,y), $\Theta(x,y)$ are written using this kernel (recall $\varepsilon(x,y) = (-\Delta_x + V_{trap}(x) - \mu)\delta(x - y)$):

$$h[\phi,k](x,y) = \varepsilon(x,y) + \overline{\phi(y)}\upsilon_N(x-y)\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(y)\delta(x-y) + \frac{1}{N}\upsilon_N(x-y)\left\{\frac{k\circ\bar{k}}{\delta-k\circ\bar{k}}\right\}(x,y) + \frac{1}{N}\int dx'\upsilon_N(x-x')\left\{\frac{k\circ\bar{k}}{\delta-k\circ\bar{k}}\right\}(x',x')\delta(x-y).$$

$$(4.4.5)$$

Note: The fraction notation $k \circ \overline{k}/(\delta - k \circ \overline{k})$ is justified here because of the commutation

$$k \circ \overline{k} \circ (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} = (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k \circ \overline{k},$$

and

$$\Theta[\phi,k](x,y) = \upsilon_N(x-y) \Big\{ \phi(x)\phi(y) + \frac{1}{N} \big(k \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}\big)(x,y) \Big\}.$$
(4.4.6)

By Theorem 4, solving the system consisting of equation (4.3.14) for ϕ , and equation (4.4.1) for *k* is equivalent to the system (4.3.5), (4.3.14), (4.3.15).

Remark 11. The system for ϕ and k can be rewritten in an illustrative way. Let $h_0 := h + \mu$, i.e.,

$$h_{0}[\phi,k](x,y) = \varepsilon_{0}(x,y) + \overline{\phi(y)}\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\phi(x) + (\upsilon_{N}*|\phi|^{2})(y)\delta(x-y) + \frac{1}{N}\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k\circ\bar{k}}{\delta-k\circ\bar{k}}\right\}(x,y) + \frac{1}{N}\int dx'\upsilon_{N}(x-x')\left\{\frac{k\circ\bar{k}}{\delta-k\circ\bar{k}}\right\}(x',x')\delta(x-y).$$

$$(4.4.7)$$

and define the operator θ by the formula:

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} := \boldsymbol{v}_N(x-y) \big\{ \boldsymbol{\phi}(x) \boldsymbol{\phi}(y) - \frac{1}{N} \big(k \circ (\boldsymbol{\delta} - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \big) (x, y) \big\}.$$
(4.4.8)

(*Note the difference between* Θ *and* θ .) *Then the system for* ϕ , *k is:*

$$\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} h_0(x,y) & -\theta(x,y) \\ -\overline{\theta(x,y)} & h_0^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} \phi(y) \\ \overline{\phi(y)} \end{pmatrix} &= \mu \begin{pmatrix} \phi(y) \\ \overline{\phi(y)} \end{pmatrix}, \\ h \circ k + k \circ h^T + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k &= 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.4.9)

In the spirit of the previous chapter, we adopt a variational approach to find solutions to the system (4.4.9). The functions ϕ and k are sought as minimizers of the total energy, $\mathscr{E}_{\text{tot}}[\phi, k]$.

Definition 4. For the operator $\varepsilon_0 := (-\Delta + V_{trap}(x))$, the Hartree energy functional, denoted $E_{\rm H}$, is defined for all $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1$, by

$$E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi] := \iint \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \{\overline{\phi(x)}\varepsilon_0(x,y)\phi(y) + \frac{1}{2}|\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y)|\phi(y)|^2\}.$$
(4.4.10)

Given the operators $h, \Theta : \mathfrak{h}^1_V \to \mathfrak{h}^1_V$ (which have a dependence on k, ϕ via equations (4.4.6), (4.4.7)), the functional $\mathscr{E}[k;h,\Theta]$ is defined on the set of kernels

$$\left\{k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1), \quad \|k\|_{\mathrm{op}} < 1\right\},\$$

by the trace

$$\mathscr{E}[k;h_0,\Theta] := \operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \circ \left(\overline{k} \circ h_0 \circ k + \frac{1}{2} \overline{k} \circ \Theta + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\Theta} \circ k \right) \right\}.$$
(4.4.11)

The total energy, \mathscr{E}_{tot} *is defined for all* $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}^1_V$ *and* $\{k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}^1_V), \|k\|_{op} < 1\}$ *by the sum*

$$\mathscr{E}_{\text{tot}}[\phi, k; N] := \left\{ E_{\text{H}}[\phi] + \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k; h_0, \Theta] \right\},$$

$$\operatorname{dom}(\mathscr{E}_{\text{tot}}) = \{ \phi \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1, \quad k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1), \quad \|k\|_{\text{op}} < 1 \}.$$

$$(4.4.12)$$

Lemma 6. Let $h[\phi, k], \Theta[\phi, k]$ be given by (4.4.5), (4.4.6), and let the total energy \mathcal{E}_{tot} be given by formula (4.4.12) with $h_0 = h_0[\phi, k], \Theta = \Theta[\phi, k]$, i.e.,

$$\mathscr{E}_{\text{tot}}[\phi,k;N] := \left\{ E_{\text{H}}[\phi] + \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k;h_0[\phi,k],\Theta[\phi,k]] \right\}.$$

(i): For fixed k, \bar{k} , critical points of the total energy with respect to constrained variations $\overline{\phi} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, $\|\phi\|^2 = 1$, i.e., points satisfying $\delta \mathscr{E}_{tot}/\delta \overline{\phi} = \mu \phi$, where μ is the Lagrange multiplier enforcing the constraint, are solutions to the nonlinear Hartree-type equation (4.4.9). (ii): For fixed ϕ , $\overline{\phi}$ and μ satisfying (4.4.9), critical points of the total energy

$$E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi] + rac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k; h_0 - \mu, \Theta]$$

with respect to symmetric variations of $\overline{k} \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V)$, i.e., points satisfying $\delta \mathscr{E}_{tot} / \delta \overline{k} = 0$, are solutions to the nonlinear Riccati equation (4.4.9).

Proof. For assertion (i), It suffices to show that the functional derivative

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\overline{\phi}}\mathscr{E}\big[k;h[\phi,k],\Theta[\phi,k]\big],$$

yields the terms proportional to k in the equation for ϕ in system (4.4.9). The relevant terms of \mathscr{E} are the trace

$$\iint dxdy \Big\{ \Big(\overline{\phi(y)}\upsilon_N(x-y)\phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(y)\delta(x-y) \Big) \Big(\frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}}\Big)(x,y) \Big\}, \quad (4.4.13)$$

as well as the trace

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \circ \left(\frac{1}{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}} \circ k + \frac{1}{2} \overline{k} \circ \mathscr{G} \right) \right\},$$
(4.4.14)

where $\mathscr{G} := v_N(x-y)\phi(x)\phi(y)$. Replacing $\overline{\phi}$ by $\overline{\phi} + \delta\overline{\phi}$ in the (4.4.13), and collecting terms proportional to $\delta\overline{\phi}$ yields

$$\iint dxdy \Big\{ \Big((\delta \overline{\phi})(y) \upsilon_N(x-y) \phi(x) + (\upsilon_N * (\delta \overline{\phi}) \phi)(y) \delta(x-y) \Big) \Big(\frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \Big) (x,y) \Big\} \\= \int dy \, \delta \overline{\phi}(y) \Big\{ \int dx \upsilon_N(x-y) n^{\text{pair}}(x,y) \phi(x) \Big\} + \int dy \, \delta \overline{\phi}(y) \Big\{ \phi(y)(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}})(y) \Big\}.$$

$$(4.4.15)$$

Replacing $\overline{\phi}$ by $\overline{\phi} + \delta \overline{\phi}$ in (4.4.14), and collecting relevant terms yields

$$\iint \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y \Big(\frac{k}{\delta - \overline{k} \circ k}\Big)(x, y) \upsilon_N(x, y) \Big\{\delta \overline{\phi}(x) \overline{\phi}(y)\Big\} = \int \mathrm{d}y \delta \overline{\phi}(y) \Big\{\int \mathrm{d}x \, m(x, y) \upsilon_N(x, y) \overline{\phi}(x)\Big\}.$$
(4.4.16)

adding the terms (4.4.15) and (4.4.16) to $N\delta E_{\rm H}[\phi]/\delta\overline{\phi}$ gives exactly equation (4.4.9) for ϕ .

(ii) We show that the variation with respect to k is

$$\delta \mathscr{E} / \delta \overline{k} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left\{ h \circ k + k \circ h^T + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k \right\} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}.$$

For a Hilbert-Schmidt operator \mathcal{O} with the integral kernel $\mathcal{O}(x, y)$, define the shorthand $(v \cdot \mathcal{O})$, which is the Hilbert-Schmidt operator with the integral kernel

$$(\boldsymbol{\upsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{\mathscr{O}})(x,y):=\frac{1}{N}\boldsymbol{\upsilon}_N(x-y)\boldsymbol{\mathscr{O}}(x,y).$$

Additionally, define $h_1[\phi], \Theta_1[\phi]$:

$$h_1[k] := \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x-y) \Big\{ \frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \Big\} (x,y) + \frac{1}{N} \int dx' \upsilon_N(x-x') \Big\{ \frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \Big\} (x',x') \delta(x-y),$$

$$\Theta_1[k] := \frac{1}{N} \upsilon_N(x-y) \Big(k \circ (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \Big) (x,y),$$

so that we can write the decomposition $h[\phi, k] := h_0[\phi] + h_1[k]$ and $\Theta[\phi, k] := \Theta_0[\phi] + \Theta_1[k]$. We have that

$$\frac{\delta\mathscr{E}}{\delta\overline{k}} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left\{ h_0[\phi] \circ k + k \circ h_0^T[\phi] + \Theta_0[\phi] + k \circ \overline{\Theta}_0[\phi] \circ k \right\} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}
+ \frac{\delta}{\delta\overline{k}} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \left(\overline{k} \circ h_1[k] \circ k + \frac{1}{2} \overline{k} \circ \Theta_1[k] + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\Theta_1}[k] \circ k \right) \right\}$$
(4.4.17)

where

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta \overline{k}} \operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \left(\overline{k} \circ h_1[k] \circ k \right) \right\} = 2(\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left[\upsilon \cdot \left(\frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \right) \right] \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} + 2(\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left[\frac{1}{N} \left(\upsilon_N * \frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \right) (x) \delta(x - y) \right] \circ k \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}$$

$$(4.4.18)$$

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta \overline{k}} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \left(\overline{k} \circ \Theta_{1}[k] \right) \right\} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \overline{k}} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \left(\overline{\Theta_{1}[k]} \circ k \right) \right\}$$

$$= (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left[\upsilon \cdot (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k \right] \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}$$

$$+ (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k \circ \left[\upsilon \cdot (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1} \circ \overline{k} \right] \circ k \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1}.$$

$$(4.4.19)$$

Substituting (4.4.18), (4.4.19) back into (4.4.17) yields

and

$$\delta \mathscr{E} / \delta \overline{k} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ \left\{ h \circ k + k \circ h^T + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k \right\} \circ (\delta - \overline{k} \circ k)^{-1},$$

which shows that saddle points of \mathscr{E} must satisfy (4.4.9).

Integrating the equation for $\phi(x)$ against $\overline{\phi(x)}$ gives the formula for μ :

$$\mu = \iint dx dy \{\overline{\phi(x)} \varepsilon_0(x, y) \phi(y) + |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x - y) |\phi(y)|^2 + \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[k])(y) \delta(x - y) |\phi(x)|^2 + \frac{1}{N} n^{\text{pair}}[k](x, y) \upsilon_N(x - y) \overline{\phi(x)} \phi(y)$$
(4.4.20)
$$+ \frac{1}{N} m^{\text{pair}}[k](x, y) \upsilon_N(x - y) \overline{\phi(x)} \overline{\phi(y)} \}.$$

4.5 Solving the nonlinear system

Griffin [25] suggests solving the nonlinear matrix system (4.3.4) by iteration, beginning with solutions to the non-interacting system (i.e., g = 0). Here, we adopt an iterative approach to construct solutions, but with several differences. First, we have reformulated the system for the condensate ϕ and the basis $\{u_j, p_j\}$ into the a system for ϕ and the new quantity, k. Second, the starting point of the iterative method is not the non-interacting system (g = 0), but the system for $\{\phi_{\text{Fet}}, k_{\text{Fet}}\}$ which we solved in Chapter 3. This corresponds to setting the densities n^{pair} , m^{pair} to zero, but retaining the densities associated with the condensate $-n^{\text{cond}}(x,y) = \phi(x)\overline{\phi(y)}$, and $\rho^{\text{cond}}(x) = |\phi(x)|^2$. The main result is stated in Theorem 5.

Theorem 5. Suppose the single-particle operator $(-\Delta + V_{trap}(x))$ contains a gap between its ground state and first excited state, and the interaction $v_N = N^{3\beta}v_N(Nx)$ for $\beta \leq 1/6$ where v(x) is smooth and bounded (we also assume that $\hat{v} \geq 0$). Then for g > 0 small enough, there exist $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}_V^1(\phi_\perp)$, with $\|\phi\|_{L^2} = 1$, and $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1(\phi_\perp))$, with $\|k\|_{op} < 1$ which solve the coupled system:

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h_0(x,y) & -\theta(x,y) \\ -\overline{\theta(x,y)} & h_0^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(y) \\ \overline{\phi(y)} \end{pmatrix} \right\} = \mu \begin{pmatrix} \phi(x) \\ \overline{\phi(x)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mu > 0, \quad (4.5.1)$$

for operators h, θ given by (4.4.7), (4.4.8), and

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k = 0, \quad k : \phi_{\perp} \to \phi_{\perp},$$

$$(4.5.2)$$

for h, Θ given by (4.4.5), (4.4.6).

Remark 12. For simplicity, we have written the equation for k as it holds on the space ϕ_{\perp} . This allows us to avoid including the Lagrange multiplier term $\lambda \otimes_{s} \phi$ in the equation (4.5.2) for k, as we did in Chapter 3.

The iteration provides solutions $\{\phi_n, k_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ to a sequence of simpler minimization problems. We show that this sequence converges strongly (in \mathfrak{h} and $\mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{h})$) to weak solutions ϕ , k of the nonlinear system. To this end, define the following shorthand for the operators h, Θ in this sequence:

$$h[\phi_n, k_n] := h[n],$$

as well as

$$\Theta[\phi_n, k_n] := \Theta[n].$$

The function $\phi_0(x)$ is a constrained minimizer of the Hartree equation (i.e., $E_H[\phi]$), and the formula for the Lagrange multiplier of this equation, μ_0 , is the same as the chemical potential as determined by Fetter's scheme. The kernel k_1 is computed by minimizing $\mathscr{E}[\phi_0, k]$ on the space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators orthogonal to ϕ_0 , $\mathfrak{B}(\phi_{\perp})$, so that solutions $\phi_0(x)$, $k_1(x, y)$ are the solutions to the simpler system found in the previous chapter. The general iteration step uses k_n , ϕ_n to find minimizer k_{n+1} of $\mathscr{E}[k;h[n],\Theta[n]]$, ϕ_{n+1} as a minimizer of the total functional \mathscr{E}_{tot} , and μ_{n+1} which depends on both ϕ_{n+1} , k_{n+1} . The steps of the iteration scheme are summarized below:

• **Zeroth iterate:** Set $k_0 = 0$, and solve the constrained minimization problem

$$\min_{\|\phi\|=1} E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi], \quad \text{for} \quad \phi_0 \in \mathfrak{h}.$$

This entails that ϕ_0 satisfies $\delta E_{\rm H}/\delta \overline{\phi} = \mu_0 \phi$, which gives the Hartree equation

$$\varepsilon_0\phi_0(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_0|^2)(x)\phi_0(x) = \mu_0\phi_0(x).$$

The constant μ_0 is given by

$$\mu_0 = \iint dx dy \{ \overline{\phi_0(x)} \varepsilon_0(x, y) \phi_0(y) + |\phi_0(x)|^2 v_N(x-y) |\phi_0(y)|^2 \}.$$

• (n+1)-th iterate: By the previous step, we have $\{\phi_n, k_n, \mu_n\}$, The operators $h[n], \Theta[n]$

are then defined by the formulas

$$h[n] := \left(\varepsilon_{0}(x,y) - \mu_{n}\right) + \overline{\phi_{n}(y)}\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\phi_{n}(x) + \left(\upsilon_{N}*|\phi_{n}|^{2}\right)(y)\delta(x-y) + \frac{1}{N}\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}{\delta-k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}\right\}(x,y) + \frac{1}{N}\int dx'\upsilon_{N}(x-x')\left\{\frac{k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}{\delta-k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}\right\}(x',x')\delta(x-y) \Theta[n] := \upsilon_{N}(x,y)\left\{\phi_{n}(x)\phi_{n}(y) + \frac{1}{N}\left(\frac{k_{n}}{\delta-k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}\right)\right\}.$$

$$(4.5.3)$$

We solve the variational problem for $k = k_{n+1}$:

$$\min_{\|k\|_{\mathrm{op}}<1} \left\{ E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi_n] + \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k; h[n], \Theta[n]], \quad k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1) \right\},$$
(4.5.4)

and next the variational problem for $\phi = \phi_{n+1}$:

$$\min_{\|\phi\|=1} \Big\{ E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi] + \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k_{n+1}; h[\phi, k_{n+1}], \Theta[\phi, k_{n+1}]], \quad \phi \in \mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1} \Big\}.$$
(4.5.5)

The minimization (4.5.4) implies that k_{n+1} solves the Riccati equation

$$h[n]k_{n+1} + k_{n+1}h[n]^T + \Theta[n] + k \circ \overline{\Theta[n]} \circ k = 0, \qquad (4.5.6)$$

for the operators

$$n^{\text{pair}}[n+1] := (\delta - k_{n+1} \circ \overline{k}_{n+1})^{-1} \circ (k_{n+1} \circ \overline{k}_{n+1}),$$
$$m^{\text{pair}}[n+1] := (\delta - k_{n+1} \circ \overline{k}_{n+1})^{-1} \circ k_{n+1}.$$

The minimization (4.5.5) yields the function ϕ_{n+1} which satisfies

$$\mu_{n+1}\phi_{n+1}(x) = \left(\varepsilon_0 + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(x)\right)\phi_{n+1}(x) + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{n^{\text{pair}}[n+1](x,y)\phi_{n+1}(y)\} + \frac{1}{N}\int dy \{m[n+1](x,y)\overline{\phi_{n+1}(y)}\},$$
(4.5.7)

where the constant μ_{n+1} is given by

$$\mu_{n+1} = \int dx dy \,\overline{\phi_{n+1}(x)} \left(\varepsilon_0(x,y) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2) \delta(x-y) \right) \phi_{n+1}(y) \\ + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy \{ \overline{\phi_{n+1}(x)} \left(n^{\text{pair}}[n+1](x,y) + (\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(x) \delta(x-y) \right) \phi_{n+1}(y) \} \\ + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy \{ \overline{\phi_{n+1}(x)} m^{\text{pair}}[n+1](x,y) \overline{\phi_{n+1}(y)} \}.$$
(4.5.8)

Remark 13. (Solutions to the Riccati equation for k_n). Suppose the functions ϕ_n, k_n which solve (4.5.5), (4.5.4) are given, in addition to the operators $h[n], \Theta[n]$. We review some conclusions about minimizers of the energy functional $\mathscr{E}[k; h[n], \Theta[n]]$ by which we generate the function k_{n+1} (for a complete treatment of this, see Chapter 3). Namely, if the following operator estimate holds for all $e \in (\phi_n)_{\perp}$:

$$\left\{h[n](e,\overline{e}) - \left|\Theta[n](\overline{e},\overline{e})\right|\right\} \ge c \|e\|^2, \quad c > 0, \quad e \in (\phi_n)_{\perp}, \tag{4.5.9}$$

then a Hilbert-Schmidt minimizer of \mathscr{E} , denoted $k_{n+1} \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$, with $||k_{n+1}||_{op} < 1$, exists. The proof of this statement consists in constructing an orthonormal basis $\{e_j(n+1)\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathfrak{h}_V^1$ of $(\phi_n)_{\perp}$, and a sequence $\{z_j(n+1)\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \ell^2$, such that

$$k_{n+1}(x,y) = \sum_{j} z_j(n+1) \{ e_j(x) e_j(y) \}.$$
(4.5.10)

(We will refer to the basis as $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ since its dependence on n+1 is clear from the context and does not play a role in the current argument). Plugging this expansion into the trace formula which defines \mathscr{E} , and setting $\partial \mathscr{E} / \partial \overline{z_j} = 0$, yields two possible choices of coefficient, $z_j^{(\pm)}$ for every j, where $|z_j^+| < 1$ and $|z_j^-| > 1$. The formula for z_j^+ is of interest since this is the solution which guarantees $||k||_{op} < 1$:

$$z_{j}^{+}(n+1) = \frac{\Theta[n](e_{j}, e_{j})}{h[n](e_{j}, \overline{e_{j}}) + \sqrt{h[n](e_{j}, \overline{e_{j}})^{2} - |\Theta[n](e_{j}, e_{j})|^{2}}}.$$
(4.5.11)

This allows us to write the energy $\mathscr{E}[k_{n+1};h[n],\Theta[n]]$ as

$$\mathscr{E}\left[k_{n+1};h[n],\Theta[n]\right] = \mathscr{E}\left(\{z_j^+\},\{e_j\}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\{h(\overline{e_j},e_j) - \sqrt{h^2(\overline{e_j},e_j) - |\Theta(\overline{e_j},\overline{e_j})|^2}\right\} \\ := -\frac{1}{2}\sum_j \mathscr{F}(e_j).$$

(4.5.12)

The existence proof for k_{n+1} proceeds by maximizing $\sum_{j} \mathscr{F}(e_{j})$ over all orthogonal frames $\{e_{j}\}$. The expression for \mathscr{F} given above implies that $h(\overline{e}, e)$ is bounded for any maximizing sequence in $(\operatorname{span}\{e_{i}\}_{i=1}^{j})_{\perp}$, which allows us to extract a strongly convergent subsequence in $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})$ to produce $e_{j}(x)$. Having constructed the orthonormal basis and coefficients, the proof of existence for k_{n+1} is then complete.

Remark 14. (Solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger-type equation for ϕ_{n+1}) The existence of constrained minimizer ϕ_{n+1} of

$$\min_{\|\phi\|=1} \Big\{ E_{\mathrm{H}}[\phi] + \frac{1}{N} \mathscr{E}[k_{n+1}; h[\phi, k_{n+1}], \Theta[\phi, k_{n+1}]], \quad \phi \in \mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1} \Big\},$$
(4.5.13)

will follow the usual proof for finding a minimizer of the Hartree functional $E_{\rm H}[\phi]$, noting that the additional terms introduced by the functional \mathscr{E} are bounded when k_{n+1} is fixed with $||k_{n+1}||_{\rm op} < 1$.

We now utilize the results of these remarks to prove Theorem 5. This is done by constructing the sequence of solutions $\{\phi_n, k_n\}$ to the simpler minimization problems (4.5.5), (4.5.4), and proving that these solutions converge to a solution of the nonlinear system (4.4.9). Several preliminary results are required for this, and are presented in the following order: Lemma 7 is a general result on the stability of spectral gaps for relatively-bounded perturbations of self-adjoint operators. It is an extension of the work of Kato [35], which we quote from Tretter, Cuenin [14]; the proof of this lemma is not provided here, a concise version of it can be found in [14]. Lemma 8 and its corollary prove that $\rho^{\text{pair}}[n]$ defines $(v_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n])$ as a bounded operator on L^2 for all n. The discussion which follows Lemma 8 provides the existence of the sequence of functions $\{\phi_n, k_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ which solve (4.5.5), (4.5.4). This requires showing that it is possible go from one step of the iteration to the next, which means we must show that the sequence $\Theta[n]$ remains uniformly bounded in Hilbert-Schmidt and operator norm, and that the gap condition (4.5.9) holds uniformly for all steps. These estimates allow us to take strong limits of the operators $\Theta[n]$, $n^{\text{pair}}[n]$ as $n \to \infty$ in (4.5.5), (4.5.4) to construct solutions to the coupled system in Theorem 5.

The next lemma is given without proof (see [14]).

Lemma 7. Let *T* be a self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert space \mathfrak{h} and let *A* be bounded, i.e., $||Ax|| \le a||x||$ for all $x \in \mathfrak{h}$ with $a \ge 0$. Then if *T* has a spectral gap $(\alpha_T, \beta_T) \subset \mathbb{R}$, i.e., $\sigma(T) \cap (\alpha_T, \beta_T) = \emptyset$ with $\alpha_T, \beta_T \in \sigma(T)$, and if

$$2a < \beta_T - \alpha_T$$
,

then T + A has a stable spectral free strip $(\alpha_{T+A}, \beta_{T+A}) + i\mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{C}$, *i.e.*,

$$\sigma(T+sA) \cap \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \alpha_{T+A} < \operatorname{Re}(z) < \beta_{T+A}\} = \emptyset, \quad s \in [0,1],$$

with

$$\alpha_{T+A} := \alpha_T + a, \quad \beta_{T+A} := \beta_T - a.$$

Lemma 8. Suppose that $k_n \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$ solves (4.5.4) with $||k_n||_{op} < 1$, where the operators h[n-1] and $\Theta[n-1]$ are given by formula (4.5.20). Also, suppose that the operator

 $\Theta[n-1]$ is Hilbert-Schmidt. Then the density

$$\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) = \left(\frac{k_n \circ \overline{k_n}}{\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n}}\right)(x, x),$$

satisfies $\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \in L^3(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. In particular,

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\text{pair}}[n]\|_{L^3} \le C \left\| \frac{k_n}{\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n}} \right\|_{\text{HS}} \cdot \left(\left\| \boldsymbol{\Theta}[n-1] \right\|_{\text{HS}} + \mu[n-1] \right), \tag{4.5.14}$$

where C is some constant independent of n.

Proof. Define the operator kernel:

$$\Psi(x,y) := \left(\frac{k_n}{(\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n})^{1/2}}\right)(x,y),$$

so that $\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) = (\psi \circ \overline{\psi})(x, x)$. Then using Hölder's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla \rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x)|^{(3/2)} &= \left| \nabla_x \int dz \{ \psi(x,z) \overline{\psi(z,x)} \} \right|^{3/2} \\ &\leq \left(\int dz |\nabla_x \psi(x,z)|^2 \right)^{3/4} \left(\int dz |\psi(x,z)|^2 \right)^{3/4} \\ &= \left(\int dz |\nabla_x \psi(x,z)|^2 \right)^{3/4} \left(\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \right)^{3/4}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.5.15)$$

Using Holder's inequality again, (p = 4/3, q = 4) gives:

$$\int dx |\nabla \rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x)|^{3/2} \leq \int dx \left(\int dz |\nabla \psi(x,z)|^2 \right)^{3/4} \left(\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \right)^{3/4}$$

$$\leq \left(\iint dx dz |\nabla_x \psi(x,z)|^2 \right)^{3/4} \left(\int dx \left(\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \right)^3 \right)^{1/4},$$
(4.5.16)

The Sobolev embedding $W^{1,3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3) \subseteq L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$ gives (up to a constant)

$$\left(\int \mathrm{d}x \rho^{\mathrm{pair}}[n](x)^3\right)^{1/3} \leq \|\nabla \rho^{\mathrm{pair}}[n]\|_{L^{3/2}}.$$

Combining this with the previous equation, we have

$$\left(\int \mathrm{d}x \rho^{\mathrm{pair}}[n](x)^3\right)^{1/3} \leq \left(\iint \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}z |\nabla_x \psi(x,z)|^2\right).$$

Now, we know that

$$\mathscr{E}(k_n) = \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n}\right)^{-1} \circ \left(k_n \circ h[n-1] \circ \overline{k_n} + \frac{1}{2}k_n \circ \overline{\Theta[n-1]} + \frac{1}{2}\Theta[n-1] \circ \overline{k_n}\right)\right\} \le 0.$$

So it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left(\iint \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}z |\nabla_x \psi(x,z)|^2 \right) &\leq \mathrm{tr} \left[\psi \circ h[n-1] \circ \overline{\psi} \right] + \mu[n-1] \mathrm{tr} \left[\psi \circ \overline{\psi} \right] \\ &\leq \left| \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \left(\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n} \right)^{-1} \circ \left(\frac{1}{2} k_n \circ \overline{\Theta[n-1]} + \frac{1}{2} \Theta[n-1] \circ \overline{k_n} \right) \right\} \right| \\ &+ \mu[n-1] \mathrm{tr} \left[\psi \circ \overline{\psi} \right] \\ &\leq \left\| \left(\frac{k_n}{\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n}} \right) \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \cdot \left\| \Theta[n-1] \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}} + \mu[n-1] \left\| \left(\frac{k_n}{\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n}} \right) \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}}. \end{split}$$
(4.5.17)

This completes the proof.

Corollary 3. Under the assumptions of Lemma 8, $\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \in L^2$ with

$$\|\rho^{\text{pair}}[n]\|_{L^{2}} \leq \left\|\frac{k_{n}}{\delta - k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}}\right\|_{\text{HS}} \cdot \left(\left\|\Theta[n-1]\right\|_{\text{HS}} + \mu[n-1]\right)^{3/4}.$$
(4.5.18)

Proof. Interpolation gives

$$\| \boldsymbol{\rho}^{\mathrm{pair}}[n] \|_{L^2} \le \| \boldsymbol{\rho}^{\mathrm{pair}}[n] \|_{L^3}^{3/4} \| \boldsymbol{\rho}^{\mathrm{pair}}[n] \|_{L^1}^{1/4},$$

and

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\mathrm{pair}}[n]\|_{L^{1}} = \mathrm{tr}\Big(\frac{k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}}{\delta - k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}}\Big) \leq \|k_{n}\|_{\mathrm{op}}\Big\|\frac{k_{n}}{\delta - k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}}\Big\|_{\mathrm{HS}},$$

which proves the statement.

Completing the iteration 4.5.1

The iteration depends on verifying the gap condition at every step, i.e., showing that there exists c > 0 independent of *n* such that

$$h[n](e,\overline{e}) - |\Theta[n](\overline{e},\overline{e})| \ge c ||e||, \quad e \in (\phi_n)_{\perp}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

$$(4.5.19)$$

We start with $\phi_0(x)$, which is a solution to the Hartree equation:

$$\varepsilon_0\phi_0(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_0|^2)(x)\phi_0(x) = \mu_0\phi_0(x).$$

The constant μ_0 is given by

$$\mu_0 = \iint dx dy \{ \overline{\phi_0(x)} \varepsilon_0(x, y) \phi_0(y) + |\phi_0(x)|^2 v_N(x-y) |\phi_0(y)|^2 \},$$

and the operators $h[0], \Theta[0]$ are defined by

$$h[0] := \varepsilon_0(x, y) + \overline{\phi_0(y)} \upsilon_N(x - y)\phi_0(x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_0|^2)(y)\delta(x - y) - \mu_0,$$

$$\Theta[0] := \upsilon_N(x, y) \Big\{ \phi_0(x)\phi_0(y) \Big\}.$$
(4.5.20)

In particular, the operator $\Theta[0]$ is Hilbert-Schmidt, with norm

$$\|\Theta[0]\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \le g N^{3\beta} \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\phi_0\|_{L^2}^2,$$

(we do not require $\Theta[0]$ to be small in this scheme, only that it is bounded; see equation (4.5.40)). We also have – using the assumption $\hat{v} \ge 0$ for the Fourier transform of v:

$$h[0](e,\bar{e}) - |\Theta[0](\bar{e},\bar{e})| \ge \varepsilon_0(e,\bar{e}) + \iint dxdy \{\upsilon_N(x-y)|\phi_0(x)|^2|e(y)|^2\} - \mu_0 ||e||^2.$$

The gap condition for h[0], $\Theta[0]$ follows from this inequality, because $\phi_0(x)$, as the minimizer of $\mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi)$, is also the ground state of the linear Hartree operator, H_{Hartree} , defined by

$$H_{\text{Hartree}} := \varepsilon_0(x, y) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_0|^2)(x) \delta(x - y).$$

 H_{Hartree} has a discrete spectrum, with a gap between its lowest and first eigenvalues, since it is a compact perturbation of $\varepsilon_0(x, y)$. More specifically, using Young's convolution inequality, and the compact Sobolev embedding $L^4(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset \mathfrak{h}^1_V$,

$$\|(v_N * |\phi_0|^2)\|_{L^2} \le \|v_N\|_{L^1} \||\phi_0|^2\|_{L^2} = \|v_N\|_{L^1} \|\phi_0\|_{L^4} \le \|v_N\|_{L^1} \|\phi_0\|_{\mathfrak{h}^1_V}, \quad (4.5.21)$$

i.e.,

$$\|(\boldsymbol{v}_N * |\boldsymbol{\phi}_0|^2)\|_{L^2} \le \|\boldsymbol{v}_N\|_{L^1} \cdot \mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_0) \le g \cdot \mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_0).$$
(4.5.22)

This means that the perturbation to ε_0 can be made arbitrarily small in L^2 by making *g* small.

For the induction step, assume that there exists c > 0 and C > 0 such that for s = 0, 1, 2, ..., n,

$$\begin{cases} \left\| \boldsymbol{\Theta}[s] \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \leq CN^{3\beta}, \\ \mu[s] \leq C, \quad \text{for} \quad s = 0, 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ h[s](e, \overline{e}) - \left| \boldsymbol{\Theta}[s](\overline{e}, \overline{e}) \right| \geq c \|e\|^2, \quad e \in (\phi_s)_{\perp}, \end{cases}$$
(4.5.23)

From these assumptions, we prove that

$$\begin{cases} \|\Theta[n+1]\|_{\rm HS} < CN^{3\beta}, \\ \\ \mu[n+1] < C, \\ \\ h[n+1](e,\overline{e}) - |\Theta[n+1](e,e)| \ge c \|e\|^2, \quad e \in (\phi_{n+1})_{\perp}. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.24)

The equation for k_{n+1} on the space $\mathfrak{h}(\phi_{\perp})$ is

$$h[n] \circ k_{n+1} + k_{n+1} \circ h[n]^T + \Theta[n] + k_{n+1} \circ \overline{\Theta[n]} \circ k_{n+1} = 0, \qquad (4.5.25)$$

and the equation for ϕ_{n+1} is

$$\mu_{n+1}\phi_{n+1}(x) = \varepsilon_0(\phi_{n+1}, x) + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2)(x)\phi_{n+1}(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(x)\phi_{n+1}(x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N n^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\overline{\phi_{n+1}}, x) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\overline{\phi_{n+1}}, x),$$
(4.5.26)

with the operators

$$h[n] := \varepsilon_{0}(x, y) + \overline{\phi_{n}(y)} \upsilon_{N}(x - y)\phi_{n}(x) + (\upsilon_{N} * |\phi_{n}|^{2})(y)\delta(x - y) - \mu_{n}$$

+ $\frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_{N} n^{\text{pair}}[n])(x, y) + \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_{N} * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n])(x)\delta(x - y),$ (4.5.27)
 $\Theta[n] := \upsilon_{N}(x - y) \Big\{ \phi_{n}(x)\phi_{n}(y) + \frac{1}{N} m^{\text{pair}}[n](x, y) \Big\}.$

First we show that $\|\Theta[n+1]\|_{\text{HS}} < CN^{3\beta}$. The induction assumption allows us to construct k_{n+1} as a minimizer of $\mathscr{E}[\phi_n, k; h[n], \Theta[n]]$. The formula for $m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]$ is:

$$m^{\text{pair}}[n+1](x,y) = \sum_{j} \left(\frac{z_j}{1-|z_j|^2}\right) e_j(x) e_j(y).$$
(4.5.28)

Here $\{e_j(n+1)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal basis of $(\phi_n)_{\perp}$, which is determined as part of the construction of k_{n+1} . The formula for the coefficient $z_j(n+1)$ gives

$$\left|\frac{z_j(n+1)}{1-|z_j(n+1)|^2}\right|^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{|\Theta[n](e_j, e_j)|^2}{h[n]^2(e_j, \overline{e_j}) - |\Theta[n](e_j, e_j)|^2}\right) \le \frac{1}{4c^2} |\Theta[n](e_j, e_j)|^2, \quad (4.5.29)$$

where the inequality follows since we assume the gap condition for the operators h[n], $\Theta[n]$. Thus,

$$||m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]||_{\text{HS}} \le \frac{1}{2c} ||\Theta[n]||_{\text{HS}} \le \frac{C}{2c} N^{3\beta}.$$

From this, recalling that $v_N(x) = g N^{3\beta} v(N^{\beta}x)$ for $\beta \le 1/6$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_{N}m^{\text{pair}})[n+1]\|_{\text{HS}} &\leq g\frac{1}{2c}\frac{N^{3\beta}}{N}\|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}}\|\Theta[n]\|_{\text{HS}} \leq \frac{gC^{2}}{2c}\|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}}\left(\frac{N^{6\beta}}{N}\right), \\ \|\frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_{N}n^{\text{pair}})[n+1]\|_{\text{HS}} &\leq \|\frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_{N}m^{\text{pair}})[n+1]\|_{\text{HS}} \leq \frac{gC^{2}}{2c}\|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}}\left(\frac{N^{6\beta}}{N}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.30)

and, using Corollary (3) with Young's convolution inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\frac{1}{N}(v_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])\|_{L^2} &\leq \frac{g}{N} \|\rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1]\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \frac{gC}{2c} \frac{N^{3\beta}}{N} \cdot \left(\left\| \Theta[n-1] \right\|_{\text{HS}} + \mu[n-1] \right)^{3/4} \\ &\leq \frac{gC^2}{c} \left(\frac{N^{6\beta}}{N} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.31)

It is now clear that for $\beta \le 1/6$ the constant g > 0 can be chosen at the start so that

$$\|\Theta[n+1]\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^2 < CN^{3\beta},$$

because,

$$\begin{split} \|\Theta[n+1]\|_{\mathrm{HS}} &\leq g N^{3\beta} \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\phi_{n+1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{N} \|(\upsilon_{N} m^{\mathrm{pair}}[n+1])\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \\ &\leq g \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} \Big\{ N^{3\beta} + \frac{C^{2}}{2c} \Big\}. \end{split}$$
(4.5.32)

We remind the reader that the inductive argument only requires $\Theta[n+1]$ to be bounded (not small), and that the particle number *N* is large but fixed throughout the entire chapter.

We use this to show that $\mu[n+1] < C$, where

$$\mu_{n+1} = \varepsilon_0(\phi_{n+1}, \overline{\phi_{n+1}}) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N n^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\phi_{n+1}, \overline{\phi_{n+1}}) + (\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\overline{\phi_{n+1}}, \overline{\phi_{n+1}}) + \iint dx dy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) |\phi_{n+1}(y)|^2 + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y) + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y$$

Indeed, ϕ_{n+1} minimizes the functional

$$\tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi) := \varepsilon_0(\phi, \overline{\phi}) + \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_N n^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\phi, \overline{\phi}) + \frac{1}{2} (\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\overline{\phi}, \overline{\phi}) + \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon_N (x-y) |\phi(y)|^2 + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi(x)|^2 \upsilon_N (x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y)$$

$$(4.5.34)$$

(the functional $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$ consists of only the terms of $\mathscr{E}_{\text{tot}}[\phi, k]$ with a dependence on ϕ), and

$$\tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}) = \mu_{n+1} - \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) |\phi_{n+1}(y)|^2 - \frac{1}{2N} (\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\overline{\phi_{n+1}}, \overline{\phi_{n+1}}).$$
(4.5.35)

Since ϕ_{n+1} is the minimizer of $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$, we have

$$\tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}) \leq \tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{0})$$

$$= \mu_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy |\phi_{0}(x)|^{2} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) |\phi_{0}(y)|^{2} + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi_{0}(x)|^{2} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_{N} n^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\phi_{0}, \overline{\phi_{0}}) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_{N} m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\overline{\phi_{0}}, \overline{\phi_{0}}).$$
(4.5.36)

Combining (4.5.35) and (4.5.36) gives,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{n+1} &\leq \mu_0 - \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy |\phi_0(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) |\phi_0(y)|^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) |\phi_{n+1}(y)|^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\overline{\phi_0}, \overline{\phi_0}) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\overline{\phi_{n+1}}, \overline{\phi_{n+1}}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} (\upsilon_N n^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) (\phi_0, \overline{\phi_0}) + \frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi_0(x)|^2 \upsilon_N(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y). \end{split}$$

$$(4.5.37)$$

Using (4.5.30) and (4.5.31), we conclude that

$$\mu_{n+1} \leq \mu_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi_{0}) \cdot \|(\upsilon_{N} * |\phi_{0}|^{2})\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}) \cdot \|(\upsilon_{N} * |\phi_{n+1}|^{2})\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{2gC}{c} \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{N} \iint dxdy |\phi_{0}(x)|^{2} \upsilon_{N}(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1](y) \leq \mu_{0} + \frac{g}{2} (\mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi_{0}))^{2} + \frac{g}{2} (\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}))^{2} + \frac{2gC}{c} \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{gC^{2}}{Nc} \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi_{0}).$$

$$(4.5.38)$$

where we use (Sobolev and Young)

$$\iint dxdy |\phi_0(x)|^2 v_N(x-y) |\phi_0(y)|^2 \le \mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi_0) \cdot \|(v_N * |\phi_0|^2)\|_{L^2}$$

$$\iint dxdy |\phi_{n+1}(x)|^2 v_N(x-y) |\phi_{n+1}(y)|^2 \le \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}) \cdot \|(v_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2)\|_{L^2},$$
(4.5.39)

and the following L^2 bound (Young's inequality and the Sobolev embedding, see equation

(4.5.21))

$$\|(v_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2)\|_{L^2} \le \|v_N\|_{L^1} \cdot \|\phi_{n+1}\|_{\mathfrak{h}^1_V} \le g \cdot \tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}),$$

and the last line of (4.5.38) follows from

$$\frac{1}{N} \iint dx dy |\phi_0(x)|^2 v_N(x-y) \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(y) \le \frac{g}{N} \cdot \mathscr{E}_{\text{Hartree}}(\phi_0) \|\rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1]\|_{L^2}.$$

This shows that μ_{n+1} modifies μ_0 by a correction of order $\mathscr{O}(g)$. We can also say that μ_{n+1} modifies the ground state of ε_0 by a correction with order $\mathscr{O}(g)$, using (4.5.22))

Finally, to show estimate (4.5.19), observe that for any $e(x) \in (\phi_n)_{\perp}$,

$$h[n+1](e,\overline{e}) - |\Theta[n+1](\overline{e},\overline{e})| \ge h'[n+1](e,\overline{e}) - \mu_{n+1} - \frac{1}{N} |(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\overline{e},\overline{e})|,$$
(4.5.40)

for the operator h'[n+1] defined by

$$h'[n+1] := \varepsilon_0 + (\upsilon_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2)(x)\delta(x-y) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N n^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(x,y) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(x)\delta(x-y).$$
(4.5.41)

Also observe that ϕ_{n+1} satisfies the self-adjoint operator matrix equation

$$\begin{pmatrix} h'[n+1] & \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) \\ \frac{1}{N}\overline{(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])} & h'[n+1] \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{n+1} \\ \overline{\phi_{n+1}} \end{pmatrix} = \mu_{n+1}\begin{pmatrix} \phi_{n+1} \\ \overline{\phi_{n+1}} \end{pmatrix}. \quad (4.5.42)$$

The rest of the argument follows by showing that: (i) ϕ_{n+1} which minimizes $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi)$ is the ground state of the operator in (4.5.42); and (ii) the higher eigenstates of (4.5.42), which take the form $(e, \bar{e})^T$, for $e(x) \in (\phi_{n+1})_{\perp}$, and satisfy

$$\begin{pmatrix} h'[n+1] & \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) \\ \frac{1}{N}\overline{(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])} & h'[n+1] \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} e \\ \overline{e} \end{pmatrix} = \lambda(e) \begin{pmatrix} e \\ \overline{e} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda(e) \ge \mu_{n+1},$$

$$(4.5.43)$$

are separated from μ_{n+1} , which has no degeneracy, i.e.,

$$\lambda(e) - \mu_{n+1} \ge \delta, \quad e \in (\phi_{n+1})_{\perp}, \quad \text{for} \quad \delta > 0.$$

The $\lambda(e)$ are given by

$$\lambda(e) = h'[n+1](e,\bar{e}) + \frac{1}{N}(v_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])(\bar{e},\bar{e}).$$
(4.5.44)

Both of these arguments follow from the fact that the matrix in equations (4.5.42), (4.5.43) is a perturbation of the diagonal matrix diag(ε_0 , ε_0). Specifically,

$$\begin{pmatrix} h'[n+1] & \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) \\ \frac{1}{N}\overline{(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])} & h'[n+1] \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_0 & 0 \\ 0 & \varepsilon_0 \end{pmatrix} + M'[n+1] \quad (4.5.45)$$

for the matrix $M'[n+1] = M_1[n+1] + M_2[n+1]$ with

$$M_1[n+1] := \operatorname{diag}\left((\upsilon_N * |\phi_{n+1}|^2) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N n^{\operatorname{pair}}) + \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N * \rho^{\operatorname{pair}})\right),$$

and

$$M_2[n+1] := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}) \\ \frac{1}{N}(\overline{\upsilon_N m^{\text{pair}}}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The perturbation M'[n+1] is bounded in operator norm by

$$\|M'[n+1]\|_{\rm op} \le g \cdot \tilde{\mathscr{E}}(\phi_{n+1}) + g \|\upsilon\|_{L^{\infty}} C, \quad \text{for} \quad C < \infty.$$
(4.5.46)

The first term of this operator bound comes from Young's inequality (i.e., equation (4.5.38)). The second term in (4.5.46) meanwhile comes from (4.5.30). The important feature is that the operator bound for M[n+1] can be made as small as desired by choosing g small enough.

At this point, we invoke the perturbation lemma, Lemma 7, in order to claim that the spectrum

$$\sigma \begin{pmatrix} h'[n+1] & \frac{1}{N}(\upsilon_N \cdot m^{\text{pair}}[n+1]) \\ \frac{1}{N}\overline{(\upsilon_N \cdot m^{\text{pair}}[n+1])} & h'[n+1] \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.5.47)

is a perturbation of the spectrum $\sigma(\varepsilon_0)$. In particular, for *g* small enough we can guarantee that μ_{n+1} is the smallest element of this set, since it is the only element which is in a neighborhood of size *gC* of the ground state of ε_0 (where *C* is some constant).

It follows that

$$\lambda(e) - \mu_{n+1} \ge \delta - 2 \|M'[n+1]\|_{\mathrm{op}},$$

for all $e \in (\phi_{n+1})_{\perp}$, where δ is the size of the gap for the operator ε_0 . Since $||M'[n+1]||_{op}$ can be made arbitrarily small by making g small enough, we can choose the constants g, c to be small enough so that $\lambda(e) - \mu_{n+1} > c$. This completes the proof of existence for the sequence $\{\phi_n, k_n\}$. \Box

Theorem 6. Suppose the single-particle operator $(-\Delta + V_{trap}(x))$ contains a gap between its ground state and first excited state. Then for g < 1 small enough, and the interaction $\upsilon_N = N^{3\beta} \upsilon_N(Nx)$ for $\beta \leq 1/6$ where $\upsilon(x)$ is smooth and bounded (we also assume that $\widehat{\upsilon} \geq 0$), there exists $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}^1_V$, with $\|\phi\|_{L^2} = 1$, and $k \in \mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}^1_V(\phi_{\perp}), \mathfrak{h}^1_V(\phi_{\perp}))$, with $\|k\|_{op} < 1$ which solve the coupled system

$$n^{\text{pair}} = (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ (k \circ \overline{k}), \qquad (4.5.48)$$

$$m^{\text{pair}} = (\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1} \circ k, \qquad (4.5.49)$$

$$h \circ k + k \circ h^{T} + \Theta + k \circ \overline{\Theta} \circ k = 0, \quad k \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{h}_{V}^{1}), \, \|k\|_{\mathrm{op}} < 1, \tag{4.5.50}$$

and

$$\int dy \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} h_0(x,y) & -\theta(x,y) \\ -\overline{\theta(x,y)} & h_0^T(x,y) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(y) \\ \overline{\phi(y)} \end{pmatrix} \right\} = \mu \begin{pmatrix} \phi(x) \\ \overline{\phi(x)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mu > 0, \quad \|\phi\| = 1. \quad (4.5.51)$$

Proof. Since the gap condition holds for every step of the iteration, the sequence $\{\phi_n, k_n\}$ determined by the minimization problems (4.5.5) and (4.5.4) exists, with $\|\phi_n\| = 1$ and $\|k_n\|_{\text{HS}} < C$, $\|(\delta - k_n \circ \overline{k_n})^{-1}\|_{\text{op}} < C$ for all *n* and some *C*. The sequence $\{\mu_n\}$ is also uniformly bounded as a result of the previous theorem. Since we also have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{\overline{k_{n}}\circ\varepsilon_{0}\circ k_{n}\right\} \leq \left|\operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta-\overline{k_{n}}\circ k_{n}\right)^{-1}\circ\left(\overline{k_{n}}\circ\varepsilon_{0}\circ k_{n}\right)\right\}\right|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\left|\operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta-\overline{k_{n}}\circ k_{n}\right)^{-1}\circ\left\{\overline{k_{n}}\circ\Theta[n-1]+\overline{\Theta[n-1]}\circ k_{n}\right\}\right\}\right| \quad (4.5.52)$$

$$+ \mu_{n}\operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\delta-\overline{k_{n}}\circ k_{n}\right)^{-1}\circ\left(\overline{k_{n}}\circ k_{n}\right)\right\}\right|,$$

the sequence $\{k_n\}$ is uniformly bounded in $\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1, \mathfrak{h}_V^1)$. Because $\{\phi_n\}$ and $\{k_n\}$ are uniformly bounded in \mathfrak{h}_V^1 , $\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$, we can find some subsequence (again denoted $\{\phi_n\}$ and $\{k_n\}$) which converges weakly in \mathfrak{h}_V^1 , $(\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h}_V^1)$ respectively). Since \mathfrak{h}_V^1 is compactly embedded in $L_V^2 \cap L_V^4$, we conclude that ϕ_n converges strongly in $L_V^2 \cap L_V^4$ to some ϕ , and k_n converges strongly in $\mathfrak{B}_2(L_V^2)$ to some k.

The following strong limits in $\mathfrak{B}_2(\mathfrak{h})$ therefore hold:

$$\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\phi_{n}(x)\phi_{n}(y) \to \upsilon_{N}(x-y)\phi(x)\phi(y),$$

$$\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k_{n}}{\delta-\overline{k_{n}}\circ k_{n}}\right\} \to \upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k}{\delta-\overline{k}\circ k}\right\},$$

$$\upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}{\delta-k_{n}\circ\overline{k_{n}}}\right\} \to \upsilon_{N}(x-y)\left\{\frac{k\circ\overline{k}}{\delta-k\circ\overline{k}}\right\}.$$
(4.5.53)

We also have the strong limits in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$:

$$(\upsilon_{N} * |\phi_{n}|^{2})(y)\delta(x-y) \to (\upsilon_{N} * |\phi|^{2})(y)\delta(x-y),$$

$$\int dx' \upsilon_{N}(x-x') \left\{ \frac{k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}}{\delta - k_{n} \circ \overline{k_{n}}} \right\} (x',x')\delta(x-y) \to \int dx' \upsilon_{N}(x-x') \left\{ \frac{k \circ \overline{k}}{\delta - k \circ \overline{k}} \right\} (x',x')\delta(x-y),$$

$$(4.5.54)$$

The first, $(v_N * |\phi_n|^2)(y) \delta(x-y) \to (v_N * |\phi|^2)(y) \delta(x-y)$, follows by noticing (via Young's

convolution inequality),

$$\|(v_N * |\phi_n|^2)\|_{L^2} \le \|v_N\|_{L^1} \cdot \||\phi_n|^2\|_{L^2} = \|v_N\|_{L^1} \cdot \|\phi_n\|_{L^4},$$

and so $(\upsilon_N * |\phi_n|^2)(x) \to (\upsilon_N * |\phi|^2)(x)$ strongly in L^2 , since $\phi_n \to \phi$ strongly in $L^4(\mathbb{R}^3)$. The second of these inequalities follows by the fact that $\rho^{\text{pair}}[n](x) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ for all n.

Taking $n \to \infty$ in the equations satisfied by ϕ_n, k_n therefore gives equations (4.5.48) for ϕ, k . Finally, we must check that $k \perp \phi$. Since $k_n(\phi_n, x) = 0$ by construction, we have

$$\|k(\phi, x)\|_{L^2} \le \|k\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \cdot \|\phi - \phi_n\|_{L^2} + \|k - k_n\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \cdot \|\phi_n\|_{L^2}.$$

By picking *n* sufficiently large, we can bound $||k(\phi, x)||$ by an arbitrarily small quantity. This completes the proof.

Chapter 5

Lee-Huang-Yang model for the periodic Bose gas

5.1 Introduction

We have seen in the previous chapters that the concept of a macroscopic quantum state plays a key role in deriving effective models for the Bose gas. In particular, the interacting many-body Hamiltonian can be expanded around the macroscopic, mean field state. Heuristically, the macroscopic occupation of a single state makes it reasonable to retain only quadratic terms in non-condensate field operators in an approximation to the exact many-body Hamiltonian. This general strategy of approximation is appealing mathematically, since (as demonstrated in previous chapters) the spectrum of this family of Hamiltonians can be described exactly. In addition, when the gas is confined in a trapping potential, we have shown that pair-excitation can be given a precise mathematical foundation.

The subject of the current chapter is the Bose gas trapped in the box of size L, with periodic boundary conditions.

We formulate the non-Hermitian transform for a quadratic approximate Hamiltonian based on the famous model of Lee, Huang and Yang [37, 38]. This model describes low-lying excitations of the hard-sphere Bose gas in a periodic box with volume L^3 , where the condensate is given by the zero-momentum constant function $\phi(x) = 1/\sqrt{L^3}$. The second-quantized approximate Hamiltonian in the momentum basis, parameterized by k in the momentum dual lattice

$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3 := \{k = 2\pi n/L \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}^3\},\$$

is described by:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{LHY}} = 4\pi a\rho N + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho \right\} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} + 4\pi a\rho \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} + a_{k} a_{-k} \right\}.$$
(5.1.1)

To make a connection to the previous chapters, the scattering length a > 0 is related to the constant g by the relation $8\pi a = g$. The Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{LHY} acts on the Fock space orthogonal to the condensate $\{k \neq 0\}$. In this setting we introduce the Fock space operator

$$\mathscr{P} := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k \neq 0} \alpha(k) a_k^* a_{-k}^* \, ,$$

where the real function $\alpha(k)$ defined on the lattice is the Fourier transform of a translationinvariant kernel k(x, y).

We remark that neither the Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{LHY} nor the operator \mathscr{P} commute with the total number operator, given in the momentum basis by (see Section 5.1.3)

$$\mathscr{N} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3} a_k^* a_k.$$

We correspondingly refer to \mathscr{H}_{LHY} and \mathscr{P} as being *non-particle-conserving*. More generally, the Fock space operator \mathscr{O} is non-particle-conserving if $[\mathscr{O}, \mathscr{N}] \neq 0$. The domains of non-particle-conserving operators must be taken to be the Fock space \mathbb{F} , (in contrast to the Fock space with fixed particle number \mathbb{F}_N from previous chapters). The transformed Hamiltonian $\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P})$ is now both non-Hermitian and *unbounded* in the operator norm on \mathbb{F} ; in Section 5.4.1, it is shown that the point spectrum $\sigma_p(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$ is

not equal to the point spectrum $\sigma_p(\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P}))$. Compare this to the more familiar case of a similarity transformation by a bounded (or finite-dimensional) operator, which must preserve the point spectrum of the original operator.

A remark is in order. Namely, the exact many-body Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} given in Section 5.2, equation (5.2.5), from which \mathscr{H}_{LHY} is derived, is manifestly particle-conserving (in the sense that $[\mathscr{H}, \mathscr{N}] = 0$), and so its associated eigenvalue problem may be considered on the Fock space of fixed particle number, \mathbb{F}_N for N finite but large. By contrast, the effective Hamiltonian of Lee Huang and Yang, \mathscr{H}_{LHY} , does not conserve the total number of particles. We will discuss the implications of this for the model of low-lying excitations after summarizing the steps of the approximation arriving at \mathscr{H}_{LHY} .

In the results that follow, we show how the spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} can be identified as a subset of the spectrum of the transformed operator $\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P})$, (i.e., without prior knowledge of $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$). This is a complication introduced by using a non-Hermitian transformation to analyze the Lee-Huang-Yang system. The benefit to this method lies in the fact that the many-body Fock space eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} have a particularly simple expression by utilizing the operator $\exp(\mathscr{P})$. Wu [60] observed that the ground state for \mathscr{H}_{LHY} can be written using the operator \mathscr{P} defined above, via

$$|\Psi_0\rangle = \exp(-\mathscr{P})\frac{(a_0^*)^N}{\sqrt{N!}}|\mathrm{vac}\rangle, \quad N > 0, \tag{5.1.2}$$

where a_0^* is the creation operator for the zero-momentum condensate, and $|vac\rangle$ denotes the Fock space vacuum state (see Section 5.1.3 for details). We extend this result to show that all excited states of \mathcal{H}_{LHY} take the form

$$|\Psi_{E(\vec{n})}\rangle := \exp(-\mathscr{P})|\Psi_{\vec{n}}\rangle, \qquad (5.1.3)$$

where $|\Psi_{\vec{n}}\rangle$ is a *finite superposition* of momentum tensor product states (see equation (1)). This is a unique feature of our approach — the pair-excitation hypothesis yields a simple formula for excited many-body states in a physically transparent basis.

5.1.1 Comparison with other works

It is necessary to remark on the more common method of 'Bogoliubov rotations' for quadratic Hamiltonians, by which the spectrum and excited states of Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{LHY} can be derived [9, 33, 43]. To this end, if the collection $\{a_k, a_k^*\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3}$ denotes the momentum state creation/annihilation operator basis (see Section 5.1.3), then the operators defined by

$$b_k := \cosh(\alpha(k))a_k + \sinh(\alpha(k))a_{-k}^*, \text{ for } 0 \le \alpha(k) < 1$$

satisfy the canonical commutation relations for bosonic operators, and a particular choice of $\alpha(k)$ makes \mathscr{H}_{LHY} diagonal in this new operator basis $\{b_k^*, b_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3}$. I.e.,

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{LHY}} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3} \varepsilon(k) b_k^* b_k \,. \tag{5.1.4}$$

Here, $\{\varepsilon(k)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_L^3} = \sigma(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$. For fixed *N*, *L*, the $\varepsilon(k)$ are discrete, positive, with a gap between the ground state energy and first excited state. This transformation can alternatively be expressed as

$$b_k = \exp(\mathscr{X})a_k \exp(-\mathscr{X}),$$

where \mathscr{X} is the skew-Hermitian operator

$$\mathscr{X} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+}} \alpha(k) (a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} - a_{k} a_{-k}).$$
(5.1.5)

Excited many-body states of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} are given by tensor products of the *b* operators, viz.

$$|\Psi_{\{n_k\}}\rangle := \prod_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+} (b_k^*)^{n_k} |\Psi_0\rangle, \quad n_k \in \mathbb{N} \quad \forall k, \quad \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+} n_k < \infty.$$
(5.1.6)

The ground state in particular exhibits form

$$|\Psi_0\rangle = \exp(\mathscr{X})|0\rangle = \exp(-\mathscr{P})|0\rangle,$$

where $|0\rangle$ is a state such that both $|0\rangle$ and the vacuum state $|vac\rangle$ project onto the same state in the space orthogonal to the condensate. The choice $|0\rangle = (a_0^*)^N / \sqrt{N!}$ gives exactly the formula derived by Wu, equation (5.1.2) above. The fact that \mathscr{H}_{LHY} is diagonal in the operators $\{b_k, b_k^*\}$ leads one to attribute physical significance to them as *quasiparticles*. As far as the computation of observables goes, one may use the operator basis $\{b_k, b_k^*\}$ just as easily as the momentum operators $\{a_k, a_k^*\}$.

The quasiparticle approach is equivalent to the method of pair excitation described in this chapter in the sense that it provides formulas for computing all observables of the system. The reason for developing the alternative method of pair-excitation here (besides the new mathematical structures and analysis involved) is that it emphasizes the pairhypothesis in the structure of many-body states; the non-Hermitian operator involved describes a physical process between the condensate and excited states in momentum space, which stands in contrast to quasiparticle excitations. Equation (5.1.3) holds for all many-body excited states, and emphasizes the role of pairs in the physics of excitations. We discovered in previous chapters that this allowed for an elegant development of the theory for a family of Hamiltonians. The major analogy is with Wu's Hamiltonian in Chapter 3. The eigenstates for that operator were written precisely using pair-excitation. The case here is harder, and can be seen as the simplest extension of this method to quadratic Hamiltonians.

In pursuing a rigorous analysis of the Lee-Huang-Yang model, we do not address the validity of quadratic models for BEC in this work. See [57] for a detailed discussion of these matters in the periodic setting. As such, we rely on the ubiquity of these approximations in many areas of physics for our motivation.

We choose the particular model of Lee, Huang and Yang as the subject of the current work because in our opinion it captures the essential physics of pair excitation in quadratic systems in the most concise fashion. In this vein, the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian describes low-energy two-particle collisions via a delta-function interaction potential and a *scattering length*, a > 0. We note that this introduces a familiar infinite constant term in the Hamiltonian, which will be ignored. Our argument for recovering the spectrum $\sigma_p(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$ from $\sigma_p(\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P}))$ relies on the momentum basis in a nontrivial way — it is unclear how to extend the construction of this chapter, e.g., to the study of \mathscr{H}_{Fetter} in Chapter 3. Our construction, however, still holds for a variety of quadratic Hamiltonians; for example, Bogoliubov adopted the following quadratic Hamiltonian for bosons in the periodic box with a two-body interaction potential v(x) [9,43]

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{Bog}} := \sum_{k} \left(k^2 + \frac{N}{2V} \widehat{v}(k)\right) a_k^* a_k + \frac{N}{2V} \sum_{k} \widehat{v}(k) \left(a_k^* a_{-k}^* + a_k a_{-k}\right), \tag{5.1.7}$$

where $\hat{v}(k)$ denotes the Fourier transform of the interaction potential v(x).

5.1.2 Outline of Chapter

In Section 5.2, we introduce the many-body Hamiltonian and describe the heuristic approximation scheme by which the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian, \mathcal{H}_{LHY} , is derived.

In Section 5.3 we introduce the pair excitation transformation, $\exp(\mathscr{P})$, and provide an exact formula for excited states of the non-unitary transformed Hamiltonian via expansion in the momentum basis.

In Sections (5.4.1) and (5.5) we discuss the spectral theory for the transformed operator

$$\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P})$$

whose spectrum is *not* identical to the spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . This fact necessitates that we take care in identifying the mappings of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} eigenstates among the eigenstates of the transformed operator; they are exactly those eigenstates of the transformed system which are finite superpositions of momentum states.

5.1.3 Preliminaries

Our domain will be the periodic box in 3 dimensions with length *L*, which we denote $B_L = [0, L]^3$, and its volume $|B_L| = L^3$. Unless otherwise noted, all integrals are assumed to be over B_L .

Function spaces on \mathbb{R}^3 or B_L are denoted by lowercase gothic letters, viz.,

$$\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^3) := L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) .$$

An exception is the definition $\phi^{\perp} := \{e \in \mathfrak{h} \mid e \perp \phi\}$ where $\phi \in \mathfrak{h}$ is the condensate wave

function. When considering function spaces for many-particle systems, we will take

$$\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3N}):=L^2_{\rm sym}(\mathbb{R}^{3N}),$$

where the subscript refers to the fact that the functions in this space are symmetric under permutations of the *N* coordinates, $x_1, x_2, ..., x_N \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Operators on \mathfrak{h} are given by greek or roman letters. For example, $\delta(x, y)$ will denote the Dirac mass of the identity operator and Δ is the Laplace operator. The many-body Hamiltonian on the configuration space $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$ is denoted H_N which we define in Section 5.2.

For $f,g \in \mathfrak{h}$ the tensor-product corresponding to $f(x)\overline{g(y)}$ is expressed by $f \otimes g$. The symmetrized tensor product of f,g is

$$f \otimes_{\mathsf{s}} g := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \{ f \otimes g + g \otimes f \} .$$

The bosonic Fock space

We define the Bosonic Fock space, \mathbb{F} , as a direct sum of *n*-particle Hilbert spaces,

via

$$\mathbb{F} := \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}_n$$
; $\mathbb{F}_0 := \mathbb{C}$, $\mathbb{F}_n := \mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$ if $n \ge 1$.

Vectors in \mathbb{F} are described as sequences of *n*-particle wave functions, or using ket notation, as in $|u\rangle = \{u^n\}$ where $u^n \in \mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$, for $n \ge 0$. The inner product of $|u\rangle = \{u^n\}, |w\rangle = \{w^n\} \in \mathbb{F}$ is

$$\langle u,w\rangle_{\mathbb{F}} := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \langle \overline{u}^n, w^n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n})}$$

This induces the norm $||u\rangle||_{\mathbb{F}} = \sqrt{\langle u, u \rangle_{\mathbb{F}}}$. As we already aluded to, we employ the braket notation for Schrödinger state vectors in \mathbb{F} to distinguish them from wave functions in $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$.
Operators on \mathbb{F} will be denoted by calligraphic letter, an example being the Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H} : \mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{F}$. This, of course, excludes the annihilation and creation operators, including the field operators a_x, a_x^* , as well as the operators $a_{\overline{\phi}}, a_{\phi}^*$ and a_k, a_k^* associated with the basis $\{e_k(x)\}$ discussed shortly. The vacuum state in \mathbb{F} is $|vac\rangle := \{1, 0, 0, ...\}$, where the unity is placed in the zeroth slot. A symmetric *N*-particle wave function, $\psi_N \in \mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$, has a natural embedding into \mathbb{F} given by $|\psi\rangle_N = \{0, 0, ..., \psi_N(x), 0, ...\}$, where $\psi_N(x)$ is in the *N*-th slot. The set of all vectors $|\psi\rangle_N$ for *N* fixed is a linear subspace of \mathbb{F} , denoted \mathbb{F}_N , and is called the '*N*-th fiber' (*N*-particle sector) of \mathbb{F} . We sometimes omit the subscript '*N*' when referring to a $|\psi\rangle_N \in \mathbb{F}_N$ when the context makes it clear .

A Hamiltonian on $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$ admits an extension to an operator on \mathbb{F} . This extension is carried out via the Bosonic field operator a_x and its adjoint, a_x^* , for spatial coordinate $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. To define these field operators, first consider the annihilation and creation operators for a one-particle state $f \in \mathfrak{h}$, denoted by $a(\overline{f})$ and $a^*(f)$. These operators act on $|u\rangle = \{u^n\} \in \mathbb{F}$ according to

$$(a(\overline{f})|u\rangle)^{n} := \sqrt{n+1} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\overline{f(x)} \, u^{n+1}(x, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}) ,$$
$$(a^{*}(f)|u\rangle)^{n} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{j \le n} f(x_{j}) \, u^{n-1}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_{n}) ,$$

We often use the symbols $a_{\overline{f}} := a(\overline{f})$ and $a_f^* := a^*(f)$. Also, given an orthonormal basis, $\{e_j(x)\}_j \subset \mathfrak{h}$, we will write a_j^* in place of $a^*(e_j)$ and a_j in place of $a(\overline{e_j})$.

The Boson field operators a_x^* , a_x are now defined using an orthonormal basis via

$$a_x^* = \sum_j e_j(x) a_j^*$$
, $a_x = \sum_j \overline{e_j(x)} a_j$.

The canonical commutation relations $[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta(x - y), [a_x, a_y] = 0$ then follow.

An orthonormal basis that we use extensively in this work consists of the momentum eigenfunctions on B_L :

$$e_k(x) := \frac{e^{ik \cdot x}}{\sqrt{|B_L|}}, \quad \text{where} \quad k := \frac{2\pi n}{L}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}^3.$$
(5.1.8)

Thus we consider periodic functions (of spatial variable $x \in B_L$) with period *L* and denote the dual lattice

$$\mathbb{Z}_L^3 := \{k = 2\pi n/L \, \big| \, n \in \mathbb{Z}^3\}.$$

We also define the momentum half-space, \mathbb{Z}_L^+ , which will make the description of pairexcited states simpler:

$$\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+} := \{ k = 2\pi n/L \, \big| \, n \in \mathbb{Z}^{3}, n_{3} > 0 \}.$$

By virtue of the commutation relations on $\{a_x, a_x^*\}$, the creation and annihilation operators for the states $\{e_k(x)\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3}$, denoted $a(\overline{e_k}) := a_k$ and $a^*(e_k) := a_k^*$ satisfy

$$[a_{k_1}, a_{k_2}^*] = \boldsymbol{\delta}(k_1, k_2), \quad [a_{k_1}, a_{k_2}] = 0 = [a_{k_1}^*, a_{k_2}^*], \quad k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3.$$

Vectors $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}$ can also be expressed in terms of the occupation number basis for $\{e_k(x)\}$. The orthonormal elements of this Fock space basis consist of tensor product states for every collection of integers $\{n_k \in \mathbb{N}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3}$ with $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3} n_k < \infty$, given by

$$|n_{k_1},n_{k_2},\ldots\rangle := \prod_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_L^3} \frac{\left(a(e_k)^*\right)^{n_k}}{\sqrt{n_k!}} |vac\rangle.$$

The states $|n_{k_1}, n_{k_2}, \dots, n_{k_n}\rangle$ will also be used to denote the basis of tensor products for a fixed finite collection of momenta, (k_1, \dots, k_n) .

Finally, the symbol " \approx " will be used in two senses. The first sense refers the the heuristic approximation of Fock space operators, as in $\mathscr{H}_{LHY} \approx \mathscr{H}$. The second

sense is the relation of asymptotic equivalence of functions. A function f(z) is said to be asymptotically equivalent to g(z) as $|z| \to \infty$, i.e., $f(z) \approx g(z)$ as $|z| \to \infty$, provided $\lim_{|z|\to\infty} \frac{f(z)}{g(z)} = 1$. We will be careful to clarify in which sense we are using this symbol when it occurs in the text.

On the operator exponential: We will make extensive use of the operator $exp(\mathscr{P})$: $\mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{F}$, where

$$\mathscr{P}:=\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_L^+}lpha(k)a_k^*a_{-k}^*, \quad ext{for} \quad 0\leq lpha(k)<1 \quad orall k\in\mathbb{Z}_L^+.$$

The operator \mathscr{P} is unbounded on \mathbb{F} . While it does not have any eigenvalues, its spectrum $\sigma(\mathscr{P})$ (that is, the union of point, continuous and residual spectra) consists of the entire complex plane. A precise definition of dom $(\exp(\mathscr{P}))$ is not strictly necessary for our purposes; it will suffice to consider this operator as a formal series in powers of \mathscr{P} as long as we are acting on states which remain finite-norm under the action of this formal operator series. Fixing $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$, and defining

$$|0\rangle := \frac{1}{\sqrt{N!}} (a_0^*)^N |\mathrm{vac}\rangle, \quad N < \infty,$$

a state vector of the form:

$$|\Psi(k)\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n |n,n\rangle, \quad |n,n\rangle := \frac{(a_k^* a_{-k}^*)^n}{n!} |0\rangle, \quad \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 = 1$$

will belong to dom $(\exp(\mathscr{P}))$ provided that the sequence

$$\left\{\tilde{c}_s := \sum_{n=0}^s c_n (-\alpha(k))^{s-n} {s \choose s-n} \right\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$$
(5.1.9)

is square-summable. We note that the use of exponentials involving creation operators such as $\exp(\mathscr{P})$ is quite common the study of generalized coherent states [52].

The following lemma will be crucial [59].

Lemma 9. Any two operators \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} in the Fock space satisfy the identity

$$e^{\mathscr{A}}\mathscr{B}e^{-\mathscr{A}}=e^{ad(\mathscr{A})}\mathscr{B}=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{ad(\mathscr{A})^n(\mathscr{B})}{n!},$$

where $ad^0(\mathscr{A})(\mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{B}$ and

$$ad(\mathscr{A})^{n}(\mathscr{B}) = [\mathscr{A}, ad(\mathscr{A})^{n-1}(\mathscr{B})], \quad n \ge 1.$$

5.2 Many-body Hamiltonian and approximation scheme

We now summarize the bosonic many-body Hamiltonian and discuss the quadratic approximation of Lee, Huang, and Yang. This is included as motivation for the analysis that follows; we do not rigorously justify the derivation of this section.

Consider *N* bosons inside the box B_L , with periodic boundary conditions and repulsive pairwise particle interaction v. On the Hilbert space $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$ of symmetric *N*-particle wavefunctions, the Hamiltonian for this system reads

$$H_N = \sum_{j=1}^N -\Delta_j + \sum_{i (5.2.1)$$

Here we choose units such that $\hbar = 2m = 1$, where \hbar is Planck's constant, and *m* is the atomic mass. The interaction potential v should be understood to be positive, symmetric, and compactly supported.

This Hamiltonian can be lifted to the bosonic Fock space via the field operators $\{a_x, a_x^*\}$:

$$\mathscr{H} = \int dx \{a_x^*(-\Delta_x)a_x\} + \frac{1}{2} \iint dx dy \{\upsilon(x,y)a_x^*a_y^*a_xa_y\}.$$
 (5.2.2)

In the spirit of Lee, Huang and Yang, we take the interaction v to be the Fermi pseudopotential, which is an effective operator that reproduces the low-energy limit of

the far field of the exact wavefunction [34]. If f is any two-body wavefunction, we therefore take

$$\upsilon(x_i, x_j) f(x_i, x_j) \approx g \delta(x_i - x_j) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{ij}} [x_{ij} f(x_i, x_j)], \quad (i \neq j),$$
(5.2.3)

where $x_{ij} := |x_i - x_j|$, and $g := 8\pi a$ where *a* is the scattering length. We further simplify this interaction by omitting $(\partial/\partial x_{ij})x_{ij}$ from (5.2.3), viz.,

$$\upsilon(x_i, x_j) \mapsto g\delta(x_i - x_j). \tag{5.2.4}$$

The substitution (5.2.4) will be exact for solutions to the many-body wavefunction with sufficient regularity [34]. Inserting (5.2.4) into (5.2.2), and expanding in the momentum basis yields

$$\mathscr{H} \approx \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3} |k|^2 a_k^* a_k + \frac{4\pi a}{|B_L|} \sum_{k_1 + k_2 = k_3 + k_4} a_{k_1}^* a_{k_2}^* a_{k_3} a_{k_4}.$$
 (5.2.5)

The symbol " \approx " denotes the fact that we have approximated the two-body interaction potential with a delta function.

As remarked on in the introduction to this chapter, \mathscr{H} as written in (5.2.5) is manifestly particle conserving (in the sense that $[\mathscr{H}, \mathscr{N}] = 0$), and so its associated eigenvalue problem may be considered on the Fock space of fixed particle number, \mathbb{F}_N for N finite but large. By contrast, the effective Hamiltonian of Lee Huang and Yang (which we denote by \mathscr{H}_{LHY} and define shortly), will not conserve the total number of particles. We discuss this after summarizing the remaining steps in the approximation of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . We proceed by decomposing the interaction part of \mathscr{H} into terms containing like-powers of the condensate operators, a_0 and a_0^* ; the second, third, and fourth lines of the expression below contain quadratic, linear, and zeroth-order terms in these operators respectively:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H} &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} k^{2} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} + \frac{4\pi a}{|B_{L}|} (a_{0}^{*})^{2} a_{0}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{4\pi a}{|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left((a_{0}^{*})^{2} a_{k} a_{-k} + a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} (a_{0})^{2} + 4(a_{0}^{*} a_{0}) a_{k}^{*} a_{k} \right) \\ &+ \frac{8\pi a}{|B_{L}|} \sum_{\substack{k_{3} = k_{1} + k_{2} \\ k_{1}, k_{2}, k_{3} \neq 0}} \left((a_{k_{1}}^{*} a_{k_{2}}^{*} a_{k_{3}}) a_{0} + (a_{k_{1}} a_{k_{2}} a_{k_{3}}^{*}) a_{0}^{*} \right) \\ &+ \frac{4\pi a}{|B_{L}|} \sum_{\substack{k_{1} + k_{2} = k_{3} + k_{4} \\ k_{1}, k_{2}, k_{3}, k_{4} \neq 0}} a_{k_{1}}^{*} a_{k_{2}}^{*} a_{k_{3}} a_{k_{4}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.2.6)$$

The approximation of Lee Huang and Yang is consistent with the following steps (we use these steps for explanatory purposes): (i) replace the condensate occupation number operator by

$$(a_0^*a_0)\mapsto N-\sum_{k\neq 0}a_k^*a_k,\quad \text{for}\quad N<\infty,$$

and (ii) consider the action of Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} on states Ψ satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \langle \Psi | \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{N} a_k^* a_k | \Psi \rangle \ll 1, \\ \\ \mathscr{H} \Psi = E \Psi, \quad \langle \Psi | \mathscr{N} | \Psi \rangle = N. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.7)

In particular, for $\tilde{\mathcal{N}} := \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k$, we make the operator approximation

$$(\mathcal{N} - \tilde{\mathcal{N}})^2 - (\mathcal{N} - \tilde{\mathcal{N}}) = \mathcal{N}^2 - \mathcal{N} - 2\mathcal{N}\tilde{\mathcal{N}} + \tilde{\mathcal{N}}^2 + \tilde{\mathcal{N}} \approx \mathcal{N}^2 - \mathcal{N} - 2\mathcal{N}\tilde{\mathcal{N}},$$

where we have dropped the terms $\tilde{\mathcal{N}}^2 + \tilde{\mathcal{N}}$ because $\langle \Psi | \tilde{\mathcal{N}} | \Psi \rangle \ll N$ for all states of interest according to the assumption (5.2.7).

The first line in (5.2.6) is therefore approximated by

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{4\pi a}{|B_L|} (a_0^*)^2 a_0^2 &= \frac{4\pi a}{|B_L|} \left\{ (a_0^* a_0)^2 - (a_0^* a_0) \right\} \\ &\approx \frac{4\pi a}{|B_L|} \left\{ (N - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k)^2 - (N - \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k) \right\} \\ &\approx \frac{4\pi a}{|B_L|} \left\{ N(N-1) - 2N \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k \right\} \end{aligned}$$
(5.2.8)
$$&\approx 4\pi a \rho N - 8\pi a \rho \left\{ \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k \right\}.$$

The second line of (5.2.6) consists of three quadratic terms in condensate operators, proportional to $(a_0)^2$, $(a_0^*)^2$ and $(a_0^*a_0)$ respectively. The $(a_0^*a_0)$ term will contribute to the diagonal part of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} , via

$$\frac{16\pi a}{|B_L|} \sum_{k \neq 0} (a_0^* a_0) a_k^* a_k \approx 16\pi a \rho \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k - \frac{16\pi a}{|B_L|} \left(\sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k\right)^2 \approx 16\pi a \rho \sum_{k \neq 0} a_k^* a_k.$$
(5.2.9)

If cubic and quartic terms in the $\{a_k^{(*)}\}$ operators where $k \neq 0$ are now neglected (we will provide a consistent explanation for this in the next paragraph), approximations (5.2.8) and (5.2.9) yield the reduced Hamiltonian

$$\mathscr{H} \approx 4\pi a\rho N + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho \right\} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} + \frac{4\pi a}{|B_{L}|} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ (a_{0}^{*})^{2} a_{k} a_{-k} + a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} (a_{0})^{2} \right\}.$$
(5.2.10)

This intermediate approximation to \mathcal{H}_{LHY} is of independent interest, since it is particleconserving.

It is now apparent that the only way for off-diagonal terms of (5.2.10) to (formally) contribute, requires that $(a_0)^2$ and $(a_0^*)^2$ be replaced (or be replaceable) by N. This also

justifies the dropping of cubic-and-quartic terms in the $\{a_k^{(*)}\}$ operators between (5.2.6) and (5.2.10), since replacing a_0 , a_0^* by \sqrt{N} and making the above assumptions (5.2.7) will result in these terms formally vanishing. We note that this amounts to a version of the famous Bogoliubov approximation [9], although such terminology was not used explicitly by Lee, Huang and Yang. With this final replacement, we arrive at the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{LHY}} := 4\pi a\rho N + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho \right\} a_{k}^{*} a_{k} + 4\pi a\rho \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}, k \neq 0} \left\{ a_{k}^{*} a_{-k}^{*} + a_{k} a_{-k} \right\}.$$
(5.2.11)

From this expression, we see that \mathscr{H}_{LHY} is a sum of terms which involve only the momenta (k, -k). We therefore utilize the *momentum half space*:

$$\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+} := \{ k = 2\pi n/L \, \big| \, n \in \mathbb{Z}^{3}, n_{3} > 0 \},\$$

in order to write \mathscr{H}_{LHY} as a sum of operators which commute with $(a_k^*a_k + a_{-k}^*a_{-k})$, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$, i.e.,

$$\mathscr{H}_{LHY} = 4\pi a\rho N + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+}} 2\left(k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho\right) \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(a_{k}^{*}a_{k} + a_{-k}^{*}a_{-k}\right) + y(k)\left(a_{k}^{*}a_{-k}^{*} + a_{k}a_{-k}\right) \right\}.$$
(5.2.12)

where, consistent with [37], we define the constant

$$y(k) := \frac{4\pi a\rho}{k^2 + 8\pi a\rho}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+.$$

The point spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} will be called the *Bogoliubov spectrum*, and is given by $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+} (n_k + n_{-k}) \varepsilon_k$ where the set of occupation numbers $\{n_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L}$ satisfies

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_L^+} (n_k+n_{-k}) < \infty,$$

and the single particle energies are given by

$$\varepsilon_k := k\sqrt{k^2 + 16\pi a\rho}.$$
(5.2.13)

In the analysis of the next section, it will be easier to state results for the generic operator that appears inside the brackets in (5.2.12), where y(k) may take on the range of values (0, 1/2) as k varies over \mathbb{Z}_L^+ . We therefore conclude this section by defining the quadratic Hamiltonian for two orthogonal momentum states (a, b), denoted $\mathscr{H}_{ab}(y)$. The notation for this 'core' operator is inspired by Wu [61].

Definition 5. Let the operators $\{a, a^*, b, b^*\}$ satisfy the canonical commutation relations

$$[a, a^*] = [b, b^*] = 1,$$

$$[a, a] = [b, b] = [a^*, a^*] = [b^*, b^*] = 0$$

$$[a, b] = [a^*, b^*] = [a^*, b] = [a, b^*] = 0,$$
(5.2.14)

and act on the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} which is the linear span of all formal tensor products of the operators a^*, b^* , i.e.,

$$\mathbb{F}_{ab} := \operatorname{span}\{|n_a, n_b\rangle, \quad \text{for} \quad n_a, n_b \in \mathbb{N}\}, \quad |n_a, n_b\rangle := \frac{(a^*)^{n_a} (b^*)^{n_b}}{\sqrt{n_a! n_b!}} |\operatorname{vac}\rangle.$$
(5.2.15)

Define the Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}(y)$ on \mathbb{F}_{ab} , where 0 < y < 1/2, by

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}(y) := \frac{1}{2} (a^* a + b^* b) + y (a^* b^* + ab).$$
(5.2.16)

We then define the Bogoliubov spectrum for \mathcal{H}_{ab} by the formula

$$(n_a + n_b)\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}, \quad \text{for} \quad n_a + n_b < \infty.$$
 (5.2.17)

5.2.1 Comment on particle conservation versus non-conservation

There is an apparent contradiction in the approximation scheme above, since step (i) is a statement of particle-conservation, while we ultimately arrive at \mathscr{H}_{LHY} which does not conserve the number of particles. We must therefore be more precise, and specify that the steps (i) and (ii) do not refer to the restriction of the problem to the *N*-particle sector of Fock space, \mathbb{F}_N , but rather impose a constraint on the average number of particles for the many-body states of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . This means that we solve the eigenvalue problem $\mathscr{H}_{LHY}|\Psi\rangle = E|\Psi\rangle$ for eigenstates $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}$ which satisfy the condition

$$\langle \Psi | a_0^* a_0 + \sum_k a_k^* a_k | \Psi \rangle = N.$$
(5.2.18)

We will have to verify that the eigenstates Ψ which we construct are self-consistent with this assumption.

5.3 Formal construction of many-body excited states

We now construct a family of *formal* solutions to the eigenvalue problem for Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . This construction makes use of the non-unitary transformation by $\exp(-\mathscr{P})$: $\mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{F}$, which creates pairs of particles with opposite-momenta, and maps any $\Psi \in \mathbb{F}_n$ to the state $\exp(-\mathscr{P})\Psi$ which has a nonzero component in every (n + s)-particle fiber, \mathbb{F}_{n+s} , of \mathbb{F} , s = 0, 1, 2, ... In defining the operator \mathscr{P} , we are inspired by the operator described by Wu (Chapter 3) [60,61]. The operator \mathscr{P} depends on a free parameter, denoted $0 < \alpha(k) < 1$, for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$, and is defined by

$$\mathscr{P} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+} \alpha(k) a_k^* a_{-k}^*.$$
(5.3.1)

We will choose $\alpha(k)$ in the manner of Wu in order to eliminate all terms proportional to $(a_k^*a_{-k}^*)$ in the transformed operator $\exp(\mathscr{P})(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})\exp(-\mathscr{P})$. The resulting non-Hermitian eigenvalue problem can be solved exactly by considering solutions $|\Psi_{LHY}(k)\rangle$, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$, which are linear combinations of tensor product states containing only the momenta k and -k:

$$\left(\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{\rm LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P})\right)|\Psi_{\rm LHY}(k)\rangle = E|\Psi_{\rm LHY}(k)\rangle.$$
(5.3.2)

Important Note: The non-Hermitian eigenvalue problem, equation (5.3.2), will not in general yield *E* that lie in the point spectrum $\sigma_p(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$. In fact we will see that the transformed problem can have either a discrete or a continuous point spectrum depending on whether the quantity

$$\tilde{y}(k) := \frac{y(k)}{\sqrt{1 - 4y(k)^2}}, \quad \text{for} \quad y(k) = \frac{4\pi a\rho}{k^2 + 8\pi a\rho},$$

satisfies $\tilde{y}(k) < 1$ or $\tilde{y}(k) \ge 1$. We note that for $y(k) \in (0, 1/2)$, the quantity $\tilde{y}(k)$ takes on values in the range $(0, \infty)$. This splitting of the problem into the two cases $\tilde{y}(k) < 1$ and $\tilde{y}(k) \ge 1$ is a mathematical *artifact* of using a method which transforms a Hermitian Hamiltonian by an unbounded, non-Hermitian operator. This may suggest that the spectrum for the problem (5.3.2) has no significance for the original physics problem the following analysis shows otherwise. In the next section, we will provide a characterization of the eigenstates of the transformed Hamiltonian. We will see that the case $\tilde{y}(k) < 1$ corresponds to a regular perturbation of the eigenvalue problem for the diagonal Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{\text{diag}} := \frac{1}{2}(a_k^*a_k + a_{-k}^*a_{-k})$. The case $\tilde{y}(k) \ge 1$ can be solved exactly, and we will see that it cannot be associated with a regular perturbation of the problem for $\mathscr{H}_{\text{diag}}$. While information about the Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{ab} can be discerned by different means (e.g., Bogoliubov rotation), our goal is to show how analyzing the Hamiltonian via pair excitation can give all the same information as these other methods, without prior knowledge of them.

5.3.1 The non-Hermitian transform

For \mathscr{P} given by (5.3.1), a straightforward calculation using Lemma 9 yields the conjugations

$$\exp(\mathscr{P})a_k\exp(-\mathscr{P}) = a_k - \alpha(k)a_{-k}^*, \quad \exp(\mathscr{P})a_k^*\exp(-\mathscr{P}) = a_k^*, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3.$$
(5.3.3)

We define $\alpha(-k) = \alpha(k)$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$. This yields the transformed Hamiltonian

$$\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{\text{LHY}}\exp(-\mathscr{P}) = 4\pi a\rho N + 4\pi a\rho \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}}\alpha(k)$$
$$+ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \left(k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho - 8\pi a\rho\alpha(k)\right)(a_{k}^{*}a_{k}) + 4\pi a\rho \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} (a_{k}a_{-k}) \qquad (5.3.4)$$
$$+ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}} \left(4\pi a\rho(\alpha(k))^{2} - (k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho)\alpha(k) + 4\pi a\rho\right)(a_{k}^{*}a_{-k}^{*}).$$

We note that at this point that the term $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3} \alpha(k)$ introduces an infinite constant (see equation (5.3.5)) to the energy spectrum of the transformed Hamiltonian; this can be attributed to approximating the smooth interaction potential by a delta function and can be removed in a systematic way. For brevity, and since it does not affect the construction that follows in a meaningful way, we will retain this term in the following analysis, and refer to [34] for details regarding its proper analytical remedy. In distinction to the unitary transformation of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} exemplified by equation (5.1.5), the exponential transformation by \mathscr{P} has a free parameter $\alpha(k)$ for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$ which is not constrained by a requirement of unitarity. We exploit this freedom in order to make the expansion of eigenvectors in the momentum basis particularly simple. The resulting problem (5.3.2) on Fock space will correspond to an (infinite) upper triangular matrix system.

In this vein, we choose $\alpha(k) = \alpha_c(k)$ so that the last line of (5.3.4) vanishes, which implies

$$\alpha_{c}(k) = \frac{1}{8\pi a\rho} \Big((k^{2} + 8\pi a\rho) \pm k\sqrt{k^{2} + 16\pi a\rho} \Big), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+}.$$
(5.3.5)

The choice of $\alpha_c(k)$ corresponding to the minus sign in (5.3.5) yields a positive spectrum for (5.3.2). The two possible solutions for $\alpha_c(k)$ in the expansion of \mathscr{P} has an analog in the non-periodic setting, where the quadratic equation for $\alpha_c(k)$ generalizes to an operator Riccati equation for a pair excitation kernel k(x,y). In Chapter 3, we provide a detailed description of this correspondence. With this choice, the transformed Hamiltonian reads

$$\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{\text{LHY}}\exp(-\mathscr{P}) = 4\pi a\rho N + 4\pi a\rho \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{3}}\alpha_{c}(k) + \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_{L}^{+}} 2\left(k\sqrt{k^{2} + 16\pi a\rho}\right) \left\{\frac{1}{2}(a_{k}^{*}a_{k} + a_{-k}^{*}a_{-k}) + \left(\frac{4\pi a\rho}{k\sqrt{k^{2} + 16\pi a\rho}}\right)a_{k}a_{-k}\right\}.$$
(5.3.6)

For a single term of this sum corresponding to fixed $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$, the operator inside curly brackets is a transformation of the formal Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}(y) : \mathbb{F}_{ab} \to \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ if for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$ we identify annihilation operator a_k with operator a and annihilation operator a_{-k} with operator b. This is summarized in the following definition: **Definition 6.** Define the family of rescaled transformed Hamiltonians, parameterized by $\alpha \in [0, 1/2y)$, by:

$$\mathcal{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)} := \frac{1}{1 - 2\alpha y} \Big(\exp(\alpha a^* b^*) \mathcal{H}_{ab} \exp(-\alpha a^* b^*) + \alpha y \Big)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \big(a^* a + b^* b \big) + y_1(\alpha) a b + y_2(\alpha) a^* b^*, \qquad (5.3.7)$$

where $y_1(\alpha), y_2(\alpha)$ are given by

$$y_1(\alpha) := \frac{y}{1-2\alpha y}, \text{ and } y_2(\alpha) := \frac{y-\alpha+\alpha^2 y}{1-2\alpha y}.$$

The value

$$\alpha = \alpha_c := \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y},$$

then induces the transformation:

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(a^* a + b^* b \right) + \tilde{y} a b, \qquad (5.3.8)$$

for

$$\tilde{y} := \left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}\right)$$

If $y = y(k) = \frac{4\pi a\rho}{k^2 + 8\pi a\rho}$, the operator (5.5.2) acts on \mathbb{F}_{ab} in precisely the same way as the operator inside curly brackets in equation (5.3.6) acts on the Fock subspace formed by tensor product states with momentum (k, -k).

5.3.2 Constructing eigenstates

The formal eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ are now described, where $\alpha = \alpha_c$, the critical parameter which cancels terms proportional to a^*b^* in the transformed Hamiltonian. The choice of the critical parameter allows us to derive a particularly simple formula for the

eigenstates. First we explain the setup. By *formal*, we mean that the formula given in this section (equation (5.3.13)) does not specify whether the states have finite norm in the space \mathbb{F}_{ab} . We nonetheless write the general formula for all eigenstates before discussing the issue of normalizability. This is an abuse of notation, but neatly encompasses all of the cases involved in the spectral analysis of the family of operators $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}(y)$ for $0 \le y \le 1/2$.

The structure of the Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ for the critical value α_c is important for this construction. Since this Hamiltonian contains no term proportional to the operator a^*b^* , the effect of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ on any $\Psi_n \in \mathbb{F}_n$ for $1 \le n < \infty$ is to create a linear combination:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha_c)}\Psi_n=\tilde{\Psi}_n+\tilde{\Psi}_{n-2},$$

where $\tilde{\Psi}_n \in \mathbb{F}_n$ and $\tilde{\Psi}_{n-2} \in \mathbb{F}_{n-2}$. This is analogous to the action of an upper-triangular matrix in finite dimensions, which preserves subspaces of the underlying linear space \mathbb{X} spanned by unit vectors $\{e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n\}$, for $n \leq \dim(\mathbb{X})$. This observation motivates finding a solution to the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha_c)}|\Psi_E\rangle = E|\Psi_E\rangle,$$

via a difference scheme for the coefficients of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ when expanded in the momentum basis. For the critical value α_c , the iteration will be a backward scheme, which can be solved exactly to give a formula for the coefficients.

The specifics of this scheme are given in Appendix A.1; we write the conclusion for general $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$ for convenience in equation (5.3.10). We work in the occupation number basis of \mathbb{F}_{ab} ; this basis is represented by states $|m_a, m_b\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$, for $m_a, m_b \in \mathbb{N}$, which

are simultaneous eigenvectors of the operators a^*a and b^*b , satisfying the equations

$$(a^*a)|m_a,m_b\rangle = m_a|m_a,m_b\rangle, \quad (b^*b)|m_a,m_b\rangle = m_b|m_a,m_b\rangle.$$
(5.3.9)

In the Appendix, we explain how eigenstates $|\Psi_E\rangle$ satisfying $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}|\Psi_E\rangle = E|\Psi_E\rangle$ (where $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$), with $E \in \mathbb{C}$ can be reduced to expansions in the occupation number basis which take one of the two forms:

$$|\Psi_E\rangle = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} c_s |p+s,s\rangle, \text{ or } |\Psi_E\rangle = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} c_s |s,p+s\rangle \text{ for } p \in \mathbb{N}.$$

From either of these expressions, we arrive at the difference scheme for the coefficients $\{c_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$ in the expansion of $|\Psi_E\rangle$:

$$\left(\frac{p}{2}+s\right)c_s+y_1(\alpha)c_{s+1}\sqrt{(p+s+1)(s+1)}+y_2(\alpha)c_{s-1}\sqrt{(p+s)s}=Ec_s.$$
 (5.3.10)

Solving this scheme for $\alpha = \alpha_c$ (see Appendix) shows that the states are uniquely described by two parameters $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\Theta \in \mathbb{C}$; we call the corresponding state $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \in$ \mathbb{F}_{ab} . The index p describes the fact that $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ is an element of the linear subspace of states $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ such that $(a^*a - b^*b)|\Psi\rangle = p|\Psi\rangle$ holds, i.e., $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ corresponds to a state with fixed total momentum if we assosciate the operator a with a_k and the operator bwith a_{-k} for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$. In the occupation number basis, $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ belongs to the closed linear span

$$|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \in \operatorname{span}\{|p+s,s\rangle, s\in\mathbb{N}\}.$$

For every $p \in \mathbb{N}$, it is also possible to consider solutions which satisfy $(b^*b - a^*a)|\Psi\rangle = p|\Psi\rangle$, and construct eigenstates in the span of vectors $|s, s + p\rangle$. Thus every state $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ will be associated with a degenerate state denoted $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}^{(-)}\rangle$. Indeed, the only difference

between $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ and $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}^{(-)}\rangle$ will be whether the expansion is formed from states $|s+p,s\rangle$ versus $|s, p+s\rangle$. We therefore write formulas explicitly for the first kind of eigenstate, implying that equivalent formulas can be derived for $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}^{(-)}\rangle$ by the appropriate substitution. The state $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ satisfies the formal eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle = \left(\frac{p}{2} + \Theta\right)|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle.$$
(5.3.11)

The complex value Θ enters into the expansion for the state $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ via the generalized binomial coefficients $\binom{\Theta}{s}$ for s = 0, 1, 2, ... We now give the precise formula for the (unnormalized) states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ which result from solving the iteration scheme (5.3.10) for the critial parameter $\alpha = \alpha_c$ (see the Appendix for a complete derivation):

Proposition 1. Let $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\Theta \in \mathbb{C}$, and define \tilde{y} by

$$\tilde{y} := \frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}, \quad \text{for} \quad 0 < y < 1/2.$$

In the occupation number basis for the a, b operators, define the formal expansion

$$|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle := \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} (\tilde{y})^{-s} {\Theta \choose s} \left({p+s \choose s} \right)^{-1/2} |p+s,s\rangle. \quad (5.3.12)$$

(If $\Theta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{N}$, the binomial coefficient in formula (5.3.12) is understood in the generalized sense; see, for example [1]). The state $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ satisfies the eigenvalue problem (5.3.11) with energy $E = \frac{p}{2} + \Theta$. A second collection of states, denoted $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}^{(-)}\rangle$, are constructed in an identical way, replacing $|p+s,s\rangle$ by $|s,p+s\rangle$ in (5.3.12).

A special case occurs when $\Theta = N \in \mathbb{N}$. The resulting states are then finite linear combinations, and formula (5.3.12) is replaced by

$$|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle := \sum_{s=0}^{N} (\tilde{y})^{-s} {N \choose s} \left({p+s \choose s} \right)^{-1/2} |p+s,s\rangle.$$
(5.3.13)

5.3.3 Remarks

The derivation of formula (5.3.12) is elaborated in the appendix, and follows from a direct expansion in the occupation number basis. A remark on notation is in order: since we will carry out the analysis for the model Hamiltonian in \mathbb{F}_{ab} , we will use *N* from now on to refer to the integer quantum number for the states $|\Psi_{p,n}\rangle$, at risk of confusing it with the total number of particles for the Hamiltonian \mathscr{H}_{LHY} written in the momentum operators. Some key points are now emphasized:

All eigenstates of ℋ^(α_c)_{ab} (as well as ℋ_{ab}) must be superpositions of states with fixed momentum p, either given by |p+s,s⟩, or |s, p+s⟩ for s ∈ N. This is because the operator (Casimir's operator [52])

$$\mathscr{C} := \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{4}(a^*a - b^*b)^2 \tag{5.3.14}$$

commutes with a^*b^* , ab, and $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b + 1)$. Casimir's operator is constant on each of the subspaces span $\{|p+s,s\rangle| s \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ for $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

- Definition 1 suggests that every complex number E ∈ C is an eigenvalue of ℋ^(α_c). This is sometimes, but not always, the case — the subject of the following sections will be to describe constraints on the states |Ψ_{p,Θ}⟩ (i.e., constraints on p, Θ) for all values of y ∈ [0,∞) so that the spectrum { p/2 + Θ} corresponds (under scaling) to the spectrum of the operator ℋ_{ab} for certain 'allowed' values of p, Θ under these constraints.
- In particular, for ỹ < 1, the only normalizable states |Ψ_{p,Θ}⟩ will be |Ψ_{p,N}⟩ for N ∈ N,
 while for 1 ≤ ỹ, the states |Ψ_{p,Θ}⟩ are normalizable for all Θ ∈ C. Thus, additional

constraints on the states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ will be necessary when $\tilde{y} \ge 1$, in order to connect them to the eigenvalue problem for \mathcal{H}_{ab} .

4. When $\Theta = N \in \mathbb{N}$, the energy of state $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ is $E = N + \frac{p}{2}$. The states $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ have the same energies as the tensor product eigenstates of the Hamiltonian $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a+b^*b)$, which is the limit of the operator $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ as $y \to 0$.

The remainder of this work is devoted to analyzing the spectrum of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ (and more generally $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ for $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$) in the two regimes $\tilde{y} < 1$ and $1 \leq \tilde{y}$. We undertake this in order to answer the physically pertinent questions: (i) which of the states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ defined in Proposition 1 determine eigenstates $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of \mathscr{H}_{ab} by means of the transform

$$|\Psi_E\rangle = \exp(-\alpha_c a^* b^*) |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle ? \qquad (5.3.15)$$

Of course, since we can already determine the spectrum $\sigma_p(\mathscr{H}_{ab})$ by direct means, this question may seem trivial. The perspective we take in developing the method here is that we may start from the transformed Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$, and derive all relevant quantities for \mathscr{H}_{ab} , 'forgetting' the direct methods which exist for the Hermitian problem.

(ii) If the point spectrum of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ is the entire complex plane (which we see shortly to be the case for $\alpha = \alpha_c$ and $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ in Proposition 2) is there an easy way to distinguish among $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ those states which correspond to members of the spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{ab} ? (iii) Finally, can all of the eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} be identified with unique eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} ?

As stated, we handle the cases $\tilde{y} < 1$ and $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ separately. The three questions (i) – (iii) are answered definitively for $\tilde{y} < 1$ in the next theorem, and provide a glimpse of the difficulties we will have to address in the case $\tilde{y} \ge 1$. When $\tilde{y} < 1$, the result of Proposition 2 says that only the states $\{\Psi_{p,N}\}_{p,N\in\mathbb{N}}$ will be normalizable in \mathbb{F}_{ab} and in this sense the eigenvalue problem for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ is a regular perturbation of the problem for $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$. Sections (5.4.1) and (5.5) are devoted to the case $\tilde{y} \ge 1$. We make the disclaimer that while this condition on \tilde{y} changes the analysis for the transformed operator, the spectral problem for \mathscr{H}_{ab} remains the same. In this sense, the fact that the different cases $\tilde{y} < 1$ and $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ must be handled differently is solely a mathematical artifact of using the non-Hermitian pair-excitation transform.

5.3.4 Discrete spectrum in the Case $0 < \tilde{y} < 1$:

When $\tilde{y} < 1$, the eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ will be $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ of formula (1), where $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Energies of these states are equal to the energies of tensor products $|p + N, N\rangle$ as eigenstates of the operator $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$. The condition $0 < \tilde{y} < 1$ in $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ translates to the condition $|k|^2 > 4\pi a\rho(\sqrt{5}-2) > 0$ in the *k*-momentum component of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . Thus, this case represents an infinite collection of momenta in the Lee-Huang-Yang Hamiltonian.

Proposition 2. Suppose $0 < \tilde{y} < 1$. Then the point spectrum of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ is

$$\sigma_{p}\left(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_{c})}\right) = \left\{\frac{p}{2} + N, \text{ for } p, N \in \mathbb{N}\right\}.$$
(5.3.16)

The eigenstates are given by $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$, $|\Psi_{p,N}^{(-)}\rangle$ of Definition (1), for $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and exhibit the same degeneracy as the momentum states $\{|N, N+p\rangle \text{ or } |N+p,N\rangle\}$ as eigenstates of the operator $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a+b^*b)$ for $p,N \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. It is clear that the states $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ with $N \in \mathbb{N}$ have finite norm in \mathbb{F}_{ab} as finite superpositions in the particle number basis.

Now suppose $\Theta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{N}$, so the coefficients

$$c_s := (\tilde{y})^{-s} {\Theta \choose s} \sqrt{{p+s \choose s}}^{-1},$$

are nonzero for all $s \ge 0$. We proceed to show that $\{c_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$ cannot be square summable.

Indeed, using the Gamma function [44] to describe the generalized binomial coefficient, we have

$$|c_s|^2 = \tilde{y}^{-2s} \frac{\Gamma(1+p)}{\Gamma(-\Theta)^2} \cdot \frac{\Gamma(s-\Theta)^2}{\Gamma(s+p+1)\Gamma(s+1)} |c_0|^2.$$

Let us write Stirling's approximation as follows [44]

$$\log(\Gamma(z)) \approx \left(z - \frac{1}{2}\right) \log(z) - z + \frac{1}{2} \log(2\pi), \text{ as } |z| \to \infty, \text{ Re}(z) > 0.$$
 (5.3.17)

Here, the symbol " \approx " denotes asymptotic equivalence. Thus

$$\log\left(\Gamma(s-\Theta)\right) \approx s\log(s) - (\Theta + 1/2)\log(s) - s + C, \quad \text{as} \quad s \to \infty, \tag{5.3.18}$$

where C is a constant whose specific value does not matter. Similarly

$$\log(\Gamma(s+p+1)) \approx s\log(s) + (p+1/2)\log(s) - s, \quad \text{as} \quad s \to \infty.$$
 (5.3.19)

Putting the two lines above together gives

$$\frac{\Gamma(s-\Theta)}{\Gamma(s+p+1)\Gamma(s+1)} \approx \frac{e^{2\log s}e^{-2(\Theta+1/2)\log(s)}e^{-2s}}{e^{s\log s}e^{(p+1/2)\log s}e^{-s}e^{s\ln s}e^{1/2\log s}e^{-s}} = \frac{1}{s^{2\Theta+2+p}}, \quad \text{as} \quad s \to \infty.$$
(5.3.20)

Therefore

$$|c_{p+s,s}|^2 \approx K \frac{\tilde{y}^{-2s}}{s^{2\Theta+2+p}} |c_{p,0}|^2, \quad \text{for} \quad K = \frac{\Gamma(1+p)}{\Gamma(-\Theta)^2} \quad \text{as} \quad s \to \infty.$$
(5.3.21)

If $|\tilde{y}| < 1$, then it follows that $\sum_{s=0}^{\infty} |c_s|^2$ cannot be finite if $\Theta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{N}$. This concludes the proof.

When $\tilde{y} \ge 1$, the estimates in the above proof show that the states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ are normalizable for all values $\Theta \in \mathbb{C}$. Answering the questions (i) – (iii) of Section 5.3.3 becomes more difficult in this case. This is the subject of the next section.

5.3.5 A Geometric Picture of Degeneracies

We conclude this section with a geometric description of the degenerate eigenspaces of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ in \mathbb{F}_{ab} when $\tilde{y} < 1$. The Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} is the orthogonal direct sum of the following subspaces:

$$\mathbb{F}_{ab} = \bigoplus_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}^{(p)}, \quad \mathbb{F}^{(+p)} := \operatorname{span}\{|p+s,s\rangle : s \in \mathbb{N}\}, \quad \mathbb{F}^{(-p)} := \operatorname{span}\{|s,p+s\rangle : s \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

On the two-dimensional lattice describing occupation numbers (n_a, n_b) of the states $|n_a, n_b\rangle$, the subspace $\mathbb{F}^{(\pm p)}$ describes an infinite line segment terminating at a point (0, p) (for '+' sign) or (p, 0) (for '-' sign). The states $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ are elements of $\mathbb{F}^{(+p)}$, while the states $|\Psi_{p,N}^{(-)}\rangle$ are elements of $\mathbb{F}^{(-p)}$.

It was established that the state $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ has energy $E = \frac{p}{2} + N$, identical to the energy of the tensor product $|p + N, N\rangle$ as an eigenstate of $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$, and that within the subspace $\mathbb{F}^{(p)}$ it is the unique state with this energy. Accordingly, on $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$, the line segment $\{(p,N) | \frac{p}{2} + N = E\}$ connecting endpoints (p + N,N) and (N, p + N) intersects all ordered pairs corresponding to degenerate states $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ with energy E (see Figure 5.1).

Finally, consider the limit $\tilde{y} \to 0$ in the state $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ with energy $E = \frac{p}{2} + N$ given by equation (5.3.13) (the limit $\tilde{y} \to 0$ amounts to $|k| \to \infty$ in the momentum space, where the model \mathscr{H}_{LHY} is no longer expected to hold). In this limit, the state can no longer be normalized; although the finite sum corresponding to the state reduces to a single term

$$|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle \rightarrow |N+s,s\rangle, \text{ as } \tilde{y} \rightarrow 0.$$

This is expected by the fact that $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ approaches $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a+b^*b)$ in this limit.

5.4 Bogoliubov spectrum for $\tilde{y} \ge 1$

In the previous section, we showed that when $\tilde{y} < 1$ and $\alpha = \alpha_c$, the eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ are given by $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ for $N \in \mathbb{N}$. In this section, we address the spectral theory for the non-Hermitian transformed Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ in the case where $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ and $\alpha \in$ $[0, \alpha_c]$. We saw, in the proof of Proposition 2, that when $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ and $\alpha = \alpha_c$, the states $\{|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle\}$ are normalizable in the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ and all $\Theta \in \mathbb{C}$. Thus, we wish to answer which states in $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)})$ map to eigenstates of $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab})$ by taking the transform $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \mapsto \exp(-\alpha a^* b^*)|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ — without using our prior knowledge of $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab})$. Momentarily returning to the momentum space, the pair-excitation formalism means that we analyze the non-Hermitian eigenvalue problem for state $|\Psi(k)\rangle$:

$$(\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P}))|\Psi(k)\rangle = E|\Psi(k)\rangle,$$

in order to discover information about the Hermitian eigenvalue problem for state $|\tilde{\Psi}(k)\rangle$:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{LHY}}|\tilde{\Psi}(k)\rangle = E|\tilde{\Psi}(k)\rangle.$$

Since \mathscr{H}_{LHY} contains contributions from all $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3$, recalling the formula

$$\tilde{y}(k) := \frac{y(k)}{\sqrt{1-4y(k)^2}}, \quad \text{for} \quad y(k) = \frac{4\pi a\rho}{k^2 + 8\pi a\rho},$$

we see that $\tilde{y}(k)$ can take on all values in $(0, \infty)$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^3$. The method that we develop will have a direct consequence for identifying eigenstates in the spectrum $\sigma(\exp(\mathscr{P})\mathscr{H}_{LHY}\exp(-\mathscr{P}))$ with 'physical' states in $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{LHY})$.

This difference in the spectra is a consequence of using an unbounded, non-unitary operator to transform \mathscr{H}_{LHY} . We emphasize that the problem which we address here may seem artificial since we already know the spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} by other means (for example, by Bogoliubov rotation). The emphasis in the analysis that follows is that we can discern all the information for states of \mathscr{H}_{LHY} by starting from the *transformed* quadratic Hamiltonian.

The method that we introduce for identifying the Bogoliubov spectrum as a subset of $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)})$ will be provided by analysis of the formal generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ for eigenstate $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$. The generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ can be seen as a transformation which takes the sequence of coefficients for the expansion of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis to a formal Taylor series. In the opposite direction, given the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ for state $|\Psi_E\rangle$, we can determine the coefficients for $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis from the terms in the Taylor expansion of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$. The most important fact about generating functions, which we will exploit, is that the analyticity in the unit disk of the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ is connected to the normalizability of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} .

We proceed by considering the operator family $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ for $0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_c$. When $\alpha = \alpha_c$, the (formal) statement:

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}\left(e^{-\alpha_{c}a^{*}b^{*}}|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\right)\right) = \left((1+2\alpha_{c}y)(\frac{p}{2}+\Theta) + \alpha_{c}y\right)(e^{-\alpha_{c}a^{*}b^{*}}|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle), \quad p \in \mathbb{N}, \Theta \in \mathbb{C},$$

implies that states in the set $\{e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*} | \Psi_{p,\Theta} \rangle\}_{p,\Theta}$ are also eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} , provided that $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \in \operatorname{dom}(e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*})$. More specifically, given $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ we will show that the only states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \in \operatorname{dom}(e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*})$ occur for $\Theta \in \mathbb{N}$, and that the collection $\{|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle\}_{p,N\in\mathbb{N}}$ constitutes a basis of \mathbb{F}_{ab} . We conduct the first of these two tasks in the present section.

5.4.1 Method of generating functions

Inspired by Lee, Huang, and Yang [37], we define the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$: $\mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ for eigenstate $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$, where $0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_c$, and demonstrate how the singularities of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ in the complex plane furnish a criterion for constructing eigenstates of the Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab} = \mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha=0)}$. More specifically, in Proposition 5, we show that the action of the exponential map

$$|\Psi_E
angle\mapsto e^{-lpha a^*b^*}|\Psi_E
angle$$

induces the following transformation of the generating function:

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) \mapsto G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle) = \left(\frac{1}{1+\alpha z}\right) G\left(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}; |\Psi_E\rangle\right).$$

We exploit this fact when $\tilde{y} \ge 1$; the function

$$\frac{1}{1+\alpha z}G(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z};|\Psi_E\rangle)$$

cannot have a singularity in the unit disk if $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \text{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*})$, which will only be possible for discrete energies *E* corresponding to the Bogoliubov spectrum.

When $0 \le \alpha \le \alpha_c(y)$, both of the constants $y_1(\alpha)$ and $y_2(\alpha)$ in the transformed Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ will be nonzero, and are given by

$$y_1(\alpha) := \frac{y}{1-2\alpha y}$$
, and $y_2(\alpha) := \frac{y-\alpha+\alpha^2 y}{1-2\alpha y}$.

We consider the range of values $0 \le y_1(\alpha) < \infty$, so that eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ are no longer finite superpositions in the occupation number basis. The operator $(a^*a - b^*b)$ still commutes with $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$, so we know that eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ will remain superpositions of the states $|s + p, s\rangle$ or $|s, s + p\rangle$ for fixed $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

Definition 7. Let $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ have expansion in the occupation number basis given by

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} c_s |p+s,s\rangle, \text{ for } \{c_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{C}),$$

where $\ell^2(\mathbb{C})$ denotes the space of square-summable complex sequences, and define the rescaled coefficients

$$C_s := \sqrt{\frac{s!}{(p+s)!}} c_s, \tag{5.4.1}$$

(this will make the algebra with generating functions easier.) Alternatively $|\Psi\rangle$ can have an exampsion in the states $|s, s + p\rangle$.

The generating function which corresponds to state $|\Psi\rangle$ is a formal power series in complex variable z defined by

$$G(z;|\Psi\rangle):=\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}C_sz^s.$$

It is clear that for fixed $p \in \mathbb{N}$, the sequence $\{C_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$ is square summable if and only if $\{c_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$ is as well. Since,

$$|\sum_{s}C_{s}z^{s}|^{2}\leq \sum_{s}|C_{s}|^{2}\sum_{s}|z|^{2s},$$

the condition that $\||\Psi\rangle\|_{\mathbb{F}_{ab}} = 1$ means that $G(z; |\Psi\rangle)$ will be analytic in the unit disk, $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}.$

The following proposition follows by standard arguments of analytic continuation in the complex plane. The proof is omitted.

Proposition 3. Let $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ be an eigenstate of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ for $0 < \alpha \le \alpha_c \le 1$, with energy $E \in \mathbb{C}$, e.g.,

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha)}|\Psi_E
angle=E|\Psi_E
angle,$$

and let $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ be the generating function for $|\Psi_E\rangle$ according to definition (7). Then

1. $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ satisfies the first-order ordinary differential equation (coming from the difference scheme (5.3.10)):

$$z \Big\{ y_2(\alpha) z^2 + z + y_1(\alpha) \Big\} \big(G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) \big)'$$

$$+ \Big\{ y_2(\alpha) z^2 + \left(\frac{p}{2} - E\right) z + y_1(\alpha) p \Big\} G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = C_0 y_1(\alpha) p,$$
(5.4.2)

where C_0 is the zeroth rescaled coefficient in the definition of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$.

2. The general solution to (5.4.2) is given by

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = G_{hom}(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) + I(z; |\Psi_E\rangle), \qquad (5.4.3)$$

where the solution to the homogeneous equation reads

$$G_{hom}(z;|\Psi_E\rangle) = K z^{-p} (z - z_+(\alpha))^B (z - z_-(\alpha))^{(p-1-B)}, \qquad (5.4.4)$$

for $K, B \in \mathbb{C}$, and the constants $z_{\pm}(\alpha)$ are the nonzero roots of the polynomial

$$Q(z) := z \big(y_2(\alpha) z^2 + z + y_1(\alpha) \big).$$

In particular, we obtain

$$z_{\pm}(\alpha) := \frac{-1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 4y_1(\alpha)y_2(\alpha)}}{2y_2(\alpha)}, \quad \text{assuming} \quad y_2(\alpha) \neq 0. \tag{5.4.5}$$

The term $I(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ is the particular solution to (5.4.2), and is given by

$$I(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) := \frac{C_0 y_1(\alpha) p}{y_2(\alpha)} (z - z_+)^B (z - z_-)^{(p-1-B)} \int_0^z u^{p-1} (u - z_+)^{-(1+B)} (u - z_-)^{B-p} du.$$
(5.4.6)

The integral in this expression has an integration path lying within a simply-connected region of analyticity so that it is uniquely specified by the endpoints.

3. The constant K is arbitrary, while the constant B is related to the energy $E \in \mathbb{C}$ *via*

$$B = \frac{(p/2 - E - 1)z_{+}(\alpha) + y_{1}(\alpha)(p - 1)}{z_{+}(\alpha) + 2y_{1}(\alpha)}.$$
(5.4.7)

4. For p > 0 (which represents the eigen-subspace of (a*a - b*b) that we construct the solution |Ψ_E⟩ in), G_{hom}(z; |Ψ_E⟩) has a pole of order p at z = 0, but I(z; |Ψ_E⟩) does not. It follows that we must set K = 0, so that G(z; |Ψ_E⟩) = I(z; |Ψ_E⟩). The function I(z; |Ψ_E⟩) manifests a possible singularity at z = z₊ depending on the value of B.

It is well-known that singularities of solutions to (5.4.2) can occur only at roots of the leading polynomial $Q(z) := z(y_2(\alpha)z^2 + z + y_1(\alpha))$, which are given by $z = \{0, z_{\pm}(\alpha)\}$ for

$$z_{\pm}(\alpha) := \frac{-1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 4y_1(\alpha)y_2(\alpha)}}{2y_2(\alpha)}, \quad \text{assuming} \quad y_2(\alpha) \neq 0.$$
 (5.4.8)

Let us now state a few properties of $z_{\pm}(\alpha)$ of (5.4.8). Recall that $\alpha_c = \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4y^2}}{2y}$:

• For any $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$, we have $1 - 2\alpha y > 0$.

- For any α ∈ [0, α_c], the polynomial P(α) = y − α + α²y is strictly positive. Hence, both y₁(α), y₂(α) given in Definition 6 are strictly positive for α ∈ [0, α_c].
- The discriminant, 1 − 4y₁(α)y₂(α) of equation (5.4.8) is strictly positive for any α ∈ [0, α_c]. Hence, z_±(α) are real for α in the prescribed range.
- $z_+(\alpha)z_-(\alpha) = 1$ with $|z_+(0)| < 1$. Hence, $|z_-(0)| > 1$. In addition, $|z_-(\alpha)| > 1$ for any $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_c)$, with $z_-(\alpha) \to -\infty$ as $\alpha \uparrow \alpha_c$.
- By contrast, $z_+(\alpha)$ may or may not be inside the unit circle. Indeed, the condition $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$ implies $y_1(\alpha) + y_2(\alpha) < 1$, which is true for all $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$ only if

$$\tilde{y} = \frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}} < 1.$$

Otherwise there exists some $\alpha_{max} < \alpha_c$ such that $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$ for $\alpha < \alpha_{max}$ and $|z_+(\alpha)| \ge 1$ for $\alpha_{max} < \alpha < \alpha_c$. We handle these two cases separately.

5.4.2 The Bogoliubov spectrum for $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$:

Summarizing the problem so far: When $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ and $\alpha = \alpha_c$, we wish to identify a subset of states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ that correspond to the physical states of \mathscr{H}_{ab} (after transforming by the exponential operator). More generally, for $\tilde{y} \ge 1$, and $\alpha \in [0, \alpha_c]$, we wish to identify some set of eigenstates $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ with eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} . We have introduced the formal generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ for the eigenstate $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of the transformed operator $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ for this matter. This function satisfies an ordinary differential equation in the complex variable z (equation (5.4.2)), which is a consequence of the difference scheme

(5.3.10) for the coefficients of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis. The function *G* has singular points $z_{\pm}(\alpha)$, which determine possible singularities in the unit disk.

We continue the argument as follows: since $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ must be analytic in the unit disk if $|\Psi_E\rangle$ is to be normalizable, we must restrict the real parameter *B* in the solution for $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$, which translates to restricting the possible values of the energy *E* (equation (5.4.7)).

Consider first the case $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$. We remind the reader that for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)} |\Psi_E\rangle = E|\Psi_E\rangle$, and for $\tilde{y} \ge 1$, it is possible that $z_+(\alpha)$ lies inside or outside the unit disk depending on whether $\alpha < \alpha_{max}$ or $\alpha_{max} < \alpha < \alpha_c$. As an example, when $\alpha \le \alpha_c$ and p = 0,

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = K(z-z_+(\alpha))^B(z-z_-(\alpha))^{-1-B}.$$

Since $z_+(\alpha)$ lies inside the unit disk by assumption, $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ is analytic in this region *if and only if* $B \in \mathbb{N}$. It follows that the allowed energies E must be discrete. This is extended to $p \neq 0$ in the following proposition.

Proposition 4. For α such that $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$ (which implies $|z_-(\alpha)| > 1$), and p > 0, the function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ defined by

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \frac{C_0 y_1(\alpha) p}{y_2(\alpha)} (z - z_+)^B (z - z_-)^{p-1-B} \int_0^z u^{p-1} (u - z_+)^{-(1+B)} (u - z_-)^{(p-B)} du$$
(5.4.9)

is analytic if and only if $B \in \mathbb{N}$ and $B \ge p$. This implies that the energies $E \in \sigma_p(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)})$ must be discrete. In this case we have

$$(1-2\alpha y)\sigma_{\rm p}(\mathscr{H}_{\rm ab}^{(\alpha)})-\alpha y=\sigma_{\rm p}(\mathscr{H}_{\rm ab}).$$

Proof. The proof consists of two parts. First, it must be shown that there is a singularity of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ inside the unit disk which is removable under the condition $B \in \mathbb{N}$, $B \ge p$. This pertains to the analyticity of G in \mathbb{C} and is a standard argument, but technical. It is delegated to the Appendix.

For the second part, we show that $(1 - 2\alpha y)E - \alpha y$ must take values in the Bogoliubov spectrum (5.2.17) for $B = m \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose first that p = 0. Then equation (5.4.7) reads

$$\frac{(E+1)z_{+}(\alpha) + y_{1}(\alpha)}{z_{+}(\alpha) + 2y_{1}(\alpha)} = -m.$$
(5.4.10)

Using equation (5.4.8) for $z_+(\alpha)$ and manipulating yields

$$E = \sqrt{1 - 4y_1(\alpha)y_2(\alpha)}(m+1) - \frac{2y_1(\alpha)y_2(\alpha)}{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4y_1(\alpha)y_2(\alpha)}}.$$
 (5.4.11)

Recall the values of $y_1(\alpha) = \frac{y}{1-2\alpha y}$ and $y_2(\alpha) = \frac{y-\alpha+\alpha^2 y}{1-2\alpha y}$. Thus

$$(1 - 2\alpha y)E - \alpha y = (m+1)\sqrt{1 - 4y^2} - \alpha y - \frac{2y(y - \alpha + \alpha^2 y)}{1 - 2\alpha y - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}.$$
 (5.4.12)

Interestingly, we can show that the quantity

$$Q := \alpha y + \frac{2y(y - \alpha + \alpha^2 y)}{1 - 2\alpha y - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}$$
(5.4.13)

is independent of α , which follows by factorizing the numerator. In fact, $Q = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \sqrt{1-4y^2})$. Hence, if $|\Psi_E\rangle$ is the eigenstate of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ with energy *E* and generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$, then $e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle$ is an eigenstate of Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(0)}$ with energy

$$(1 - 2\alpha y)E - \alpha y = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}(2m + 1) - \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (5.4.14)

This is exactly the result of Bogoliubov. The case $p \neq 0$ is similar, so we skip many details. We now solve for *E* the equation

$$\frac{(p/2 - E - 1)z_{+}(\alpha) + y_{1}(\alpha)(p - 1)}{z_{+}(\alpha) + 2y_{1}(\alpha)} = m,$$
(5.4.15)

which comes from relation (5.4.7), and will give a formula for the energies of the eigenstates $|\Psi_E\rangle$ of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$. We get

$$(1 - 2\alpha y)E - \alpha y = \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}(m - \frac{p}{2}) + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - 4y^2} - \frac{1}{2},$$
 (5.4.16)

The interpretation of this is that the energies E for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ must give the Bogoliubov spectrum in this case.

5.4.3 Bogoliubov spectrum for $|z_+(\alpha)| \ge 1$:

We now consider the range of parameters $\alpha \in [\alpha_{max}, \alpha_c]$, and $\tilde{y} \ge 1$. Let us review how this comes about, and why it must be treated separately from the case of the previous subsection. For clarity of the argument, consider the case $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ and $\alpha = \alpha_c$ first. Here, the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha_c)}|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle = E|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle,$$

is solved by the difference scheme for $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ and has the exact formula (5.3.12), with $E = p/2 + \Theta$. Formula (5.3.12) shows that $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ is normalizable in \mathbb{F}_{ab} for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\Theta \in \mathbb{C}$; This poses a problem for if we want to use the transformed system $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ to answer questions about the system \mathscr{H}_{ab} . We also face the additional complication that the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle)$ has no singularity inside the unit disk (in the previous subsection we showed that for $\tilde{y} \geq 1$ there remains an interval $0 \leq \alpha < \alpha_{max}$, for $\alpha_{max} < \alpha_c$, such that the singularity at $z_+(\alpha)$ is inside the unit disk, which we used to restrict the energy E of state $|\Psi_E\rangle$ for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$). We therefore require a new method to deal with this possibility.

Translating this problem to the more general case of the eigenvalue equation

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\pmb{lpha})}|\Psi_E
angle=E|\Psi_E
angle,\quad\pmb{lpha}_{max}<\pmb{lpha}\leq\pmb{lpha}_c,$$

we find similarly, that the function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ which solves the differential equation (5.4.2) is analytic in the unit disk for all values $B \in \mathbb{R}$ (see Proposition 3 for the discussion of this parameter).

It is therefore impossible to pose a constraint on *B* and the energy *E* directly, as we did before. We will instead show that $|\Psi_E\rangle \notin \text{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*})$ for these states, which means that they cannot be transformed, via the exponential operator, into states which solve an eigenvalue problem for \mathscr{H}_{ab} . We show this by analyzing the generating function for the state $\exp(-\alpha a^*b^*)|\Psi_E\rangle$ — it contains singularities in the unit disk when $B \notin \mathbb{N}$.

We introduce a new notation that will aid in the proof that $|\Psi_E\rangle \notin \text{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*})$ for certain values of *B*. Given a sequence $\{a_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$, its *ordinary generating function*, denoted $\text{ogf}\{a_s\}(z)$ is a formal power series defined by

$$\operatorname{ogf}\{a_s\}(z) := \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} a_s z^s.$$

Thus, $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \text{ogf}\{C_s\}$ where $\{C_s\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$ are the rescaled coefficients for the expansion of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis (Definition 7).

The exponential generating function for the same sequence is defined as

$$\operatorname{egf}\left\{a_{s}\right\}(z) := \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} a_{s} \frac{z^{s}}{s!}.$$

The following facts hold for exponential generating functions:

Lemma 10. (i) The product of exponential generating functions is itself the exponential

function given by

$$\operatorname{egf}\left\{c_{m}\right\}(z) \cdot \operatorname{egf}\left\{d_{m}\right\}(z) = \operatorname{egf}\left\{\sum_{s=0}^{m} c_{m}d_{m-s}\binom{m}{s}\right\}(z).$$

(ii) We can convert between ordinary and exponential generating functions by means of the Borel transform, which is defined for an analytic function f(z) by

$$\mathscr{L}'[f](z) := \int_0^\infty f(zt) e^{-t} dt$$

The relevant fact for generating functions is

$$\mathscr{L}'\big[\mathrm{egf}\{d_m\}\big](z) = \mathrm{ogf}\{d_m\}(z).$$

Proof of these properties are direct and follow by manipulation of Taylor series. For the second part of Lemma 10, note that for $f(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} f_m z^m$, the action of \mathscr{L}' on f results in the formal multiplication of coefficient f_m by m!.

It is important to note that the generating function

$$G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle),$$

will in principle have a region of analyticity that is different from the region of analyticity of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$. The next proposition describes this phenomenon precisely.

Proposition 5. Let $0 < \alpha \le \alpha_c \le 1$ and $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$ be a solution to the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha)}|\Psi_E\rangle = E|\Psi_E\rangle.$$

Additionally, suppose that $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \text{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*})$. If $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ is the generating function associated with $|\Psi_E\rangle$ (as per Definition 7), then

$$G\left(z; e^{-\alpha a^*b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle\right) = \frac{1}{1+\alpha z} G\left(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}; |\Psi_E\rangle\right).$$

Proof. We return to the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \text{ogf}\{C_s\}$. Consider first the case p = 0, so that $|\Psi_E\rangle$ lies in span $\{|s,s\rangle\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$, and the rescaled coefficients of Definition 7 are the coefficients of $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis, $C_s = c_s$. Then by the assumption that $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \text{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*})$, we compute

$$e^{-\alpha a^*b^*}|\Psi_E\rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{s=0}^m c_s \alpha^{m-s} \binom{m}{s}\right) |m,m\rangle,$$

and so

$$G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} | \Psi_E \rangle) = \operatorname{ogf}\left\{\sum_{s=0}^m c_s(-\alpha)^{m-s} \binom{m}{s}\right\} (z).(5.4.17)$$

The first part of Lemma 10 shows that

$$\operatorname{egf}\left\{\sum_{s=0}^{m} c_{s}(-\alpha)^{m-s} \binom{m}{s}\right\}(z) = \operatorname{egf}\left\{c_{m}\right\}(z) \cdot \operatorname{egf}\left\{(-\alpha)^{m}\right\}(z) = \operatorname{egf}\left\{c_{m}\right\}(z) \cdot e^{-\alpha z}$$

while the second part of Lemma 10 shows,

$$\begin{split} G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} | \Psi_E \rangle) &= \operatorname{ogf} \left\{ \sum_{s=0}^m c_s(-\alpha)^{m-s} \binom{m}{s} \right\} = \mathscr{L}'[e^{-\alpha z} \operatorname{egf} \{c_m\}](z) \\ &= \int_{t=0}^\infty \operatorname{egf} \{c_m\}(tz) e^{-t(\alpha z+1)} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{1+\alpha z} \int_{\eta=0}^\infty \operatorname{egf} \{c_m\} \left(\frac{z\eta}{\alpha z+1}\right) e^{-\eta} d\eta \quad (\text{for } \eta := t(\alpha z+1)) \\ &= \frac{1}{1+\alpha z} \mathscr{L}'[\operatorname{egf} \{c_m\}] \left(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{1+\alpha z} \operatorname{ogf} \{c_m\} \left(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{1+\alpha z} G\left(\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}; |\Psi_E\rangle\right). \end{split}$$

This shows the proof for p = 0. When $p \neq 0$, the transformed state vector reads

$$e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{(p+m)!}{m!}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{s=0}^{m} c_s (-\alpha)^{m-s} {m \choose s} |m+p,m\rangle.$$
(5.4.18)

It is straightforward to verify that the above computations hold using the rescaled coefficients $\{C_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ and the generating functions

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C_m z^m \text{ and}$$

$$G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{s=0}^m C_s (-\alpha)^{m-s} {m \choose s}\right) z^m.$$
e proof.
$$(5.4.19)$$

This concludes the proof.

Finally, we use the result of Proposition 5 to show that, in the case $|z_+(\alpha)| > 1$ (i.e., $\tilde{y} \ge 1$ and $\alpha_{max} \le \alpha \le \alpha_c$), we must restrict the parameter *B* in the formula for $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$, viz.,

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \frac{C_0 y_1(\alpha) p}{y_2(\alpha)} (z - z_+)^B (z - z_-)^{p-1-B} \int_0^z u^{p-1} (u - z_+)^{-(1+B)} (u - z_-)^{(p-B)} du.$$

This restriction will result from the requirement that

$$|\Psi_E\rangle \in \mathrm{dom}(e^{-\alpha a^*b^*}).$$

Indeed, if the state $e^{-\alpha a^*b^*}|\Psi_E\rangle$ exists as a vector in \mathbb{F}_{ab} , it must have generating function

$$G(z; e^{-lpha a^* b^*} | \Psi_E \rangle) = rac{1}{1+lpha z} G\left(rac{z}{1+lpha z}; | \Psi_E
angle
ight).$$

The singularity of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ at $z = z_+(\alpha)$ is therefore transformed to a singularity of $G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle)$ at

$$\frac{z}{1+\alpha z}=z_+(\alpha),$$

i.e.,

$$z=rac{z_+(\alpha)}{\left(1-lpha z_+(lpha)
ight)}.$$

Therefore, if $\left|\frac{z_+(\alpha)}{1-\alpha z_+(\alpha)}\right| < 1$ it will be necessary that $B \in \mathbb{N}$ using the reasoning of Proposition 4.
Since $z_+(\alpha) < 0$ and $\alpha > 0$ this is the same as showing that $\frac{1}{|z_+(\alpha)|} + \alpha > 1$ or $|z_+(\alpha)| < \frac{1}{1-\alpha}$. Indeed, recall

$$z_{+}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(-1 + 2\alpha y + \sqrt{1 - 4y^2})}{(y - \alpha + \alpha^2 y)},$$
(5.4.20)

and

$$y - \alpha + \alpha^2 y = y \left(\alpha - \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y} \right) \left(\alpha - \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y} \right),$$

so that

$$z_{+}(\alpha) = \left(\alpha - \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (5.4.21)

For $0 \le y \le \frac{1}{2}$ we have $\frac{1+\sqrt{1-4y^2}}{2y} \ge 1$, hence

$$|z_{+}(\alpha)| = \left(\left(\frac{1+\sqrt{1-4y^{2}}}{2y}\right) - \alpha\right)^{-1} \le \frac{1}{1-\alpha}.$$
 (5.4.22)

The zero $z_+(\alpha)$ therefore lies inside the unit disk.

Note the relation for the E of the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}|\Psi_E\rangle = E|\Psi_E\rangle, \quad \alpha_{max} \le \alpha \le \alpha_C, \quad \tilde{y} \ge 1,$$

in terms of the exponent *B*:

$$E + 1 - \frac{p}{2} = B + \frac{y_1(\alpha)}{z_+(\alpha)}(2B + p - 1).$$
 (5.4.23)

Using the expression for $z_+(\alpha)$ just derived and $y_1(\alpha) = \frac{y}{1-2\alpha y}$, we get

$$\frac{y_1(\alpha)}{z_+(\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(-1 + \sqrt{1 - 4y^2} \right), \tag{5.4.24}$$

and so

$$E = -\frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{1 + 4y^2} \left(B + \frac{p-1}{2} \right).$$
 (5.4.25)

In the case that $\alpha = \alpha_c$, we have $y_1(\alpha_c) = 0$ and so using expression (5.4.23)

$$E=B-1+\frac{p}{2}.$$

Thus the spectrum of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ (after restricting the spectrum via analyticity arguments for $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$) is the same as the spectrum of $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$. Otherwise, the energy is given by expression (5.4.25).

Note that the singularity due to $z_{-}(\alpha)$ remains outside the disk under the transformation $|\Psi_E\rangle \mapsto e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle$. Indeed,

$$z_{-}(\alpha) = \left(\alpha - \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y}\right)^{-1},$$
 (5.4.26)

and $\alpha \leq \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4y^2}}{2y}$, so $\frac{1}{|z_-(\alpha)|} = |\alpha - \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4y^2}}{2y}| < 1 - \alpha$. This shows that the singularity due to $z_-(\alpha)$ does not affect the analyticity of $G(z; e^{-\alpha a^* b^*} |\Psi_E\rangle)$ inside the unit disk.

5.5 Completeness of the states $\{e^{(-\alpha_c a^* b^*)} | \Psi_{p,N} \rangle\}_{p,N \in \mathbb{N}}$

We recall the analysis so far. We wish to study the non-Hermitian transformed model Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ on the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} , given by:

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(a^* a + b^* b \right) + y_1(\alpha) a b + y_2(\alpha) a^* b^*,$$

where

$$y_1(\alpha) := \frac{y}{1-2\alpha y}$$
, and $y_2(\alpha) := \frac{y-\alpha+\alpha^2 y}{1-2\alpha y}$.

This operator is studied in place of the Hermitian Hamiltonian given by

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}(y) := \mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha=0)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(a^* a + b^* b \right) + y \left(a^* b^* + ab \right), \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le y < 1/2.$$
(5.5.1)

We distinguished a particular case in the continuous parameter family, namely,

$$\alpha = \alpha_c := \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4y^2}}{2y},$$

since the model Hamiltonian for this value has an 'upper triangular' form:

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(a^* a + b^* b \right) + \tilde{y} a b, \quad \text{for} \quad \tilde{y} := \left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - 4y^2}} \right). \tag{5.5.2}$$

The eigenvalue problem for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ reads:

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{ab}}^{(\alpha_c)}|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle = (p/2 + \Theta)|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle, \quad p \in \mathbb{N}, \Theta \in \mathbb{C}$$

where the states $\{|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle\}$ are given by the expression (5.3.12). Let us discuss the existing results for this critical parameter $\alpha = \alpha_c$. We have shown how for all $0 < \tilde{y} < \infty$, the point spectrum $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)})$ must either be discrete, or else, if $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}) = \mathbb{C}$, then we can restrict our attention to a discrete subset of $\sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)})$, which corresponds to those eigenstates that map to eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} under the inverse transform $\exp(-\alpha a^*b^*)$ (we actually demonstrated this for all $0 < \alpha \le \alpha_c$ when $\tilde{y} \ge 1$). This was accomplished using several different methods in the previous sections. In Section 5.3, the case $\tilde{y} < 1$, and $\alpha = \alpha_c$ was handled, where it was shown by direct estimates on the coefficients of $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ that the eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ consist only of the states with $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\Theta \in \mathbb{N}$.

In Section 5.4.3, we discussed the case $\tilde{y} \ge 1$. In order to determine which $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle \in$ dom $(\exp(-\alpha_c a^* b^*))$, we turned to studying the location of singularities of the generating function

$$G(z; \exp(-\alpha_c a^* b^*) |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle).$$

It was found that this generating function is related to the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle)$ by a simple transform. In particular, $G(z; |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle)$ has two singular points that will restrict the spectrum if one of these points lies inside the disk. We also discovered that if $G(z; |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle)$ has no singular point inside the unit disk, then for the function $G(z; \exp(-\alpha_c a^* b^*) |\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle)$, this point will lie inside the disk.

We now prove the completeness of eigenstates $\{e^{(-\alpha_c)a^*b^*}|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle\}_{p,N\in\mathbb{N}}$ in the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} for critical parameter α_c . The completeness of these states is not obvious, for several reasons. First, the operator $e^{(-\alpha_c)a^*b^*}$ is unbounded, so the relation

$$\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)} = \frac{1}{1 - 2(\alpha_c)y} \Big(e^{\alpha_c a^* b^*} \mathscr{H}_{ab} e^{(-\alpha_c)a^* b^*} + \alpha_c y \Big)$$

does not imply that the spectra of the two operators are the same. It is likewise not clear that our formula for eigenstates recovers the same degeneracy of eigenstates for \mathscr{H}_{ab} given in terms of tensor products of quasiparticle operators (equation (5.1.6)). Finally, in Proposition 5 of Section 5.4.3 we have determined that infinitely many eigenstates $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ corresponding to $\frac{p}{2} + \Theta \in \sigma(\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{\alpha_c})$ cannot be in the domain of $e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*}$ when $\tilde{y} \ge 1$.

This chapter takes the approach of analyzing the spectral problem for $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ without any necessary prior knowledge about the spectrum of \mathscr{H}_{ab} . The completeness result of this section implies that eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{ab} are *exactly* the non-Hermitian transforms of states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ with $\Theta \in \mathbb{N}$. The following density argument also gives an alternative proof to the claim that the degeneracy of the $E = \frac{p}{2} + N$ eigenspace matches the degeneracy of the momentum eigenstates $|p+N,N\rangle$, or $|N, p+N\rangle$, represented by the Figure 5.1.

In order to show the completeness of the states

$$\{e^{-lpha_c a^*b^*}|\Psi_{p,N}^{(\pm)}
angle\}_{p,N\in\mathbb{N}} \in \mathbb{F}_{ab},$$

it suffices to consider the completeness of states

$$\{e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*} | \Psi_{p,N} \rangle\}_{N=0}^{\infty} \in \operatorname{span}\{|s+p,s\rangle, s \in \mathbb{N}\} \text{ for fixed } p.$$

We make use of the well-known fact that a collection of elements $|\psi_j\rangle_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ in a separable Hilbert space is complete if the only element $|f\rangle$ that satisfies

$$\langle f | \boldsymbol{\psi}_j \rangle = 0, \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{N}$$

is the zero element, $|f\rangle \equiv 0$.

We therefore fix $p \ge 0$ without loss of generality. For $N \ge 0$, a straightforward calculation gives:

$$e^{(-\alpha_{c}a^{*}b^{*})}|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-\alpha_{c})^{m} S(m,N)|p+m,m\rangle.$$
(5.5.3)

for

$$S(m,N) := \sum_{s=0}^{\min\{m,N\}} (-\alpha_c \tilde{y})^{-s} {N \choose s} \left({p+s \choose s} \right)^{-1/2} \left({p+m \choose p+s} {m \choose s} \right)^{1/2}$$

If $|f\rangle$ is an arbitrary vector in \mathbb{F}_{ab} with expansion $|f\rangle := \sum_{m} d_{m} |p+m,m\rangle$ and coefficients $\{d_{m}\}_{m=0}^{\infty} \in \ell^{2}$, the inner product of $|f\rangle$ with the state (5.5.3) reads:

$$\langle f|e^{-\alpha_c a^*b^*}\Psi_{p,N}\rangle = \sum_m \overline{d_m}(-\alpha_c)^m S(m,N).$$
(5.5.4)

We will also use relations among Hypergeometric functions [44] F(a,b,c;z) as a central tool in the proof, which are defined (using the Pochhammer symbols) by the power series

$$F(a,b,c;z) \equiv \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^m}{m!} \frac{(a)_m(b)_m}{(c)_m}, \quad a,b,c \in \mathbb{R}, \quad c \neq 0, \quad |z| < 1.$$

We alert the reader that the conventional notation for the Hypergeometric function F uses parameters a, bc, which should not be confused with the annihilation operators on the Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} . We risk this confusion in order to retain the standard notation for F. We also remark that for the parameters considered in the proof, the Hypergeometric

function F will reduce to a polynomial. The properties of F which we use are listed in the lemma below. They are proved in the Appendix A.3.

Lemma 11. (*Properties for Hypergeometric functions*) Let $m, N, p \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

(i) F at index -m is related to F at index -m+1 via:

$$(mz)F(-m+1, -N, p+1; z) = -(p+1+2N)F(-m, -N, p+1; z)$$

$$+(p+1+N)F(-m, -N-1, p+1; z)$$

$$+NF(-m, -N+1, p+1; z)$$
(5.5.5)

with the exceptional case N = 0:

$$(mz)F(-m+1,0,p+1,z) = -(p+1)F(-m,0,p+1,z) + (p+1)F(-m,-1,p+1,z).$$
(5.5.6)

(ii) For
$$a < 0, z \in \mathbb{C}$$

$$\frac{d}{dz}z^{a}F(a,b,c,\frac{1}{z}) = az^{a-1}F(a+1,b,c,\frac{1}{z}).$$
(5.5.7)

Note: We will use the conventional shorthand for the contiguous hypergeometric functions when the parameters a, b, c are clear from the context,

$$F = F(a, b, c; z), \quad F(a \pm 1) = F(a \pm 1, b, c; z), \tag{5.5.8}$$

with similar definitions holding for $F(b\pm)$, $F(c\pm)$.

Proposition 6. (*Completeness of eigenstates* $|\Psi_{p,N}\rangle$ for critical parameter) Let $\alpha = \alpha_c = \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4y^2}}{2y}$. Then the collection

$$\{e^{-lpha_{c}a^{*}b^{*}}|\Psi_{p,N}^{(\pm)}
angle\}_{p\in\mathbb{Z},N\in\mathbb{N}}$$

is complete in the Bosonic Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} .

Proof. It suffices to prove the statement for fixed p. Let $|f\rangle$ be a vector in \mathbb{F}_{ab} which satisfies

$$\langle f|e^{(-\alpha_c a^*b^*)}\Psi_{p,N}\rangle = 0 \quad \forall N.$$

We write this inner product in the form of the expansion (5.5.4) above. Using equation (5.5.4) to write the inner product $\langle f | e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*} \Psi_{p,N} \rangle$, the claim is that the infinite linear system for $\{d_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty} \in \ell^2$ which corresponds to the problem $\langle f | e^{(-\alpha_c a^* b^*)} \Psi_{p,N} \rangle = 0 \quad \forall N$ has only the trivial solution $\{d_m = 0\}_{m=0}^{\infty} \in \ell^2$.

Summarizing the steps of the proof: The family of functions defined by

$$f_N(z) := \langle f | e^{za^*b^*} \Psi_{p,N} \rangle$$

are shown to be analytic for z in the unit disk. The main assumption, namely,

$$\langle f|e^{(-\alpha_c)a^*b^*}\Psi_{p,N}\rangle = 0$$
 for all N ,

translates to the collection of point evaluatons $f_N(-\alpha_c) = 0 \ \forall N$. Next, the derivatives $\frac{d^n}{dz^n} f_N(z)$ are written as linear combinations of $f_{N+j}(z)$ for $0 \le j \le N+n$. Therefore the restriction $f_N(-\alpha_c) = 0$ for all *N* translates to the restriction of all derivatives, $\frac{d^n}{dz^n} f_N(-\alpha_c) = 0$ for $n, N \ge 0$. Finally, since $f_N(z)$ is analytic in the unit disk and $|\alpha_c| < 1$ we conclude that $f_N(z) \equiv 0$ for all *N*, which gives the proof.

Assume first $\tilde{y} = 1$ (this condition will be removed later). Define the family of functions $f_N : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}, N \in \mathbb{N}$ by making the substitution $-\alpha \mapsto z$ in (5.5.4), i.e.,

$$f_N(z) := \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{d_m} z^m \left[\sum_{s=0}^{\min\{m,N\}} z^{-s} \binom{N}{s} \left(\binom{p+s}{s} \right)^{-1/2} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{p+s} \binom{m}{s}} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{d_m} z^m \left(\binom{p+m}{m} \right)^{1/2} \left[\sum_{s=0}^{\min\{m,N\}} z^{-s} \binom{N}{s} \binom{m}{s} \binom{p+s}{s}^{-1} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{d_m} z^m \left(\binom{p+m}{m} \right)^{1/2} F\left(-m, -N, p+1; \frac{1}{z} \right).$$
(5.5.9)

Here F(a,b,c;z) is the Hypergeometric function, and equation (5.5.9) is a consequence of the factorization

$$\binom{p+m}{p+s} = \binom{m}{s} \binom{p+s}{s}^{-1} \binom{p+m}{m}.$$

Note that $f_0(z) \equiv \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{c_m} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{m}} z^m$ is consistent with this definition since $F(\cdot, 0, \cdot, z) =$ 1. It is easy to verify that the series defining $f_N(z)$ is convergent (and therefore f_N is analytic) for |z| < 1.

Now assume that $\langle f | e^{-\alpha_c a^* b^*} \Psi_{p,N} \rangle = 0$ $\forall N$, which translates to the point evaluation

$$f_N(-\alpha_c) = 0 \quad \forall N \ge 0. \tag{5.5.10}$$

The remainder of the proof describes how this condition implies $f_N(z) \equiv 0 \quad \forall N$ and hence $d_m \equiv 0$ for all m

Using formulas of Lemma 11 we now show that $\frac{d^n}{dz^n}f_N(z)$ is a finite linear combination of $f_0(z), f_1(z), \dots, f_{N+n}(z)$ for every *n*. Since we have $f_n(-\alpha_c) = 0$ for all *n*, i.e., equation (5.5.10), this shows that $\frac{d^n}{dz^n}f_N(-\alpha_c) = 0$ for all *n*.

Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dz} f_N^{(p)}(z) &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{m}} \overline{d_m} \frac{d}{dz} \Big[z^m F\left(-m, -N, p+1, \frac{1}{z}\right) \Big] \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{m}} \overline{d_m} \Big[m z^{m-1} F\left(-m+1, -N, p+1, \frac{1}{z}\right) \Big] \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{m}} \overline{d_m} z^m \Big[m \frac{1}{z} F\left(-m+1, -N, p+1, \frac{1}{z}\right) \Big] \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sqrt{\binom{p+m}{m}} \overline{d_m} z^m \Big[-(p+1+2N)F + (p+1+N)F(-N-1) + NF(-N+1) \Big] \\ &= -(p+1+2N) f_N^{(p)}(z) + (p+1+N) f_{N+1}^{(p)}(z) + N f_{N-1}^{(p)}(z). \end{aligned}$$
(5.5.11)

Iterating this same procedure, it is clear that we can write a corresponding formula for any number of derivatives of f_N . This formula is written as a vector equation for convenience:

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n}f_N^{(p)}(z) = \mathbf{L}\left(f_0^{(p)}(z), \dots, f_N^{(p)}(z), f_{N+1}^{(p)}(z), \dots, f_{N+n}^{(p)}(z)\right)^T$$

where **L** is a $1 \times (N + n + 1)$ dimensional vector. The precise entries of **L** are irrelevant to us, except for the fact that they generally involve the constants p,N but not α_c . We should remark on the derivative of $f_0^{(p)}(z)$. In this case, equation (5.5.6) is used and Formula (ii) becomes trivial, so $\frac{d^n}{dz^n}f_0^{(p)}(z)$ will be a linear combination of the functions $f_0^{(p)}, f_1^{(p)}, \dots, f_n^{(p)}$.

Collecting like powers of z in $f_N(z)$ gives

$$f_N(z) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{m=q}^{q+N} \overline{d_m} \binom{N}{m-q} \binom{m}{q} \right] z^q, \quad \text{for} \quad q=m-s, \tag{5.5.12}$$

so indeed, $f_N \equiv 0$ implies that $d_m = 0$ for all m = 0, 1, 2, ...

Finally, the restriction $\tilde{y} = 1$ is now removed via a change of variables. We show this for p = 0 for clarity – the other cases follow analogously. The function $f_N(z)$ is now defined by

$$f_N(z) := \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{d_m} z^m F\left(-m, -N, 1, \frac{1}{\tilde{y}z}\right), \quad \tilde{y} \neq 0.$$
(5.5.13)

We now have

$$\frac{d}{dz}f_N(z) = \tilde{y}\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \overline{d_m} z^m \Big[m \frac{1}{\tilde{y}z} F\left(-m+1, -N, 1, \frac{1}{\tilde{y}z}\right) \Big],$$
(5.5.14)

and the derivative formula in Lemma 11 again applies to give

$$\frac{d}{dz}f_N(z) = \tilde{y}\Big[-(1+2N)f_N(z) + (p+1)f_{N+1}(z) + Nf_{N-1}(z)\Big],$$
(5.5.15)

Following the above reasoning we conclude that $d_m = 0$ for m = 0, 1, 2, ... and the proof is complete.



Figure 5.1: Schematic of the dependence of quantum states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ on the occupation numbers n_a, n_b . The lattice points represent the occupation-number eigenstates $|n_a, n_b\rangle$, and the dotted lines (labeled E = 4.5 and E = 5) represent hypersurfaces on which $\frac{1}{2}(n_a + n_b) = 4.5, 5$ respectively; the lattice points lying on these hypersurfaces thus represent the degenerate eigenstates of the operator $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$. The two solid lines (beginning at the points (0, 1) and (2, 0)) contain the lattice points which appear in the formula for two example states $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$ elaborated in Proposition 1. The line starting at (0,1) represents a state $|\Psi_{-1,\Theta}\rangle$, where $2\Theta \notin \mathbb{N}$ – this state is an infinite sum, which is represented by the fact that the arrow extends indefinitely. The line starting at the point (2,0) represents the state $|\Psi_{2,4}\rangle$ – this state is a linear combination of the basis states $\{|2,0\rangle, |3,1\rangle, |4,2\rangle, |5,3\rangle, |6,4\rangle\}$.

Chapter 6

Overview and Extensions

In this thesis, we have rigorously developed the method of pair-excitation as it relates to several models for excitations of the interacting Bose gas at zero temperature. These models vary significantly in their mathematical details; we have expanded the formulation of pair-excitation to account for non-translation-invariant systems as well as systems which do not conserve the number of particles. We construct many-body excited states in each of these settings.

6.1 Overview

We now discuss some of the themes, with broad scientific appeal, that this work touches upon.

The phonon spectrum spectrum

A major element of this work pertains to the construction of many-body excited states which correspond to the phonon spectrum of the Bose gas in a physically transparent form involving spatial coordinates. We have found that the pair-excitation formalism can offer a concise description of many-body states in spatial coordinates in both the periodic and non-translation-invariant systems. In the periodic box, we discovered that states belonging to the phonon spectrum (of the Lee-Huang-Yang model, for example) are finite linear combinations of momentum tensor product states after transforming the system by the pair-excitation operator. The states of the transformed system correspond in a direct way to the eigenstates of an upper-triangular finite-dimensional matrix. In the non-translation-invariant setting, we must replace the description in terms of the single-particle momentum states by utilizing a new basis of single-particle states; we found that this basis consists of eigenstates of the single-particle (non-Hermitian) 'phonon' operator $h_{\rm ph}$ of Chapter 3. The procedure for constructing many-body excitations of the transformed approximate Hamiltonian using this new basis also corresponds to solving an upper-triangular eigenvalue problem in finite dimensions. Moreover, energies corresponding to these excitations are sums of energies of the phonon operator. This leads us to consider the pair-excitation method as a direct method for determining the phonon spectrum of the Bose gas in general systems, in the sense that low-lying energies of the many-body system appear as sums of energies from the spectrum of the effective single-particle operator $h_{\rm ph}$.

The notion of quasiparticle

Also in relation to the spectrum of elementary excitations, we believe that our analysis sheds light on the notion of the "quasiparticle" introduced for the Bose gas in [20], and which is related to the notion of the phonon [37]. Fetter heuristically introduces the quasiparticle operators γ_j , γ_j^* which satisfy canonical commutation relations and appear in the diagonal form of a quadratic (Hermitian) Hamiltonian which does not conserve the number of particles. In Chapter 3, we showed that the non-orthogonal basis { $u_j(x)$, $v_j(x)$ } appearing in the definition of the quasiparticle operators is directly related to the pairexcitation kernel k(x, y). In particular, $u_j(x)$ can be defined by applying the bounded operator $(\delta - k \circ \overline{k})^{-1/2}$ to eigenfunction $\eta_j(x)$ of the single-particle, self-adjoint operator \varkappa (see Chapter 3, Lemma 5 proof). The function $v_j(x)$ is then defined via $v_j(x) = -\overline{k}(x, u_j)$. In light of this, we suggest an alternative notion for quasiparticle – as an excitation of a quadratic Hamiltonian which corresponds to the spectrum of an effective single-particle operator (e.g., $h_{\rm ph}$ in our notation). Such an excitation is related to both a non-orthogonal basis in the position space, (e.g., $\{u_j(x), v_j(x)\}$) and also an orthogonal basis (e.g., $\{\eta_j\}$) via the pair excitation kernel k. We can construct many-body excited states as finite superpositions in tensor products involving the eigenstates of the operator $h_{\rm ph}$.

Connection of pair-excitation to Bogoliubov rotations

Another insight which is new to this thesis is the connection between the unitary Bogoliubov rotation of quadratic Hamiltonians, which gives the matrix system (3.6.4) for the single-particle basis $\{u_j(x), v_j(x)\}$ of Chapter 3, and the non-Hermitian pair-excitation transform, which gives the Riccati equation for the kernel *k* of equation (3.3.4b). This connection reflects fundamental results from the theory of *J*—self-adjoint operators [2–4, 13], and is represented schematically in the Figure 3.1 of Chapter 3. The translation of these results in operator theory to the setting of the Bose gas is new to our work. It is of interest to note that, historically, the two sides of this connection appear independently in the works of Wu [60], who formulated the theory of the pair-excitation kernel, and Fetter [20], who developed the theory for the Bogoliubov rotation of a non-translation-invariant Bose gas. In terms of the fundamental physics, connecting these two distinct methods allows us to claim that processes of pair-excitation are fundamental to the energetics of quadratic systems. Pair-excitation and Bogoliubov rotation represent two equivalent representations of the same physics.

6.2 Extensions

We conclude by suggesting a few extensions of the framework and results introduced in this thesis. These extensions pertain to the study of the Bose gas in more general, and physically relevant settings.

Time-evolution problems for pair-excited states

The problems considered in this thesis pertain to the stationary theory of the Bose gas, but much work has been done on the evolution of pair-excited states [26, 27]. Wu originally introduced the kernel k in a time-dependent setting [60]. The results here serve as an important first step in understanding the time evolution problem for the approximate systems of the previous chapters. The stationary solutions for k given in this work can be used to generate solutions to Wu's equation for the excitation kernel with the simple time dependence:

$$k(x, y, t) := e^{-\iota \mu t} k(x, y).$$

The time-dependent pair-excitation kernel means that the resulting pair-excitation operator will be time-dependent. An important question is whether the time-dependence of many-body excited states can be described solely in terms of a time dependent kernel. That is, can many-body states be described by a time-dependent pair-excitation operator acting on a simple stationary state?

Pair excitation at small positive temperatures

The system of Chapter 4 included the mean-field effect of pair-correlations involving field operators for the non-condensate. In [25], Griffin wrote these correlations to include general nonzero-temperature effects, via the expressions :

$$\rho_{1}(x) = \sum_{j} \left\{ |u_{j}(x)|^{2} + |p_{j}(x)|^{2} \right\} (e^{\beta(\varepsilon_{j} - \mu)} - 1)^{-1} + |p_{j}(x)|^{2}$$

$$\rho_{2}(x) = \sum_{j} u_{j}(x) \overline{p_{j}(x)} [2(e^{\beta(\varepsilon_{j} - \mu)} - 1)^{-1} + 1].$$
(6.2.1)

Here, $\{u_j(x), p_j(x)\}$ solve the nonlinear matrix system of Chapter 4, with energies ε_j . These formulas contain the average occupation number for particles with energies ε_j satisfying Bose statistics,

$$\langle n_{\varepsilon_j} \rangle = \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\varepsilon_j - \mu)} - 1}.$$

The equations of Chapter 4 therefore have an extension to finite temperatures within Griffin's scheme. As it relates to this thesis, the question is whether a solution $\{\phi_{T>0}, k_{T>0}\}$ can be found to this new system as a perturbation of the system found in Chapter 4. Additionally, it is of interest to derive these equations self-consistently from a variational approach using quantum statistical ensembles.

Generalizations on quadratic Hamiltonians

Finally, we consider an extension of the work presented here in the domain of the periodic box. Instead of reducing the system using the Fermi pseudopotential (which al-

lowed us to factor the model Hamiltonian over momentum subspaces), we can consider keeping the generic interaction potential v(x, y) in the approximation of Chapter 5, simplifying the system by means of a compact cut-off for \hat{v} in momentum space. Carrying out the steps of the approximation scheme, we will end up studying a quadratic Hamiltonian of the form

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{app1}} := \sum_{k} \left(k^2 + \frac{N}{2V}\widehat{\upsilon}(k)\right) a_k^* a_k + \frac{N}{2V} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+, \, p \in I(k)} \widehat{\upsilon}(k, p) \left(a_k^* a_p^* + a_k a_p\right). \tag{6.2.2}$$

Here, I(k) is a finite set in $-\mathbb{Z}_L^+$ that contains -k for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+$. The more complicated coupling means that we cannot use the model Fock space \mathbb{F}_{ab} of Chapter 5 to describe eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{app1} . We nonetheless hypothesize that the essential results of this thesis (regarding the structure (5.1.3) of eigenstates for \mathscr{H}_{LHY}) hold, by introducing a nonunitary pair-excitation operator of the form

$$\exp(\mathscr{Q}), \quad \text{for} \quad \mathscr{Q} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L^+, \, p \in I(k)} \{ -\alpha(k,p) a_k^* a_p^* \}, \quad 0 < \alpha(k,p) < 1.$$

In Chapter 3, we described the eigenstates of a particle conserving Hamiltonian on \mathbb{F}_N , containing the trapping potential $V_{\text{trap}}(x)$. The approximate Hamiltonian reads:

$$\mathscr{H}_{app2} := NE_H + h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \frac{(a_{\overline{\phi}})^2}{2N} f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) + \frac{(a_{\phi}^*)^2}{2N} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp})$$
(6.2.3)

where, e.g., $h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) = \iint dx dy \{h(x, y) a_{\perp, x}^* a_{\perp, y}\}$, and the corresponding kernels are

$$h(x,y) := \left\{ -\Delta + V(x) + N(v * |\phi|^2)(x) \right\} \delta(x,y) + N\phi(x)\upsilon(x,y)\overline{\phi(y)} - \mu$$

for $\mu > 0$, and

$$f_{\phi}(x,y) := N\phi(x)\upsilon(x,y)\phi(y).$$

We showed that there is a *non-orthogonal* basis $\{u_j(x)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ that plays the role of the momentum states $\{e_k(x)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_L}$ in the construction of eigenstates of \mathscr{H}_{app2} . It remains an

open question as to whether these states can be utilized, in the spirit of Chapter 5, to write many body excitations of the *quadratic* approximation \mathcal{H}_{app2} :

$$\mathscr{H}_{app2} \approx NE_{\rm H} + h(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2} f_{\phi}(a_{\perp}^*, a_{\perp}^*) + \frac{1}{2} \overline{f_{\phi}}(a_{\perp}, a_{\perp}).$$
(6.2.4)

Appendix A

This Appendix contains complete proofs for several of the propositions of Chapter 5. First, we give the details of the difference scheme, which we solve in order to derive the formula for many-body excited states. We then complete the proof of Proposition 4 in Chapter 5, which describes the analyticity properties of the generating function for a state $|\Psi_E\rangle$. Finally, we prove several properties of the Hypergeometric functions which we use in Theorem 6 of Chapter 5. These properties can be found in any standard treatment of Hypergeometric functions, e.g., Ref. [44]. We include their proofs here for completeness.

A.1 Derivation of many-body eigensates $|\Psi_{p,\Theta}\rangle$

Let $E \in \mathbb{C}$ denote the eigenvalue of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha_c)}$ associated with eigenvector $|\Psi_E\rangle \in \mathbb{F}_{ab}$. Expanding $|\Psi_E\rangle$ in the occupation number basis, i.e.,

$$|\Psi_E\rangle = \sum_{\{m_a, m_b \in \mathbb{N}\}} c_{m_a m_b} |m_a, m_b\rangle, \tag{A.1.1}$$

yields the following relation between coefficients

$$\frac{1}{2}(m_a + m_b)c_{m_a,m_b} + \tilde{y}\sqrt{(m_a + 1)(m_b + 1)}c_{m_a + 1,m_b + 1} = Ec_{m_a,m_b}.$$
(A.1.2)

Next define $E_{m_a,m_b} := \frac{1}{2}(m_a + m_b)$, which is the energy of the state $|m_a,m_b\rangle$ as an eigenvector of the operator $\frac{1}{2}(a^*a + b^*b)$, so that

$$c_{m_a+1,m_b+1} = \frac{\left(E - E_{m_a,m_b}\right)}{\tilde{y}\sqrt{(m_a+1)(m_b+1)}}c_{m_a,m_b}.$$
(A.1.3)

Repeating this relation *s* times results in the formula

$$c_{m_a+s,m_b+s} = \tilde{y}^{-s} \frac{(E - E_{m_a+s-1,m_b+s-1})\cdots(E - E_{m_a,m_b})}{\sqrt{(m_a+s)\cdots(m_a+1)(m_b+s)\cdots(m_b+1)}} c_{m_a,m_b}.$$
 (A.1.4)

We now fix $\vec{m} := (m_a, m_b)$, and define the energy difference $\Theta := E - E_{\vec{m}}$ as well as the shorthand $\vec{m} + s := (m_a + s, m_b + s)$. Equation (A.1.4) can be rewritten using the generalized binomial coefficient $\binom{\Theta}{s} := \frac{\Gamma(\Theta+1)}{\Gamma(s+1)\Gamma(\Theta-s+1)}$ via

$$c_{\vec{m}+s} = \tilde{y}^{-s} \frac{(\Theta - s + 1) \cdots (\Theta - 1)\Theta}{\sqrt{(m_a + 1) \cdots (m_a + s)(m_b + 1) \cdots (m_b + s)}} c_{\vec{m}}$$

$$= \tilde{y}^{-s} \binom{\Theta}{s} \frac{s!}{\sqrt{(m_a + 1) \cdots (m_a + s)(m_b + 1) \cdots (m_b + s)}} c_{\vec{m}}$$
(A.1.5)
$$= \tilde{y}^{-s} \binom{\Theta}{s} \sqrt{\binom{m_a + s}{s} \binom{m_b + s}{s}} c_{\vec{m}}.$$

With the quantities Θ, \vec{m} fixed, the single coefficient $c_{\vec{m}}$ uniquely determines all other coefficients $c_{\vec{m}\pm s}$. Imposing the normalization condition

$$\sum_{m=-\min(m_a,m_b)}^{\infty} |c_{m_a+s,m_b+s}|^2 = 1,$$
(A.1.6)

then determines $c_{\vec{m}}$ uniquely. Without loss of generality, we take $\vec{m} = 0$.

Difference scheme for eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$

S

An iteration scheme can be written in the occupation number basis for eigenstates of $\mathscr{H}_{ab}^{(\alpha)}$ when $0 \le \alpha \le \alpha_c$. We again assume that the state $|\Psi_E\rangle$ with energy $E \in \mathbb{C}$ has the expansion (A.1.1). It suffices to fix $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and consider only linear combinations of states $|m_a, m_b\rangle = |p + s, s\rangle$ for s = 0, 1, 2, ..., so that we can write $c_s := c_{p+s,s}$ and the eigenvalue equation reads:

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}c_s(p+2s)|p+s,s\rangle + y_1(\alpha)\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}c_s\sqrt{(p+s)s}|p+s-1,s-1\rangle$$
$$+ y_2(\alpha)\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}c_s\sqrt{(p+s+1)(s+1)}|p+s+1,s+1\rangle$$
$$= E\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}c_s|p+s,s\rangle.$$

For $E \in \mathbb{C}$ we arrive at the difference scheme

$$\left(\frac{p}{2}+s\right)c_s + y_1(\alpha)c_{s+1}\sqrt{(p+s+1)(s+1)} + y_2(\alpha)c_{s-1}\sqrt{(p+s)s} = Ec_s.$$
 (A.1.7)

A.2 Properties of the generating function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$

Here we complete the proof of analyticity in Proposition 4, which is restated below.

Proposition 7. For α such that $|z_+(\alpha)| < 1$, and p > 0, the function $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ defined by

$$G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle) = \frac{C_0 y_1(\alpha) p}{y_2(\alpha)} (z - z_+)^B (z - z_-)^{p-1-B} \int_0^z u^{p-1} (u - z_+)^{-(1+B)} (u - z_-)^{(p-B)} du$$
(A.2.1)

is analytic if and only if $B \in \mathbb{N}$ *.*

Proof. It is shown that there is a singularity of $G(z; |\Psi_E\rangle)$ inside the unit disk which is removable under the condition $B \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us start with $\operatorname{Re}(B) < 0$. The results can be analytically continued to $\operatorname{Re}(B) > 0$ by standard techniques (e.g., integration by parts).

We want to know how G(z) behaves as $z \to_+$. For this we write the integral of

(A.2.1) as

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{0}^{z} u^{p-1} (u-z_{+})^{-(1+B)} (u-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du &= \int_{0}^{z_{+}} u^{p-1} (u-z_{+})^{-(1+B)} (u-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du \\ &+ \int_{z_{+}}^{z} u^{p-1} (u-z_{+})^{-(1+B)} (u-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du. \end{aligned}$$
(A.2.2)

The first of these integrals can be written

$$\int_{0}^{z_{+}} u^{p-1} (u-z_{+})^{-(1+B)} (u-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du$$

$$= (-1)^{-1-B} z_{+}^{p-1-B} (-z_{-})^{B-p} \int_{0}^{1} t^{p-1} (-t+1)^{-(1+B)} (1-\frac{z_{+}}{z_{-}}t)^{B-p} dt.$$
(A.2.3)

This is compared to the integral of the Hypergeometric function,

$$F(a,b,c;z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c-b)} \int_0^1 t^{b-1} (1-t)^{c-b-1} (1-tz)^{-a} dt, \quad \operatorname{Re}(c) > \operatorname{Re}(b) > 0.$$

The second integral in (A.2.2) is written, taking $z = z_+ + \varepsilon$ for $|\varepsilon| \ll 1$, and making the change of variables $u = v + z_+$:

$$\int_{z_{+}}^{z} u^{p-1} (u-z_{+})^{-(1+B)} (u-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du = \int_{0}^{\varepsilon} (v+z_{+})^{p-1} v^{-(1+B)} (v-z_{+}-z_{-})^{(p-B)} du.$$
(A.2.4)

Expanding in powers of $v = u - z_+$ by a typical argument shows that this integral takes the form

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon} (v+z_+)^{p-1} v^{-(1+B)} (v-z_+-z_-)^{(p-B)} du = \int_0^{\varepsilon} v^{-(1+B)} \left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} d_m v^m\right) dv, \quad (A.2.5)$$

where the expansion in the powers v^m is analytic. The integral in the above equation is carried out to give

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon} (v+z_+)^{p-1} v^{-(1+B)} (v-z_+-z_-)^{(p-B)} du = \varepsilon^{-B} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{d_m}{m-B}\right) \varepsilon^m.$$
(A.2.6)

When $\operatorname{Re}(B) < 0$ (which we assume at the current point in the argument), it follows that the expression (A.2.6) is analytic in ε if and only if $-B \in \mathbb{N}$; otherwise the function in (A.2.6) exhibits a singularity as $\varepsilon \to 0$. This proof can be extended to $B \ge 0$ by standard techniques. For example, we can use integration by parts to increase *B* by integer values in the integral of (A.2.6).

A.3 Properties of the hypergeometric functions

Here we provide direct proofs of the properties for Hypergeometric functions used in the proof of Theorem 6.

Property (i) For p = 0, 1, 2, ...,

$$mzF(-m+1) = -(p+1+2N)F + (p+1+N)F(-N-1) + NF(-N+1).$$

Proof. Using the definition of the hypergeometric function, the left-hand-side of the above relation reads

$$\begin{split} mz \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{s}}{s!} \frac{(-m+1)_{s}(-N)_{s}}{(p+1)_{s}} = \\ \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{s+1}}{(s+1)!} \frac{(-m)_{s+1}(-N)_{s+1}}{(p+1)_{s+1}} \left\{ \frac{m(-m+1)_{s}}{(-m)_{s+1}} \cdot \frac{(-N)_{s}}{(-N)_{s+1}} \cdot \frac{(p+1)_{s+1}}{(p+1)_{s}} \right\} \\ = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{s+1}}{(s+1)!} \frac{(-m)_{s+1}(-N)_{s+1}}{(p+1)_{s+1}} \left\{ \frac{-(s+1)(p+s+1)}{(-N+s)} \right\}. \end{split}$$

The right-hand-side of (i) meanwhile reads

$$\sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^s}{s!} \frac{(-m)_s(-N)_s}{(p+1)_s} \left\{ -(p+1+2N) + (p+1+N) \frac{(-N-1)}{(-N+s-1)} + N \frac{(-N+s)}{-N} \right\}.$$

It must be shown that the $(s+1)^{th}$ term of the RHS agrees with the s^{th} term of the LHS,

and that the s = 0 term on the RHS vanishes. Indeed

$$\frac{(-m)_0(-N)_0}{(p+1)_0}\left\{-(p+1+2N)+(p+1+N)+N\right\} = 0.$$
 (A.3.1)

This shows the second statement, while the coefficient of $\frac{z^{s+1}}{(s+1)!} \frac{(-m)_{s+1}(-N)_{s+1}}{(p+1)_{s+1}}$ on the RHS

is

$$\begin{split} &-(p+1+2N)+(p+1+N)\frac{-N-1}{-N+s}+N\frac{(-N+s+1)}{-N}\\ &=\frac{-(p+N+s+2)(-N+s)-(p+1+N)(N+1)}{(-N+s)}\\ &=\frac{-(s+1)(p+s+1)}{(-N+s)} \end{split}$$

The case N = 0 follows by comparing the LHS

$$mz\sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-m+1)_s(0)_s}{(p+1)_s} \frac{z^s}{s!} = mz$$
(A.3.2)

to the RHS

$$-(p+1)\cdot 1 + (p+1)\sum_{s} \frac{(-m)_{s}(-1)_{s}}{(p+1)_{s}} \frac{z^{s}}{s!} = -(p+1) + (p+1)\left\{1 + \frac{(-m)(-1)}{(p+s)}z\right\} = mz$$

Property (ii): For *a* < 0,

$$\frac{d}{dz}z^{a}F\left(a,b,c,\frac{1}{z}\right) = az^{a-1}F\left(a+1,b,c,\frac{1}{z}\right).$$
(A.3.3)

Proof. The LHS reads

$$z^{a-1} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_s(b)_s}{(c)_s} \frac{z^{-s}}{s!} \{a-s\}$$
(A.3.4)

while the RHS reads

$$az^{m-s}\sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a+s)_s(b)_s}{(c)_s} \frac{z^{-s}}{s!}.$$
(A.3.5)

Proving the formula then follows from the relation $(a - s)(a)_s = a(a + 1)_s$. The exceptional case b = 0 is handled by

$$\frac{d}{dz}\left\{z^m F(-a,0,c,\frac{1}{z})\right\} = \frac{d}{dz}z^m.$$
(A.3.6)

Bibliography

- [1] Milton Abramowitz and Irene A. Stegun. *Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables.* Dover, New York, ninth dover printing, tenth gpo printing edition, 1964.
- [2] S. Albeverio, A. K. Motovilov, and C. Tretter. Bounds on the spectrum and reducing subspaces of a *J*-self-adjoint operator. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 59(5):1737–1776, 2010.
- [3] Sergio Albeverio and Alexander K. Motovilov. Solvability of the operator Riccati equation in the Feshbach case. *Math. Notes*, 105(4):485–502, 2019.
- [4] Sergio Albeverio, Alexander K. Motovilov, and Andrei A. Shkalikov. Bounds on variation of spectral subspaces under *J*-self-adjoint perturbations. *Integr. Equat. Oper. Th.*, 64:455–486, 2009.
- [5] Ofir E. Alon, Raphael Beinke, and Lorenz S. Cederbaum. Many-body effects in the excitations and dynamics of trapped Bose-Einstein condensates. *e-print*, Jan 2021.
- [6] Carl M. Bender. Making sense of non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. *Rep. Prog. Phys.*, 70(6):947–1018, 2007.
- [7] Chiara Boccato. The excitation spectrum of the Bose gas in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime. *Reviews Math. Phys.*, 33(1):2060006, 2021.
- [8] Chiara Boccato, Christian Brennecke, Serena Cenatiempo, and Benjamin Schlein. The excitation spectrum of Bose gases interacting through singular potentials. *J. Eur. Math. Soc.*, 22(7):2331–2403, 2020.
- [9] N. Bogoliubov. On the theory of superfluidity. J. Phys., 11:23–32, 1947.
- [10] C. Brennecke, P. T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, and B. Schlein. Fluctuations of *N*-particle quantum dynamics around the nonlinear Schrödinger equation. *Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré*, 36(5):1201–1235, 2019.
- [11] L. S. Cederbaum. Exact many-body wave function and properties of trapped Bosons in the infinite-particle limit. *Phys. Rev. A*, 96(1):013615, 2017.
- [12] H. D. Cornean, J. Dereziński, and P. Ziń. On the infimum of the energy-momentum spectrum of a homogeneous Bose gas. J. Math. Phys., 50:062103, 2009.
- [13] Jean-Claude Cuenin and Christiane Tretter. Non-symmetric perturbations of selfadjoint operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 441:235–258, 2016.
- [14] Jean-Claude Cuenin and Christiane Tretter. Non-symmetric perturbations of selfadjoint operators. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 441(1):235– 258, 2016.

- [15] F. Dalfovo, S. Giorgini, L. P. Pitaevskii, and S. Stringari. Theory of Bose-Einstein condensation in trapped gases. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 71(3):463–512, 1999.
- [16] Ipper Danshita, Nobuhiko Yokoshi, and Susumu Kurihara. Phase dependence of phonon tunnelling in bosonic superfluid-insulator-superfluid junctions. *New J. Phys.*, 8:40, 2006.
- [17] Jan Dereziński and Marcin Napiórkowski. Excitation spectrum of interacting Bosons in the mean-field infinite-volume limit. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 15:2409–2439, 2014.
- [18] Jan Dereziński, Marcin Napiórkowski, and Jan Philip Solovej. On the minimization of Hamiltonians over pure Gaussian states. In Heinz Siedentop, editor, *Complex Quantum Systems: Analysis of Large Coulomb Systems*, volume 24 of *Lecture Notes Series, Institute for Mathematical Sciences, National University of Singapore*, pages 151–161. World Scientific, Singapore, 2013.
- [19] L. Erdős, B. Schlein, and H-T Yau. Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. *Annals Math.*, 172(1):291–370, 2010.
- [20] A. L. Fetter. Nonuniform states of an imperfect bose gas. Annals Phys., 70(1):67– 101, 1972.
- [21] A. L. Fetter. Ground state and excited states of a confined condensed Bose gas. *Phys. Rev. A*, 53(6):4245–4249, 1996.
- [22] A. L. Fetter. Rotating trapped Bose-Einstein condensates. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 81(2):647–691, 2009.
- [23] Stephan Ramon Garcia and Mihai Putinar. Complex symmetric operators and applications. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 358(3):1285–1315, 2005.
- [24] C. W. Gardiner. Particle-number-conserving Bogoliubov method which demonstrates the validity of the time-dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equation for a highly condensed Bose gas. *Phys. Rev. A*, 56(2):1414–1423, 1997.
- [25] A. Griffin. Conserving and gapless approximations for an inhomogeneous Bose gas at finite temperatures. *Phys. Rev. B*, 53(14):9341–9347, 1996.
- [26] M. Grillakis and M. Machedon. Beyond mean field: On the role of pair excitations in the evolution of condensates. *J. Fixed Point Theory Appl.*, 14:91–111, 2013.
- [27] M. Grillakis and M. Machedon. Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting Bosons.I. Comm. Math. Phys., 324:601–636, 2013.
- [28] M. Grillakis and M. Machedon. Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting Bosons.II. *Comm. PDE*, 42(1):24–67, 2017.

- [29] Manoussos Grillakis, Matei Machedon, and Dionisios Margetis. Second-order corrections to mean field evolution of weakly interacting Bosons. I. Comm. Math. Phys., 294:273–301, 2010.
- [30] Manoussos Grillakis, Matei Machedon, and Dionisios Margetis. Second-order corrections to mean field evolution of weakly interacting Bosons. II. Advances Math., 228(3):1788–1815, 2011.
- [31] Manoussos Grillakis, Matei Machedon, and Dionisios Margetis. Evolution of the Boson gas at zero temperature: Mean-field limit and second-order correction. *Quart. Appl. Math.*, 75(1):69–104, 2017.
- [32] E. P. Gross. Structure of a quantized vortex in boson systems. *Nuovo Cim.*, 20:454–477, 1961.
- [33] K. Huang. STATISTICAL MECHANICS, 2ND ED. Wiley India Pvt. Limited, 2008.
- [34] K. Huang, C. N. Yang, and J. M. Luttinger. Imperfect Bose gas with hard-sphere interaction. *Phys. Rev.*, 105(3):776–784, 1957.
- [35] T. Kato. *Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2nd edition, 1995.
- [36] V. Kostrykin, K.. A. Makarov, and A. K Motovilov. Existence and uniqueness of solutions to the operator Riccati equation. A geometric approach. In E. Carlen, E. M. Harrell, and M. Loss, editors, *Advances in Differential Equations and Mathematical Physics*, volume 327 of *Contemporary Mathematics*, pages 181–198. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.
- [37] T. D. Lee, K. Huang, and C. N. Yang. Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of a Bose System of hard spheres and its low-temperature properties. *Phys. Rev.*, 106(6):1135– 1145, 1957.
- [38] T. D. Lee and C. N. Yang. Low-temperature behavior of a dilute Bose system of hard spheres. I. Equilibrium properties. *Phys. Rev.*, 112(5):1419–1429, 1958.
- [39] Anthony J. Leggett. Bose-Einstein condensation in the alkali gases: Some fundamental concepts. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 73(2):307–358, 2001.
- [40] M. Lewin, P. T. Nam, and N. Rougerie. The mean-field approximation and the non-linear Schrödinger functional for trapped Bose gases. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 368:6131–6157, 2016.
- [41] M. Lewin, P. T. Nam, and B. Schlein. Fluctuations around Hartree states in the mean-field regime. *Amer. J. Math.*, 137(6):1613–1650, 2015.
- [42] M. Lewin, P. T. Nam, S. Serfaty, and J. P. Solovej. Bogoliubov spectrum of interacting Bose gases. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 68(3):413–471, 2014.

- [43] E. H. Lieb, R. Seiringer, J. P. Solovej, and J. Yngvanson. *The Mathematics of the Bose gas and its Condensation*. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 2005.
- [44] Bateman Manuscript, Harry Bateman, and Arthur Erdélyi. Higher transcendental functions. 1954.
- [45] Dionisios Margetis. Studies in classical electromagnetic radiation and Bose-Einstein condensation, 1999. PhD Thesis.
- [46] P. T. Nam and M. Napiórkowski. Bogoliubov correction to the mean-field dynamics of interacting Bosons. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 108(3):683–738, 2017.
- [47] P. T. Nam and M. Napiórkowski. Norm approximation for many-body quantum dynamics and Bogoliubov theory. In A. Michelangeli and G. Dell'Antonio, editors, Advances in Quantum Mechanics: Contemporary Trends and Open Problems, volume 18 of Springer INdAM Series, chapter 13, pages 223–238. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland, 2017.
- [48] P. T. Nam and M. Napiórkowski. A note on the validity of Bogoliubov correction to mean-field dynamics. J. Math. Pure Appl., 108(5):662–688, 2017.
- [49] P. T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, and J. P. Solovej. Diagonalization of bosonic quadratic Hamiltonians by Bogoliubov transformations. J. Funct. Anal., 270(11):4340–4368, 2016.
- [50] P. T. Nam and R. Seiringer. Collective excitations of Bose gases in the mean-field regime. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 215(2):381–417, 2015.
- [51] R. Ozeri, N. Katz, J. Steinhauer, and N. Davidson. Colloquium: Bulk Bogoliubov excitations in a Bose-Einstein condensate. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 77(1):187–205, 2005.
- [52] A. Perelomov. *Generalized Coherent States and Their Applications*. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [53] L. P. Pitaevskii. Vortex lines in an imperfect Bose gas. *Soviet Phys. JETP*, 13(2):451–454, 1961.
- [54] A. Rovenchak. Effective Hamiltonian and excitation spectrum of harmonically trapped bosons. *Low Temp. Phys.*, 42(1):36–41, 2016.
- [55] B. Schlein. Gross-Pitaevskii evolution for Bose-Einstein condensates. In D. Cadamuro, M. Duell, W. Dybalski, and S. Simonella, editors, *Macroscopic Limits of Quantum Systems*, volume 270 of *Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics*, chapter 8, pages 171–184. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland, 2018.
- [56] R. Seiringer. The excitation spectrum for weakly interacting Bosons. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 306:565–578, 2011.

- [57] R. Seiringer. Bose gases, Bose-Einstein condensation, and the Bogoliubov approximation. J. Math. Phys., 55(7):075209, 2014.
- [58] Christiane Tretter. *Spectral Theory of Block Operator Matrices*. Imperial College Press, London, UK, 1st edition, 2008.
- [59] R. M. Wilcox. Exponential operators and parameter differentiation in quantum physics. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 8(4):962–982, 1967.
- [60] T. T. Wu. Some nonequilibrium properties of a Bose system of hard spheres at extremely low temperatures. J. Math. Phys., 2(1):105–123, 1961.
- [61] T. T. Wu. Bose-Einstein condensation in an external potential at zero temperature: General theory. *Phys. Rev. A*, 58(2):1465–1474, 1998.
- [62] V. A. Zagrebnov and J.-B. Bru. The Bogoliubov model of weakly imperfect Bose gas. *Phys. Rep.*, 350:291–434, 2001.